
1

AGENDA
  

Contact Officer: Ron Schrieber, Democratic Services officer

Tel: 01235 422524

E-mail: ron.schrieber@southandvale.gov.uk

Date: 13 January 2017 

Website: www.southoxon.gov.uk www.whitehorsedc.gov.uk

A MEETING OF THE

Joint Audit and Governance Committee

WILL BE HELD ON MONDAY 23 JANUARY 2017  AT 6.30 PM

MEETING ROOM 1, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, MILTON, 
OX14 4SB

Members of the Committee:

Charles Bailey
Kevin Bulmer (Co-Chair)
Dudley Hoddinott

Simon Howell (Co-Chair)
Chris Palmer
Henry Spencer

Alan Thompson
John Walsh

Substitutes
David Dodds
Paul Harrison

Toby Newman
Richard Pullen

Alternative formats of this publication are available on request.  
These include large print, Braille, audio, email and easy read. For 
this or any other special requirements (such as access facilities) 
please contact the officer named on this agenda.  Please give as 
much notice as possible before the meeting.

Public Document Pack



2

1 Apologies  

2 Declarations of interest  

To receive any declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests and other interests in 
respect of items on the agenda for this meeting.

3 Minutes  (Pages 4 - 8)

To adopt and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 26 
September 2016 (attached).

4 Urgent items  

5 Statements, petitions and questions received from members 
of the public  

6 External auditor's annual letters 2015/16  (Pages 9 - 55)

To consider the external auditor’s annual audit letters 2015/16 (attached).

7 External auditor's report on the certification of claims and 
returns 2015/16  (Pages 56 - 63)

To consider the external auditor’s report on the certification of claims and returns 
2015/16 (attached).

8 South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils' 
Audit Plan 2016/17  (Pages 64 - 81)

To consider the external auditor’s annual report (attached).

9 Appointment of external auditors  (Pages 82 - 84)

To consider the head of finance’s report (attached).

10 Internal audit activity report - third quarter 2016/17  (Pages 85 - 
121)

To consider the report of the assurance manager (attached)

11 Internal audit management report - third quarter 2016/17  
(Pages 122 - 131)

To consider the report of the assurance manager (attached)



3

12 Treasury management mid-year monitoring 2016/17  (Pages 132 
- 143)

To consider the head of finance’s report (attached).

13 Treasury management and investment strategy 2017/18 to 
2019/20  (Pages 144 - 201)

To consider the head of finance’s report (attached).

14 Audit and governance work programme  (Pages 202 - 205)

To review the work programme (attached).

MARGARET REED

Head of Legal and Democratic Services



1

Minutes

OF A MEETING OF THE

Joint Audit and Governance Committee

HELD ON MONDAY 26 SEPTEMBER 2016 AT 6.30 PM
MEETING ROOM 1, 135 EASTERN AVENUE, MILTON PARK, MILTON, 
OX14 4SB

Present 
Members:
South Oxfordshire District Councillors:  Charles Bailey, Kevin Bulmer (Chairman), 
David Dodds (in place of John Walsh) and Alan Thompson
Vale of White Horse District Councillors: Debby Hallett (in place of Dudley Hoddinott), 
Simon Howell, Chris Palmer and Henry Spencer

Officers: Rhona Bellis, Yvonne Cutler-Greaves, Andrew Down, Adrian Duffield, 
Simon Hewings, Fiona Kaluza, William Jacobs, Nilesh Parmar, Adrianna Partridge, 
Margaret Reed, Ron Schrieber and Sally Truman

Also present: Councillor Robert Simister (SODC) and Adam Swain (EY)

16 Apologies

Dudley Hoddinott and John Walsh tendered apologies.

17 Declarations of interest 

None.

18 Minutes 

RESOLVED: to adopt as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 4 July 
2016 and agree that the chairman signs them as such.

19 Urgent items 

None.

20 Statements, petitions and questions received from  members 
of the public 

None.

Public Document Pack

Page 4



2

21 Audit Results Report 2015-16 

The committee considered the external auditor’s 2015/16 audit reports for South 
Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils.

Adam Swain, of EY, reported that one unadjusted audit difference had been identified 
in the South Oxfordshire draft financial statements and that, with regard to value for 
money, the tendering for a new corporate services contract with three other local 
authorities had been identified as a significant risk for both Councils.

EY had concluded that both Councils had put in place appropriate arrangements to 
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources in 2015/16.

RESOLVED: to note the annual audit report from the external auditor.

22 Statement of accounts 2015/16 

The committee considered the South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse 
statements of accounts 2015/16.  These set out the financial statements required to 
meet the international financial reporting standards, guidance from the external 
auditor, and guidance from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy.  

The head of finance had approved the 2015/16 statements of accounts for both 
South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Council for external audit on 24 
June 2016, ahead of the required deadline of 30 June.  The audit of those statements 
had now been completed.  Following an informal training session for members of this 
committee, revised statements were now presented to the committee for approval.

A typographical error on the Vale statement was corrected at the meeting.

RESOLVED: to

(a) approve the statement of accounts for South Oxfordshire District Council for 
2015/16, as amended, for signature by the chairman of this meeting of the 
committee. 

(b) approve the statement of accounts for Vale of White Horse District Council for 
2015/16, as amended, for signature by the chairman of this meeting of the 
committee and by the co-chairman from Vale of White Horse District Council.  

23 Annual governance statement 2015/16 - South Oxfordshire 

The committee considered the annual governance statement for 2015/16. This set 
out how the council had met the requirements of good governance over the year, and 
suggested areas for improvement in 2016/17.  

RESOLVED: to approve South Oxfordshire District Council’s annual governance 
statement 2015/16 to form part of the statement of accounts.  

Page 5



3

24 Annual governance statement 2015/16 - Vale of White Horse 

The committee considered the annual governance statement for 2015/16.  This set 
out how the council had met the requirements of good governance over the year, and 
suggested areas for improvement in 2016/17.  

RESOLVED: to approve Vale of White Horse District Council’s annual governance 
statement 2015/16 to form part of the statement of accounts.  

25 Letter of representation to the external auditor - South 
Oxfordshire 

The committee considered the letter of representation to the external auditor, as part 
of the process in completing the statement of accounts.

RESOLVED: to agree that the chairman of this committee meeting sign the letter of 
representation to the external auditor.

26 Letter of representation to the external auditor - Vale of White 
Horse 

The committee considered the letter of representation to the external auditor, as part 
of the process in completing the statement of accounts.

RESOLVED: to agree that the co-chairman from the Vale of White Horse District 
Council sign the letter of representation to the external auditor.

27 Internal audit activity report - second quarter 2016/17 

The committee considered the audit manager’s report on internal audit activity during 
the second quarter 2016/17.  This summarised the outcomes of recent audit activity.  
Five audits had been completed during the quarter, one of which, regarding joint risk 
management 2016/17, had received limited assurance.

Joint Risk Management 2016/17

The committee considered the main findings and recommendations of the internal 
audit report. Unfortunately, a small section of the report had been omitted from the 
printed copies so would be recirculated to members.

In response to members’ questions, the committee was advised that:

 Internal audit carried out a six monthly follow up on all non-financial and non-
key financial audits to establish the implementation status of agreed 
recommendations.  All key financial system recommendations were followed 
up as part of the annual assurance cycle.

 The corporate services outsourcing had resulted in a reduction in the number 
of Council staff.  This meant that if staff were diverted to a one off event, e.g. a 
snap general election, there was an increased risk of other essential work not 
being completed.

Page 6



4

 The current risk management strategy was under review and would be 
submitted to the committee’s March 2017 meeting for approval.

Vale of White Horse, West Way, Botley, August 2016

The committee considered the findings from an investigation conducted by internal 
audit in relation to the West Way development, Botley.

The investigation had concluded that:

 There were some minor control weaknesses with the end to end consultation 
process, and internal audit had identified concerns with the analysis of the 
consultation responses.  Whilst internal audit did not consider the concerns 
significant enough to change the overall outcome of the consultation report, it 
concluded that the council’s analysis of the responses was not executed 
effectively, it was not well presented and the consultation report was open to 
different interpretations.  

 Whilst no illegality had occurred, there had been communication, information 
sharing and decision making at a cabinet, committee and councillor briefing 
level which indicated a conflict of interest and/or the appearance of bias.  It was 
identified that five councillors discussed and made decisions in relation to 
planning and property matters concerning the West Way development.

The committee was advised that the heads of planning and legal and democratic 
services had accepted the recommendations and had already taken steps to 
implement them.

Overdue recommendations

Appendix 2 to the report summarised all overdue recommendations within each 
service area.

The committee was informed that, due to a re-allocation of recommendations from 
corporate strategy and leisure to HR, IT, technical services, economy, property and 
corporate policy, the former’s overdue recommendations had fallen from 38% to zero 
whilst the latter’s had increased from 45 to 50%. In addition, the implementation of 
recommendations by planning services had resulted in a reduction from 91 to 75% in 
its overdue recommendations. 

The head of planning reported on the steps his service was taking to implement 
overdue recommendations and assured the committee that this would be reflected in 
the statistics in the next few months.

RESOLVED: to note the internal audit management report for the second quarter of 
2016/17.  

28 Internal audit management report quarter two 2016/2017 

The committee considered the assurance manager’s management report on internal 
audit for the second quarter of 2016/17.  

Page 7



5

The report also detailed the flexible allocation that had been made for 5 councils’ 
partnership assurance work as agreed with the external auditor. 

RESOLVED: to note the internal audit management report for the second quarter of 
2016/17.  

29 Audit and governance work programme 

The committee reviewed and noted its work programme which set out matters 
scheduled for consideration at future meetings.

It was noted that the risk management strategy would be submitted to the March 
2017 meeting.

30 Exclusion of the public including the press 

RESOLVED: that in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public, including the press, be excluded from the remainder of the meeting 
to prevent the disclosure to them of exempt information, as defined in Section 100(I) 
and Part 1 of Schedule 12A, as amended, to the Act when the following item is 
considered.

31 Application of restrictions imposed by Section 157 of the 
Housing Act 1985 in South Oxfordshire - consideration of the local 
government ombudsman's report 

The committee considered the further report of the local government ombudsman on 
two complaints from South Oxfordshire residents concerning a restriction on the sale 
of properties under s157 of the Housing Act 1985.

Councillor Robert Simister addressed the committee.

RESOLVED: to not accept the local government ombudsman’s recommendations 
and refer them to the South Oxfordshire Council meeting for consideration.

The meeting closed at 8.00 pm

Chairman Date

Page 8



Ernst & Young LLP

South Oxfordshire DC
Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016

October 2016

P
age 9



Contents

EY i

Contents

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................................................................ 2

Purpose.................................................................................................................................................................................................. 5

Responsibilities....................................................................................................................................................................................... 7

Financial Statement Audit ..................................................................................................................................................................... 10

Value for Money.................................................................................................................................................................................... 13

Other Reporting Issues.......................................................................................................................................................................... 16

Focused on your future.......................................................................................................................................................................... 19

Appendix A Audit Fees ..................................................................................................................................................................... 21

In April 2015 Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued ‘‘Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies 2015-16’. It is available from the Chief Executive of
each audited body and via the PSAA website (www.psaa.co.uk)

The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of
auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.
The ‘Terms of Appointment from 1 April 2015’ issued by PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit
Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and statute, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.

This Annual Audit Letter is prepared in the context of the Statement of responsibilities. It is addressed to the Members of the audited body, and is prepared for their sole use. We, as
appointed auditor, take no responsibility to any third party.

Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, you
may take the issue up with your usual partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Steve Varley, our Managing Partner, 1 More London Place, London
SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any complaint carefully and promptly and to do all we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect of our
service, you may of course take matters up with our professional institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact our professional institute.

P
age 10



Executive Summary

P
age 11



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 2

Executive Summary

We are required to issue an annual audit letter to South Oxfordshire District Council (the Council) following completion of our audit procedures for
the year ended 31 March 2016.

Below are the results and conclusions on the significant areas of the audit process.

Area of Work Conclusion

Opinion on the Council’s:
Financial statements

Unqualified – the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Council as at 31 March 2016 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended

Consistency of other information published
with the financial statements

Other information published with the financial statements was consistent with the Annual
Accounts.

Concluding on the Council’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness

We concluded that you have put in place proper arrangements to secure value for money in
your use of resources

Area of Work Conclusion

Reports by exception:
Consistency of Governance Statement The Governance Statement was consistent with our understanding of the Council.

Public interest report We had no matters to report in the public interest.

Written recommendations to the Council,
which should be copied to the Secretary of
State

We had no matters to report.

Other actions taken in relation to our
responsibilities under the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014

We had no matters to report.

P
age 12



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 3

Area of Work Conclusion

Reporting to the National Audit Office (NAO) on
our review of the Council’s Whole of Government
Accounts return (WGA).

The Council is below the specified audit threshold of £350 million. Therefore, we did not
perform any audit procedures on the consolidation pack.

As a result of the above we have also:

Area of Work Conclusion

Issued a report to those charged with
governance of the Council communicating
significant findings resulting from our audit.

Our Audit Results Report was issued on 26 September 2016

Issued a certificate that we have completed the
audit in accordance with the requirements of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the
National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit
Practice.

Our certificate was issued on 28 September 2016

In January 2017, we will also issue a report to those charged with governance of the Council summarising the certification work we have
undertaken.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the Council’s staff for their assistance during the course of our work.

Andrew Brittain
Executive Director
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

P
age 13



Purpose

P
age 14



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 - South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 5

Purpose

The Purpose of this Letter
The purpose of this annual audit letter is to communicate to Members and external stakeholders, including members of the public, the key issues
arising from our work, which we consider should be brought to the attention of the Council.

We have already reported the detailed findings from our audit work in our 2015/16 Audit Results Report to the 26 September 2016 Joint Audit
and Governance Committee, representing those charged with governance. We do not repeat those detailed findings in this letter. The matters
reported here are the most significant for the Council.

P
age 15



Responsibilities

P
age 16



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 7

Responsibilities

Responsibilities of the Appointed Auditor
Our 2015/16 audit work has been undertaken in accordance with the Audit Plan that we issued on 26 February 2016 and is conducted in
accordance with the National Audit Office's 2015 Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), and other guidance
issued by the National Audit Office.

As auditors we are responsible for:

Expressing an opinion:

On the 2015/16 financial statements; and

On the consistency of other information published with the financial statements.

Forming a conclusion on the arrangements the Council has to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Reporting by exception:

If the annual governance statement is misleading or not consistent with our understanding of the Council;

Any significant matters that are in the public interest;

Any written recommendations to the Council, which should be copied to the Secretary of State; and

If we have discharged our duties and responsibilities as established by thy Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and Code of Audit
Practice.

Alongside our work on the financial statements, we also review and report to the National Audit Office (NAO) on you Whole of Government
Accounts return. The Council is below the specified audit threshold of £350 million. Therefore, we did not perform any audit procedures on the
return.

P
age 17



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 8

Responsibilities of the Council
The Council is responsible for preparing and publishing its statement of accounts accompanied by an Annual Governance Statement. In the AGS,
the Council reports publicly each year on how far it complies with its own code of governance, including how it has monitored and evaluated the
effectiveness of its governance arrangements in year, and any changes planned in the coming period.

The Council is also responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

P
age 18



Financial Statement
Audit

P
age 19



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 10

Financial Statement Audit

Key Issues
The Council’s Statement of Accounts is an important tool for the Council to show how it has used public money and how it can demonstrate its
financial management and financial health.

We audited the Council’s Statement of Accounts in line with the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland), and other guidance issued by the National Audit Office and issued an unqualified audit report on 28 September 2016.

Our detailed findings were reported to the 26 September 2016 Joint Audit and Governance Committee.

The key issues identified as part of our audit were as follows:

Significant Risk Conclusion

Management override of controls
A risk present on all audits is that management is in a
unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability
to manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly,
and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding
controls that otherwise appear to be operating
effectively.
Auditing standards require us to respond to this risk by
testing the appropriateness of journals, testing
accounting estimates for possible management bias and
obtaining an understanding of the business rationale for
any significant unusual transactions.

We obtained a full list of journals posted to the general ledger during the year, and
analysed these journals using criteria we set to identify any unusual journal types or
amounts. We then tested a sample of journals that met our criteria and tested these
to supporting documentation.
Our review of accounting estimates has found that estimates are reasonable, and
there was no indication of bias in the calculation of the estimates.
We have not identified any material weaknesses in controls or evidence of material
management override.
We have not identified any instances of inappropriate judgements being applied.
We did not identify any other transactions during our audit which appeared unusual
or outside the Council’s normal course of business.

P
age 20



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 11

Other Key Findings Conclusion

We identified one unadjusted audit difference in the
Council’s draft financial statements, which management
have chosen not to adjust.
We identified that the Council had not recognised the
revaluation increase of one asset in the financial
statements. This was due to delays in receiving the final
valuation report after the production of the draft financial
statements.
The effect was to understate assets and unusable
reserves by £123,000.

We concluded that unadjusted audit difference was not material to the 2015/16
financial statements.
Management have agreed that the valuation of the asset will be updated in the
2016/17 financial statements.

P
age 21



Value for Money

P
age 22



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 - South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 13

Value for Money

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use
of resources. This is known as our value for money conclusion.

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office. They comprise your arrangements to:

Take informed decisions;
Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and
Work with partners and other third parties.

Proper arrangements for
securing value for money

Informed
decision making

Working with
partners and
third parties

Sustainable
resource

deployment

P
age 23



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 - South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 14

The Council has tendered for a new corporate services contract with Vale of White Horse DC and three other local authorities.  The procurement is
for two lots, one for data based services and one for property based services.
In our audit plan, we consider there to be a significant risk to our value for money conclusion in relation to the procurement of the contracts and in
establishing the governance arrangements between the Councils.
Our audit did not identify any significant matters in relation to this risk or the Council’s overall arrangements and we issued an unqualified value
for money conclusion on 28 September 2016.
As the contracts became effective from 1 August 2016 for the Council, the arrangements were not operational in the 2015/16 financial year; this
will be an area of focus for our work relating to the 2016/17 financial year.

P
age 24



Other Reporting
Issues

P
age 25



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 16

Other Reporting Issues

Whole of Government Accounts
We performed the procedures required by the National Audit Office on the accuracy of the consolidation pack prepared by the Council for Whole of
Government Accounts purposes.

The Council is below the specified audit threshold of £350 million. Therefore, we did not perform any audit procedures on the consolidation pack.

Annual Governance Statement
We are required to consider the completeness of disclosures in the Council’s annual governance statement, identify any inconsistencies with the
other information of which we are aware from our work, and consider whether it is misleading.

Report in the Public Interest
We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether, in the public interest, to report on any matter that comes
to our attention in the course of the audit in order for it to be considered by the Council or brought to the attention of the public.

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a report in the public interest.

Written Recommendations
We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to designate any audit recommendation as one that requires the Council to
consider it at a public meeting and to decide what action to take in response.

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a written recommendation.

Objections Received
We did not receive any objections to the 2015/16 financial statements from member of the public.

Other Powers and Duties
We identified no issues during our audit that required us to use our additional powers under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.P

age 26



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 17

Independence
We communicated our assessment of independence in our Audit Results Report to the Joint Audit and Governance Committee on 26 September
2016. In our professional judgement the firm is independent and the objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staff has not been
compromised within the meaning regulatory and professional requirements.

Control Themes and Observations
As part of our work, we obtained an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan our audit and determine the nature, timing and extent of
testing performed. Although our audit was not designed to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control, we are required to
communicate to you significant deficiencies in internal control identified during our audit. We have not identified any significant deficiencies in the
design or operation of an internal control that might result in a material misstatement in the financial statements and which the Council does not
know about.

P
age 27



Focused on your
future

P
age 28



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 19

Focused on your future

Area Issue Impact

Faster close From the 2017/18 financial year, the deadline for preparing the
Council’s financial statements will move to 31 May from 30 June.  In
addition, the deadline for completing the statutory audit will move to
31 July from 30 September.

The faster closedown timetable requires the Council to
adjust its timetable for preparing the accounts, as well
as the budget setting process and the timing of
committee meetings.
It requires upfront planning to identify areas of the
accounts that can be prepared earlier, before the 31
March, and there will be a need to establish robust
basis for estimations across a wider number of entries
in the financial statements.
For the 2016/17 audit, we are working with officers to
bring our work forward to support the transition ahead
of the new deadlines in 2017/18.

Appointment of
auditors

The current audit contracts expire on the completion of the 2017/18
audit. The expiry of contracts also marks the end of the current
mandatory regime for auditor appointments.
After this, the Council can exercise choice about whether it decides to
opt in to the authorised national scheme, or whether to make other
arrangements to appoint its own auditors.
In July 2016, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local
Government specified Public Sector Audit Appointments limited
(PSAA) as an appointing person under regulation 3 of the Local Audit
(Appointing Person) Regulations 2015.
PSAA will be able to appoint an auditor to relevant authorities that
choose to opt into its national collective scheme.

Appointment of auditors for the 2018/19 financial
year is required by 31 December 2017.
The council should consider whether they intend to opt
into the appointed person scheme to appoint your
auditors from 2018/19 or if the council should make
its own arrangements following the legislative
requirements.

P
age 29



Audit Fees

Appendix A

P
age 30



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 - South Oxfordshire District Council

EY 21

Appendix A Audit Fees

Our fee for 2015/16 is in line with the fee reported in our Annual Results Report.

Description
Final Fee 2015/16
£

Planned Fee 2015/16
£

Scale Fee 2015/16
£

Final Fee 2014/15
£

Total Audit Fee – Code work 51,231 48,186 48,186 64,248

Total Audit Fee – Certification of
claims and returns

10,9721 10,972 10,972 12,830

The variation to the scale fee identified above is due to the following;

Additional work to address the significant risk to the Value for Money Conclusion relating to the 5 Councils Partnership.  We have undertaken
additional work to review the tender evaluation process, including meeting with key officers, review of key documentation.  We have also
considered the adequacy of governance arrangements for the new contracts. Increase to the scale fee of £1,081.

Our audit plan set out a planned controls reliance approach for both the accounts payable and accounts receivable.  We identified multiple
control failures in both areas, also identified by internal audit, and we were unable to identify suitable compensating controls to mitigate the
impact.  We therefore have adopted a substantive approach to testing of AP and AR. This has required the selection and testing of additional
samples, resulting in additional time to select the sample, liaise with the Council to obtain the supporting information and document the
results. Increase to the scale fee of £1,964.

We confirm we have not undertaken any non-audit work outside of the PSAA’s requirements.

1 Our work to certify the Housing Benefit claim is ongoing and we will report any additional fee due to any additional work required to quantify
errors in the claim in our certification report.

P
age 31



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

Ernst & Young LLP

© Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales
with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF.

ey.com

P
age 32



Ernst & Young LLP

Vale of White Horse DC
Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016

October 2016

P
age 33



Contents

EY i

Contents

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................................................................ 2

Purpose.................................................................................................................................................................................................. 5

Responsibilities....................................................................................................................................................................................... 7

Financial Statement Audit ..................................................................................................................................................................... 10

Value for Money.................................................................................................................................................................................... 12

Other Reporting Issues.......................................................................................................................................................................... 15

Focused on your future.......................................................................................................................................................................... 18

Appendix A Audit Fees ..................................................................................................................................................................... 20

In April 2015 Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued ‘‘Statement of responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies 2015-16’. It is available from the Chief Executive of
each audited body and via the PSAA website (www.psaa.co.uk)

The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of
auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.
The ‘Terms of Appointment from 1 April 2015’ issued by PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit
Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and statute, and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.

This Annual Audit Letter is prepared in the context of the Statement of responsibilities. It is addressed to the Members of the audited body, and is prepared for their sole use. We, as
appointed auditor, take no responsibility to any third party.

Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, you
may take the issue up with your usual partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Steve Varley, our Managing Partner, 1 More London Place, London
SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any complaint carefully and promptly and to do all we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect of our
service, you may of course take matters up with our professional institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact our professional institute.

P
age 34



Executive Summary

P
age 35



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 2

Executive Summary

We are required to issue an annual audit letter to Vale of White Horse District Council (the Council) following completion of our audit procedures for
the year ended 31 March 2016.

Below are the results and conclusions on the significant areas of the audit process.

Area of Work Conclusion

Opinion on the Council’s:
Financial statements

Unqualified – the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Council as at 31 March 2016 and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended

Consistency of other information published
with the financial statements

Other information published with the financial statements was consistent with the Annual
Accounts.

Concluding on the Council’s arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness

We concluded that you have put in place proper arrangements to secure value for money in
your use of resources

Area of Work Conclusion

Reports by exception:
Consistency of Governance Statement The Governance Statement was consistent with our understanding of the Council.

Public interest report We had no matters to report in the public interest.

Written recommendations to the Council,
which should be copied to the Secretary of
State

We had no matters to report.

Other actions taken in relation to our
responsibilities under the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014

We had no matters to report.

P
age 36



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 3

Area of Work Conclusion

Reporting to the National Audit Office (NAO) on
our review of the Council’s Whole of Government
Accounts return (WGA).

The Council is below the specified audit threshold of £350 million. Therefore, we did not
perform any audit procedures on the consolidation pack.

As a result of the above we have also:

Area of Work Conclusion

Issued a report to those charged with
governance of the Council communicating
significant findings resulting from our audit.

Our Audit Results Report was issued on 26 September 2016

Issued a certificate that we have completed the
audit in accordance with the requirements of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the
National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit
Practice.

Our certificate was issued on 28 September 2016

In January 2017, we will also issue a report to those charged with governance of the Council summarising the certification work we have
undertaken.

We would like to take this opportunity to thank the Council’s staff for their assistance during the course of our work.

Andrew Brittain
Executive Director
For and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

P
age 37



Purpose

P
age 38



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 - Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 5

Purpose

The Purpose of this Letter
The purpose of this annual audit letter is to communicate to Members and external stakeholders, including members of the public, the key issues
arising from our work, which we consider should be brought to the attention of the Council.

We have already reported the detailed findings from our audit work in our 2015/16 Audit Results Report to the 26 September 2016 Joint Audit
and Governance Committee, representing those charged with governance. We do not repeat those detailed findings in this letter. The matters
reported here are the most significant for the Council.

P
age 39



Responsibilities

P
age 40



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 7

Responsibilities

Responsibilities of the Appointed Auditor
Our 2015/16 audit work has been undertaken in accordance with the Audit Plan that we issued on 26 February 2016 and is conducted in
accordance with the National Audit Office's 2015 Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), and other guidance
issued by the National Audit Office.

As auditors we are responsible for:

Expressing an opinion:

On the 2015/16 financial statements; and

On the consistency of other information published with the financial statements.

Forming a conclusion on the arrangements the Council has to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Reporting by exception:

If the annual governance statement is misleading or not consistent with our understanding of the Council;

Any significant matters that are in the public interest;

Any written recommendations to the Council, which should be copied to the Secretary of State; and

If we have discharged our duties and responsibilities as established by thy Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and Code of Audit
Practice.

Alongside our work on the financial statements, we also review and report to the National Audit Office (NAO) on you Whole of Government
Accounts return. The Council is below the specified audit threshold of £350 million. Therefore, we did not perform any audit procedures on the
return.

P
age 41



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 8

Responsibilities of the Council
The Council is responsible for preparing and publishing its statement of accounts accompanied by an Annual Governance Statement. In the AGS,
the Council reports publicly each year on how far it complies with its own code of governance, including how it has monitored and evaluated the
effectiveness of its governance arrangements in year, and any changes planned in the coming period.

The Council is also responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

P
age 42



Financial Statement
Audit

P
age 43



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 10

Financial Statement Audit

Key Issues
The Council’s Statement of Accounts is an important tool for the Council to show how it has used public money and how it can demonstrate its
financial management and financial health.

We audited the Council’s Statement of Accounts in line with the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice, International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland), and other guidance issued by the National Audit Office and issued an unqualified audit report on 28 September 2016.

Our detailed findings were reported to the 26 September 2016 Joint Audit and Governance Committee.

The key issues identified as part of our audit were as follows:

Significant Risk Conclusion

Management override of controls
A risk present on all audits is that management is in a
unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its ability
to manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly,
and prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding
controls that otherwise appear to be operating
effectively.
Auditing standards require us to respond to this risk by
testing the appropriateness of journals, testing
accounting estimates for possible management bias and
obtaining an understanding of the business rationale for
any significant unusual transactions.

We obtained a full list of journals posted to the general ledger during the year, and
analysed these journals using criteria we set to identify any unusual journal types or
amounts. We then tested a sample of journals that met our criteria and tested these
to supporting documentation.
Our review of accounting estimates has found that estimates are reasonable, and
there was no indication of bias in the calculation of the estimates.
We have not identified any material weaknesses in controls or evidence of material
management override.
We have not identified any instances of inappropriate judgements being applied.
We did not identify any other transactions during our audit which appeared unusual
or outside the Council’s normal course of business

P
age 44



Value for Money

P
age 45



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 - Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 12

Value for Money

We are required to consider whether the Council has put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use
of resources. This is known as our value for money conclusion.

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office. They comprise your arrangements to:

Take informed decisions;
Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and
Work with partners and other third parties.

Proper arrangements for
securing value for money

Informed
decision making

Working with
partners and
third parties

Sustainable
resource

deployment

P
age 46



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 - Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 13

The Council has tendered for a new corporate services contract with South Oxfordshire DC and three other local authorities.  The procurement is
for two lots, one for data based services and one for property based services.
In our audit plan, we consider there to be a significant risk to our value for money conclusion in relation to the procurement of the contracts and in
establishing the governance arrangements between the Councils.
Our audit did not identify any significant matters in relation to this risk or the Council’s overall arrangements and we issued an unqualified value
for money conclusion on 28 September 2016.
As the contracts became effective from 1 August 2016 for the Council, the arrangements were not operational in the 2015/16 financial year; this
will be an area of focus for our work relating to the 2016/17 financial year.

P
age 47



Other Reporting
Issues

P
age 48



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 15

Other Reporting Issues

Whole of Government Accounts
We performed the procedures required by the National Audit Office on the accuracy of the consolidation pack prepared by the Council for Whole of
Government Accounts purposes.

The Council is below the specified audit threshold of £350 million. Therefore, we did not perform any audit procedures on the consolidation pack.

Annual Governance Statement
We are required to consider the completeness of disclosures in the Council’s annual governance statement, identify any inconsistencies with the
other information of which we are aware from our work, and consider whether it is misleading.

Report in the Public Interest
We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to consider whether, in the public interest, to report on any matter that comes
to our attention in the course of the audit in order for it to be considered by the Council or brought to the attention of the public.

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a report in the public interest.

Written Recommendations
We have a duty under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to designate any audit recommendation as one that requires the Council to
consider it at a public meeting and to decide what action to take in response.

We did not identify any issues which required us to issue a written recommendation.

Objections Received
We did not receive any objections to the 2015/16 financial statements from member of the public.

Other Powers and Duties
We identified no issues during our audit that required us to use our additional powers under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.P

age 49



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 16

Independence
We communicated our assessment of independence in our Audit Results Report to the Joint Audit and Governance Committee on 26 September
2016. In our professional judgement the firm is independent and the objectivity of the audit engagement partner and audit staff has not been
compromised within the meaning regulatory and professional requirements.

Control Themes and Observations
As part of our work, we obtained an understanding of internal control sufficient to plan our audit and determine the nature, timing and extent of
testing performed. Although our audit was not designed to express an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control, we are required to
communicate to you significant deficiencies in internal control identified during our audit. We have not identified any significant deficiencies in the
design or operation of an internal control that might result in a material misstatement in the financial statements and which the Council does not
know about.

P
age 50



Focused on your
future

P
age 51



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 – Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 18

Focused on your future

Area Issue Impact

Faster close From the 2017/18 financial year, the deadline for preparing the
Council’s financial statements will move to 31 May from 30 June.  In
addition, the deadline for completing the statutory audit will move to
31 July from 30 September.

The faster closedown timetable requires the Council to
adjust its timetable for preparing the accounts, as well
as the budget setting process and the timing of
committee meetings.
It requires upfront planning to identify areas of the
accounts that can be prepared earlier, before the 31
March, and there will be a need to establish robust
basis for estimations across a wider number of entries
in the financial statements.
For the 2016/17 audit, we are working with officers to
bring our work forward to support the transition ahead
of the new deadlines in 2017/18.

Appointment of
auditors

The current audit contracts expire on the completion of the 2017/18
audit. The expiry of contracts also marks the end of the current
mandatory regime for auditor appointments.
After this, the Council can exercise choice about whether it decides to
opt in to the authorised national scheme, or whether to make other
arrangements to appoint its own auditors.
In July 2016, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local
Government specified Public Sector Audit Appointments limited
(PSAA) as an appointing person under regulation 3 of the Local Audit
(Appointing Person) Regulations 2015.
PSAA will be able to appoint an auditor to relevant authorities that
choose to opt into its national collective scheme.

Appointment of auditors for the 2018/19 financial
year is required by 31 December 2017.
The council should consider whether they intend to opt
into the appointed person scheme to appoint your
auditors from 2018/19 or if the council should make
its own arrangements following the legislative
requirements.

P
age 52



Audit Fees

Appendix A

P
age 53



Annual Audit Letter for the year ended 31 March 2016 - Vale of White Horse District Council

EY 20

Appendix A Audit Fees

Our fee for 2015/16 is in line with the fee reported in our Annual Results Report.

Description
Final Fee 2015/16
£

Planned Fee 2015/16
£

Scale Fee 2015/16
£

Final Fee 2014/15
£

Total Audit Fee – Code work 49,705 49,705 47,129 62,839

Total Audit Fee – Certification of
claims and returns

11,6161 11,616 11,616 16,650

The variation to the scale fee identified above is due to the following;

Additional work to address the significant risk to the Value for Money Conclusion relating to the 5 Councils Partnership.  We have
undertaken additional work to review the tender evaluation process, including meeting with key officers, review of key documentation.  We
have also considered the adequacy of governance arrangements for the new contracts. Increase to the scale fee of £1,081.

Our audit plan set out a planned controls reliance approach for accounts payable.  We identified multiple control failures, also identified by
internal audit, and we were unable to identify suitable compensating controls to mitigate the impact.  We therefore have adopted a
substantive approach to testing of AP.  This has required the selection and testing of additional samples, resulting in additional time to
select the sample, liaise with the Council to obtain the supporting information and document the results. Increase to the scale fee of
£1,495.

We confirm we have not undertaken any non-audit work outside of the PSAA’s requirements.

1 Our work to certify the Housing Benefit claim is ongoing and we will report any additional fee due to any additional work required to quantify
errors in the claim in our certification report.

P
age 54



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

Ernst & Young LLP

© Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.
All Rights Reserved.

ED None

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales
with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF.

ey.com

P
age 55



Ernst & Young LLP

Certification of claims and
returns annual report 2015-16
South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White
Horse District Council

November 2016

Page 56



The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.
A list of members’ names is available for inspection at 1 More London Place, London
SE1 2AF, the firm’s principal place of business and registered office.

The Members of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee
South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White
Horse District Council
135 Eastern Avenue
Milton Park
Milton
Abingdon
OX14 4SB

November 2016
Ref: HB1

Direct line: 07976 515115
Email: ABrittain@uk.ey.com

Dear Members

Certification of claims and returns annual report 2015-16
Hart District Council

We are pleased to report on our certification work. This report summarises the results of our work on
South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White Horse District Council (the Councils) 2015-16 claim.

Scope of work

Local authorities claim large sums of public money in grants and subsidies from central government and
other grant-paying bodies and must complete returns providing financial information to government
departments. In some cases these grant-paying bodies and government departments require
appropriately qualified auditors to certify the claims and returns submitted to them.

Public Sector Audit Appointments made arrangements for certifying claims and returns in respect of the
2015-16 financial year. These arrangements required only the certification of the housing benefits
subsidy claim. In certifying this we followed a methodology determined by the Department for Work and
Pensions and did not undertake an audit of the claim.

Statement of responsibilities
The ‘Statement of responsibilities of grant-paying bodies, authorities, Public Sector Audit Appointments
and appointed auditors in relation to claims and returns’, issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments,
serves as the formal terms of engagement between ourselves as your appointed auditor and the
Councils as audited bodies.

This report is prepared in the context of the statement of responsibilities. It is addressed to those
charged with governance and is prepared for the sole use of the Councils.   As appointed auditor we
take no responsibility to any third party.

Summary

We checked and certified the housing benefits subsidy claims with a total value of £29,563,094 (South
Oxfordshire DC) and £28,048,494 (Vale of White Horse DC). We met the submission deadline.

Fees for certification work are summarised in section 2. The fees for 2015-16 are available on the Public
Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA’s) website (www.psaa.co.uk)

Page 57



We welcome the opportunity to discuss the contents of this report with you at the 23 January 2017 Joint
Audit and Governance Committee.

Yours faithfully

Andrew Brittain
Executive Director
Ernst & Young LLP
Enc

Page 58



Contents

EY ÷ i

Contents

1. Housing benefits subsidy claim ................................................................................. 1
2. 2015-16 certification fees............................................................................................ 2
3. Looking forward .......................................................................................................... 3

Page 59



EY ÷ 1

1. Housing benefits subsidy claim

1.1 South Oxfordshire DC
Scope of work Results

Value of claim presented for certification £29,563,094

Amended/Not amended Amended – minor amendments made to the claim
to adjust for errors identified. This reduced the
amount of subsidy paid by £7.62

Qualification letter No

Fee – 2015-16
Fee – 2014-15

£10,972
£12,830

1.2 Vale of White Horse DC

Scope of work Results

Value of claim presented for certification £28,048,494

Amended/Not amended Amended – minor amendments made to the claim
to adjust for errors identified. This had no impact
on the subsidy paid.

Qualification letter No

Fee – 2015-16
Fee – 2014-15

£11,616
£16,650

Local Government administers the Government’s housing benefits scheme for tenants and
can claim subsidies from the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) towards the cost of
benefits paid.

Page 60



EY ÷ 2

2. 2015-16 certification fees

Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) determine a scale fee each year for the audit of
claims and returns.  For 2015-16, these scale fees were published by the PSAA in April 2015
and are available on the PSAA’s website (www.psaa.co.uk).

Claim or return 2014-15 2015-16 2015-16

Actual fee
£

Indicative fee
£

Actual fee
£

Total Housing benefits subsidy claim
South Oxfordshire DC

12,830 10,972 10,972

Total Housing benefits subsidy claim
Vale of White Horse DC

16,650 11,616 11,616

Page 61



EY ÷ 3

3. Looking forward

From 1 April 2015, the duty to make arrangements for the certification of relevant claims and
returns and to prescribe scales of fees for this work was delegated to (PSAA) by the
Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government.

The indicative certification fee for 2016-17 for South Oxfordshire DC is £9,623 and for Vale of
White Horse DC it is £12,488. This was prescribed by PSAA in March 2016, based on no
changes to the work programme for 2016-17.

Details of individual indicative fees are available at the following web address:
http://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-and-certification-fees/201617-work-programme-and-scales-of-
fees/individual-indicative-certification-fees/

We must seek the agreement of PSAA to any proposed variations to these indicative
certification fees. We will inform the Head of Finance before seeking any such variation.

Page 62



EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

Ernst & Young LLP

© Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.
All Rights Reserved.

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales
with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF.

ey.com

Page 63



Ernst & Young LLP

South Oxfordshire and Vale of
White Horse District Councils
Year ending 31 March 2017
Audit Plan

January 2017

Page 64



The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.
A list of members’ names is available for inspection at 1 More London Place, London
SE1 2AF, the firm’s principal place of business and registered office.

Joint Audit & Governance Committee
South Oxfordshire & Vale of White Horse District Councils
135 Eastern Avenue
Milton Park
Milton
OX14 4SB

11 January 2017

Dear Committee Members

Audit Plan

We are pleased to attach our Audit Plan which sets out how we intend to carry out our responsibilities as
auditor. Its purpose is to provide the Joint Audit & Governance Committee with a basis to review our
proposed audit approach and scope for the 2016/17 audit in accordance with the requirements of the
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014, the National Audit Office’s 2015 Code of Audit Practice, the
Statement of Responsibilities issued by Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) Ltd, auditing
standards and other professional requirements. It is also to ensure that our audit is aligned with the Joint
Audit & Governance Committee’s service expectations.

This plan summarises our initial assessment of the key risks driving the development of an effective
audit for the Councils, and outlines our planned audit strategy in response to those risks.

We welcome the opportunity to discuss this Audit Plan with you on 23 January 2017 and to understand
whether there are other matters which you consider may influence our audit.

Yours faithfully

Andrew Brittain
For and behalf of Ernst & Young LLP
Enc

Ernst & Young LLP
Apex Plaza
Forbury Road
Reading
RG1 1YE

Tel: + 44 118 928 1100
Fax: + 44 118 928 1101
ey.com

Tel: 023 8038 2000

Page 65



Contents

EY ÷ i

Contents

1. Overview ..................................................................................................................... 1
2. Financial statement risks ........................................................................................... 2
3. Value for money risks ................................................................................................. 4
4. Our audit process and strategy.................................................................................. 6
5. Independence............................................................................................................ 10
Appendix A Fees .......................................................................................................... 12
Appendix B UK required communications with those charged with governance .... 13

In April 2015 Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd (PSAA) issued ‘‘Statement of responsibilities of auditors and
audited bodies 2015-16’. It is available from the Chief Executive of each audited body and via the PSAA website
(www.psaa.co.uk)
The Statement of responsibilities serves as the formal terms of engagement between appointed auditors and audited
bodies. It summarises where the different responsibilities of auditors and audited bodies begin and end, and what is
to be expected of the audited body in certain areas.
The ‘Terms of Appointment from 1 April 2015’ issued by PSAA sets out additional requirements that auditors must
comply with, over and above those set out in the National Audit Office Code of Audit Practice (the Code) and statute,
and covers matters of practice and procedure which are of a recurring nature.
This Audit Plan is prepared in the context of the Statement of responsibilities. It is addressed to the Audit Committee,
and is prepared for the sole use of the audited body. We, as appointed auditor, take no responsibility to any third
party.
Our Complaints Procedure – If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be
improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the service you are receiving, you may take the issue up with your usual
partner or director contact. If you prefer an alternative route, please contact Steve Varley, our Managing Partner, 1
More London Place, London SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any complaint carefully and promptly and to do all
we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect of our service, you may of
course take matters up with our professional institute. We can provide further information on how you may contact
our professional institute.

Page 66



EY ÷ 1

1. Overview

This Audit Plan covers the work that we plan to perform to provide you with:

► Our audit opinion on whether the financial statements of Vale of White Horse DC and
South Oxfordshire DC (the Councils)  give a true and fair view of the financial position as
at 31 March 2017 and of the income and expenditure for the year then ended;

► Our conclusion on the Councils’ arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.

Our audit will also include the mandatory procedures that we are required to perform in
accordance with applicable laws and auditing standards.

When planning the audit we take into account several key inputs:

► Strategic, operational and financial risks relevant to the financial statements;

► Developments in financial reporting and auditing standards;

► The quality of systems and processes;

► Changes in the business and regulatory environment; and,

► Management’s views on all of the above.

Page 67



EY ÷ 2

2. Financial statement risks

We outline below our current assessment of the financial statement risks facing the Councils,
identified through our knowledge of the Councils’ operations and discussion with those
charged with governance and officers.

At our meeting, we will seek to validate these with you.

Significant risks (including fraud risks) Our audit approach

Risk of fraud in revenue recognition

Under ISA240 there is a presumed risk that revenue
may be misstated due to improper recognition of
revenue.
In the public sector, this requirement is modified by
Practice Note 10, issued by the Financial Reporting
Council, which states that auditors should also consider
the risk that material misstatements may occur by the
manipulation of expenditure recognition.

We will:
► review and test revenue and expenditure recognition

policies;
► review and discuss with management any

accounting estimates on revenue or expenditure
recognition for evidence of bias;

► develop a testing strategy to test material revenue
and expenditure streams; and

► review and test revenue cut-off at the period end
date.

► review and test capital expenditure to ensure that
has been classified correctly.

Risk of management override

As identified in ISA (UK and Ireland) 240, management
is in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of its
ability to manipulate accounting records directly or
indirectly and prepare fraudulent financial statements by
overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating
effectively. We identify and respond to this fraud risk on
every audit engagement.

Our approach will focus on:
► testing the appropriateness of journal entries

recorded in the general ledger and other
adjustments made in the preparation of the financial
statements

► reviewing accounting estimates for evidence of
management bias, and

► evaluating the business rationale for significant
unusual transactions

Page 68



EY ÷ 3

2.1 Responsibilities in respect of fraud and error
We would like to take this opportunity to remind you that management has the primary
responsibility to prevent and detect fraud. It is important that management, with the oversight
of those charged with governance, has a culture of ethical behaviour and a strong control
environment that both deters and prevents fraud.

Our responsibility is to plan and perform audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements as a whole are free of material misstatements whether
caused by error or fraud. As auditors, we approach each engagement with a questioning
mind that accepts the possibility that a material misstatement due to fraud could occur, and
design the appropriate procedures to consider such risk.

Based on the requirements of auditing standards our approach will focus on:

► Identifying fraud risks during the planning stages;

► Enquiry of management about risks of fraud and the controls to address those risks;

► Understanding the oversight given by those charged with governance of management’s
processes over fraud;

► Consideration of the effectiveness of management’s controls designed to address the risk
of fraud;

► Determining an appropriate strategy to address any identified risks of fraud, and,

► Performing mandatory procedures regardless of specifically identified risks.

Page 69



EY ÷ 4

3. Value for money risks

We are required to consider whether the Councils have put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources.
For 2016-17 this is based on the overall evaluation criterion:

“In all significant respects, the audited body had proper arrangements to ensure it took
properly informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable
outcomes for taxpayers and local people”

Proper arrangements are defined by statutory guidance issued by the National Audit Office.
They comprise your arrangements to:

· Take informed decisions;

· Deploy resources in a sustainable manner; and

· Work with partners and other third parties.

In considering your proper arrangements, we will draw on the requirements of the
CIPFA/SOLACE framework for local government to ensure that our assessment is made
against a framework that you are already required to have in place and to report on through
documents such as your annual governance statement.

We are only required to determine whether there are any risks that we consider significant,
which the Code of Audit Practice which defines as:

“A matter is significant if, in the auditor’s professional view, it is reasonable to conclude that
the matter would be of interest to the audited body or the wider public”

Our risk assessment supports the planning of sufficient work to enable us to deliver a safe
conclusion on arrangements to secure value for money and enables us to determine the
nature and extent of further work that may be required. If we do not identify any significant
risks there is no requirement to carry out further work.

Our risk assessment has therefore considered both the potential financial impact of the
issues we have identified, and also the likelihood that the issue will be of interest to local
taxpayers, the Government and other stakeholders. This has resulted in the following
significant VFM risks which we view as relevant to our value for money conclusion. :

Significant value for money risks Our audit approach

Implementation of the Corporate Services Contracts

From the 1 August 2016, the two Councils began the
implementation of the Corporate Services Contracts with
Capita and Vinci respectively, as part of the five Council
Partnership arrangements.
These contracts were designed to generate savings of
over £50m across their lifetime of nine years.
Given this is a significant change to the operational
running of the Council there is a risk that the
performance of the Councils reduces. Additionally there
is a risk that the savings identified at the procurement
stage aren’t being realised in practice.

Our approach will focus on:
► a review of the governance arrangements in place

by the Councils to monitor and enforce the
performance of the corporate service contracts; and

► reviewing the performance of the corporate service
contracts against KPI’s to identify whether expected
savings are being realised as well as good
operational performance being maintained or
improved.

Senior Management restructure

During 2016/17, as part of the transition to the new
corporate services contracts, there have been significant
changes to the joint senior management team at the
Councils.  The existing Joint Chief Executive retired and
was replaced by David Hill. In addition two Strategic

Our approach will focus on:
► reviewing the processes undertaken by the Authority

for each departure, to confirm that these were in line
with local policy and mandatory requirements.

► reviewing the current senior staffing structure to

Page 70



EY ÷ 5

Directors left the Councils through voluntary redundancy.
Given the background of the new Corporate Services
Contract with the accompanying significant
organisational change and the seniority of these
departures, there is a risk that the Councils have not put
in place proper arrangements to ensure they took
properly informed decisions and deployed resources to
achieve planned and sustainable outcomes.

ensure that there is appropriate expertise in place to
deliver the functions of the Councils.

Page 71



EY ÷ 6

4. Our audit process and strategy

4.1 Objective and scope of our audit
Under the Code of Audit Practice our principal objectives are to review and report on the
Councils’:

► Financial statements

► Arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
to the extent required by the relevant legislation and the requirements of the Code.

We issue an audit report that covers:

1. Financial statement audit

Our objective is to form an opinion on the financial statements under International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

Alongside our audit report, we also:

► Review and report to the NAO on the Whole of Government Accounts return to the extent
and in the form they require;

2. Arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness (value
for money)

We are required to consider whether the Councils’ have put in place ‘proper arrangements’ to
secure economy, efficiency and effectiveness on its use of resources.

4.2 Audit process overview
Processes
Our initial assessment of the key processes across the Councils has identified the following
key processes where we will seek to test key controls, both manual and IT:

► Council Tax

► Business Rates

► Housing Benefits

Analytics
We will use our computer-based analytics tools to enable us to capture whole populations of
your financial data, in particular journal entries and payroll transactions. These tools:

► help identify specific exceptions and anomalies which can then be subject to more
traditional substantive audit tests

► give greater likelihood of identifying errors than random sampling techniques

Page 72



EY ÷ 7

Internal audit
As in prior years, we will review internal audit plans and the results of their work. We will
reflect the findings from these reports, together with reports from any other work completed in
the year, in our detailed audit plan, where we raise issues that could have an impact on the
year-end financial statements

Use of specialists

When auditing key judgements, we are often required to rely on the input and advice
provided by specialists who have qualifications and expertise not possessed by the core audit
team. The areas where either EY or third party specialists provide input for the current year
audit are:

Area Specialists

Property, Plant and Equipment Bruton Knowles

Pensions Barnett Waddingham and EY’s pensions team

In accordance with Auditing Standards, we will evaluate each specialist’s professional
competence and objectivity, considering their qualifications, experience and available
resources, together with the independence of the individuals performing the work.

We also consider the work performed by the specialist in light of our knowledge of the
Councils’ environment and processes and our assessment of audit risk in the particular area.
For example, we would typically perform the following procedures:

► Analyse source data and make inquiries as to the procedures used by the expert to
establish whether the source date is relevant and reliable;

► Assess the reasonableness of the assumptions and methods used;

► Consider the appropriateness of the timing of when the specialist carried out the work;
and

► Assess whether the substance of the specialist’s findings are properly reflected in the
financial statements.

4.3 Mandatory audit procedures required by auditing standards
and the Code
As well as the financial statement risks (section two) and value for money risks (section
three), we must perform other procedures as required by auditing, ethical and independence
standards, the Code and other regulations. We outline below the procedures we will
undertake during the course of our audit.

Procedures required by standards
► Addressing the risk of fraud and error;

► Significant disclosures included in the financial statements;

► Entity-wide controls;

► Reading other information contained in the financial statements and reporting whether it
is inconsistent with our understanding and the financial statements;

► Auditor independence.

Page 73



EY ÷ 8

Procedures required by the Code
► Reviewing, and reporting on as appropriate, other information published with the

financial statements, including the Annual Governance Statement. Reviewing and
reporting on the Whole of Government Accounts return, in line with the instructions
issued by the NAO

Finally, we are also required to discharge our statutory duties and responsibilities as
established by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014.

4.4 Materiality
For the purposes of determining whether the financial statements are free from material error,
we define materiality as the magnitude of an omission or misstatement that, individually or in
aggregate, could reasonably be expected to influence the users of the financial statements.
Our evaluation requires professional judgement and so takes into account qualitative as well
as quantitative considerations implied in the definition.

We have determined that overall materiality for the financial statements of the Councils as
follows;

Materiality Uncorrected misstatements
reporting threshold

Vale of White Horse DC £1,176,360 £58,818

South Oxfordshire DC £1,357,560 £67,878

Overall materiality is based on 2% of gross revenue expenditure. We will communicate
uncorrected audit misstatements greater than the threshold to you.

The amount we consider material at the end of the audit may differ from our initial
determination. At this stage, however, it is not feasible to anticipate all the circumstances that
might ultimately influence our judgement. At the end of the audit we will form our final opinion
by reference to all matters that could be significant to users of the financial statements,
including the total effect of any audit misstatements, and our evaluation of materiality at that
date.

4.5 Fees
The duty to prescribe fees is a statutory function delegated to Public Sector Audit
Appointments Ltd (PSAA) by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government.
PSAA has published a scale fee for all relevant bodies. This is defined as the fee required by
auditors to meet statutory responsibilities under the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in
accordance with the NAO Code. The indicative fee scales for the audits are as follows;

2016/17 Indicative
Scale Fees

Main Audit
Fee

Certification
Fee

Vale of White Horse DC £47,129 £12,488

South Oxfordshire DC £48,186 £9,623

Page 74



EY ÷ 9

4.6 Your audit team
The engagement team is led by Andrew Brittain, who has significant experience auditing local
authorities. Andrew Brittain is supported by David Guest who is responsible for the day-to-day
direction of audit work and is the key point of contact for the Head of Finance.

4.7 Timetable of communication, deliverables and insights
We have set out below a timetable showing the key stages of the audit, including the value
for money work and the Whole of Government Accounts. The timetable includes the
deliverables we have agreed to provide to the Councils through the Joint Audit and
Governance Committee’s cycle in 2016/17.These dates are determined to ensure our
alignment with PSAA’s rolling calendar of deadlines.

From time to time matters may arise that require immediate communication with the Joint
Audit and Governance Committee and we will discuss them with the Chair as appropriate.

Following the conclusion of our audit we will prepare an Annual Audit Letter to communicate
the key issues arising from our work to the Councils and external stakeholders, including
members of the public.

Audit phase Timetable

Joint Audit &
Governance
Committee
timetable Deliverables

High level planning December
2016/January
2017

 - Audit Fee Letter (issued March 2016)

Risk assessment and
setting of scopes

January 2017 23 January 2017 Audit Plan

Testing routine
processes and
controls

February and
March 2017

20 March 2017 Audit Progress Report

Year-end audit June/July 2017 TBC September
2017

Audit Results Report

Completion of audit September 2017 TBC September
2017

Report to those charged with governance via the
Audit Results Report
Audit report (including our opinion on the
financial statements; our opinion on the
regularity of your expenditure and income; and,
overall value for money conclusion).
Audit completion certificate
Reporting to the NAO on the Whole of
Government Accounts return.

Conclusion of
reporting

October 2017 TBC Annual Audit Letter

In addition to the above formal reporting and deliverables we will seek to provide practical
business insights and updates on regulatory matters.

Page 75



EY ÷ 10

5. Independence

5.1 Introduction
The APB Ethical Standards and ISA (UK and Ireland) 260 ‘Communication of audit matters
with those charged with governance’, requires us to communicate with you on a timely basis
on all significant facts and matters that bear on our independence and objectivity. The Ethical
Standards, as revised in December 2010, require that we do this formally both at the planning
stage and at the conclusion of the audit, as well as during the audit if appropriate. The aim of
these communications is to ensure full and fair disclosure by us to those charged with your
governance on matters in which you have an interest.

Required communications

Planning stage Final stage

► The principal threats, if any, to objectivity and
independence identified by EY including
consideration of all relationships between you, your
affiliates and directors and us;

► The safeguards adopted and the reasons why they
are considered to be effective, including any
Engagement Quality Review;

► The overall assessment of threats and safeguards;
► Information about the general policies and process

within EY to maintain objectivity and independence.

► A written disclosure of relationships (including the
provision of non-audit services) that bear on our
objectivity and independence, the threats to our
independence that these create, any safeguards that
we have put in place and why they address such
threats, together with any other information
necessary to enable our objectivity and
independence to be assessed;

► Details of non-audit services provided and the fees
charged in relation thereto;

► Written confirmation that we are independent;
► Details of any inconsistencies between APB Ethical

Standards, the PSAA Terms of Appointment and
your policy for the supply of non-audit services by
EY and any apparent breach of that policy; and

► An opportunity to discuss auditor independence
issues.

During the course of the audit we must also communicate with you whenever any significant
judgements are made about threats to objectivity and independence and the appropriateness
of our safeguards, for example when accepting an engagement to provide non-audit services.

We also provide information on any contingent fee arrangements, the amounts of any future
contracted services, and details of any written proposal to provide non-audit services;

We ensure that the total amount of fees that EY and our network firms have charged to you
and your affiliates for the provision of services during the reporting period are disclosed,
analysed in appropriate categories.

5.2 Relationships, services and related threats and safeguards
We highlight the following significant facts and matters that may be reasonably considered to
bear upon our objectivity and independence, including any principal threats. However we
have adopted the safeguards below to mitigate these threats along with the reasons why they
are considered to be effective.

Self-interest threats

A self-interest threat arises when EY has financial or other interests in your entity. Examples
include where we have an investment in your entity; where we receive significant fees in
respect of non-audit services; where we need to recover long outstanding fees; or where we
enter into a business relationship with the Councils.

At the time of writing, there are no long outstanding fees.

Page 76



EY ÷ 11

We believe that it is appropriate for us to undertake permissible non-audit services, and we
will comply with the policies that the Councils have approved and that are in compliance with
PSAA Terms of Appointment.

At the time of writing we have not undertaken any non-audit services.

A self-interest threat may also arise if members of our audit engagement team have
objectives or are rewarded in relation to sales of non-audit services to the Councils. We
confirm that no member of our audit engagement team, including those from other service
lines, is in this position, in compliance with Ethical Standard 4.

There are no other self-interest threats at the date of this report.

Self-review threats

Self-review threats arise when the results of a non-audit service performed by EY or others
within the EY network are reflected in the amounts included or disclosed in the financial
statements.

There are no other self-review threats at the date of this report

Management threats

Partners and employees of EY are prohibited from taking decisions on behalf of management
of your entity. Management threats may also arise during the provision of a non-audit service
where management is required to make judgements or decisions based on that work. There
are no management threats at the date of this report.

Other threats

Other threats, such as advocacy, familiarity or intimidation, may arise.

There are no other threats at the date of this report.

Overall Assessment

Overall we consider that the adopted safeguards appropriately mitigate the principal threats
identified, and we therefore confirm that EY is independent and the objectivity and
independence of Andrew Brittain, the audit engagement Director and the audit engagement
team have not been compromised.

5.3 Other required communications
EY has policies and procedures that instil professional values as part of firm culture and
ensure that the highest standards of objectivity, independence and integrity are maintained.

Details of the key policies and processes within EY for maintaining objectivity and
independence can be found in our annual Transparency Report, which the firm is required to
publish by law. The most recent version of this report is for the year ended June 2016 and
can be found here:

http://www.ey.com/UK/en/About-us/EY-UK-Transparency-Report-2016

Page 77



Fees

EY ÷ 12

Appendix A Fees

The agreed fee presented above is based on the following assumptions:

► Officers meeting the agreed timetable of deliverables;

► The operating effectiveness of the internal controls for the key processes outlined in
section 4.2 above;

► We can rely on the work of internal audit as planned;

► Our accounts opinion and value for money conclusion being unqualified;

► Appropriate quality of documentation is provided by the Councils; and

► The Councils have an effective control environment.

If any of the above assumptions prove to be unfounded, we will seek a variation to the agreed
fee. This will be discussed with the Council in advance.

Fees for the auditor’s consideration of correspondence from the public and formal objections
will be charged in addition to the scale fee.

Vale of White Horse DC
Planned Fee

2016/17
£

Scale fee
2016/17

£

Outturn fee
2015/16

£
Explanation

Opinion Audit and VFM
Conclusion

47,129 47,129 49,705 Additional fee in 2015/16
due to work to address
VFM risk on 5 councils +
additional work undertaken
at year end due to control
failures identified in year.

Total Audit Fee – Code work 47,129 47,129 49,705

Certification of claims and
returns 1

12,488 12,488 11,616

Non-audit work 0 0 0

All fees exclude VAT.

South Oxfordshire DC
Planned Fee

2016/17
£

Scale fee
2016/17

£

Outturn fee
2015/16

£
Explanation

Opinion Audit and VFM
Conclusion

48,186 48,186 51,231 Additional fee in 2015/16
due to work to address
VFM risk on 5 councils +
additional work undertaken
at year end due to control
failures identified in year.

Total Audit Fee – Code work 48,186 48,186 51,231

Certification of claims and
returns 1

9,623 9,623 10,972

Non-audit work 0 0 0

All fees exclude VAT.

1 Our fee for the certification of grant claims is based on the indicative scale fee set by the PSAA.

Page 78



Appendix B UK required communications with those charged
with governance

There are certain communications that we must provide to the Joint Audit & Governance Committee These are
detailed here:

Required communication Reference

Planning and audit approach
Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit including any limitations.

► Audit Plan

Significant findings from the audit
► Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices including accounting

policies, accounting estimates and financial statement disclosures
► Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit
► Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with management
► Written representations that we are seeking
► Expected modifications to the audit report
► Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting process

► Report to those charged with
governance

Misstatements
► Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion
► The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods
► A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected
► In writing, corrected misstatements that are significant

► Report to those charged with
governance

Fraud
► Enquiries of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee to determine whether they have knowledge

of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the entity
► Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that indicates that a fraud may

exist
► A discussion of any other matters related to fraud

► Report to those charged with
governance

Related parties
Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s related parties including,
when applicable:
► Non-disclosure by management
► Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions
► Disagreement over disclosures
► Non-compliance with laws and regulations
► Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the entity

► Report to those charged with
governance

External confirmations
► Management’s refusal for us to request confirmations
► Inability to obtain relevant and reliable audit evidence from other procedures

► Report to those charged with
governance

Consideration of laws and regulations
► Audit findings regarding non-compliance where the non-compliance is material and believed to be

intentional. This communication is subject to compliance with legislation on tipping off
► Enquiry of the Joint Audit & Governance Committee into possible instances of non-compliance

with laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the financial statements and that the
Joint Audit & Governance Committee  may be aware of

► Report to those charged with
governance

Page 79



EY ÷ 14

Required communication Reference

Independence
Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s objectivity and independence
Communication of key elements of the audit engagement director’s consideration of independence
and objectivity such as:
► The principal threats
► Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness
► An overall assessment of threats and safeguards
► Information about the general policies and process within the firm to maintain objectivity and

independence

► Audit Plan
► Report to those charged with

governance

Going concern
Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability to continue as a
going concern, including:
► Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty
► Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the preparation and

presentation of the financial statements
► The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements

► Report to those charged with
governance

Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit ► Report to those charged with
governance

Fee Information
► Breakdown of fee information at the agreement of the initial audit plan
► Breakdown of fee information at the completion of the audit

► Audit Plan
► Report to those charged with

governance
► Annual Audit Letter

Certification work
► Summary of certification work undertaken

Annual Report to those charged
with governance summarising
grant certification,

Page 80



EY ÷ 15

EY | Assurance | Tax | Transactions | Advisory

Ernst & Young LLP

© Ernst & Young LLP. Published in the UK.
All Rights Reserved.

The UK firm Ernst & Young LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales
with registered number OC300001 and is a member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited.

Ernst & Young LLP, 1 More London Place, London, SE1 2AF.

ey.com

Page 81



Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee
Report of Head of Finance

Author: William Jacobs
Telephone: 01235 422480
Textphone: 18001 01235 422480
E-mail: william.jacbos@southandvale.gov.uk

SODC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Jane Murphy
Telephone: 07970 932054
E-mail: jane.murphy@southoxon.gov.uk

VWHDC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Robert Sharp
Telephone: 01367 710549
E-mail: robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk

To: Joint Audit and Governance Committee; South and Vale Councils 
       23 Jan 2017 by Joint Audit and Governance Committee 
       14 Feb 2017 (V)/ 15 Feb 2017 (S) by Council

Appointment of external auditors
Recommendation

That Joint Audit and Governance Committee recommends both Councils to opt in to 
the appointing person arrangements made by Public Sector Audit Appointments 
(PSAA) for the appointment of external auditors.

Purpose of Report

1. To determine the approach the council will follow in appointing its external auditor. 

Strategic Objectives 

2. South - An independent external audit arrangement helps us maintain our strong 
financial position. 

3. Vale - An independent external audit arrangement helps us run an effective 
council.

CONFIDENTIA
L

Page 82

mailto:jane.murphy@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


Background

4. Following the closure of the Audit Commission, new arrangements were needed 
for the appointment of external auditors. The Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 requires authorities to either opt in to the appointing person regime or to 
establish an auditor panel and conduct their own procurement exercise. 

5. As part of closing the Audit Commission the Government novated external audit 
contracts to Public Sector Audit Appoints (PSAA) on 1 April 2015. At the time the 
audits were due to expire following conclusion of the audits of the 2016/17 
accounts, but could be extended for a period of up to three years by PSAA, subject 
to approval from the Department for Communities and Local Government.

6. In October 2015 the Secretary of State confirmed that the transitional provisions 
would be amended to allow an extension of the contracts for a period of one year. 
This meant that for the audit of the 2018/19 accounts it would be necessary for 
authorities to either undertake their own procurements or to opt in to the appointed 
person regime.  What this means is that the authorities confirm they wish to use 
auditors who will be appointed to a panel by the PSAA following a tender process 
which will be run by the PSAA and is expected to commence in March 2017. By 
asking authorities to confirm they wish to opt in, the PSAA will be able to assess 
the demand and tailor their tender process accordingly with the intention of 
securing economies of scale.

7. The date by which authorities need to opt in to the appointing person 
arrangements is 9 March 2017.  The decision needs to be endorsed by South and 
Vale Councils.

8. The main advantages of using PSAA are set out in its prospectus and are copied 
below; these can also be viewed as the disadvantages if the Councils were to 
decide to undertake their own procurement.

 Assure timely auditor appointments
 Manage independence of auditors
 Secure highly competitive prices
 Save on procurement costs
 Save time and effort needed on auditor panels
 Focus on audit quality
 Operate on a not for profit basis and distribute any surplus funds to scheme 

members.

Financial Implications

9. Should the procurement result in a fee greater than the current fee this will lead to 
an unavoidable increase in the budget required.  Both councils currently pay an 
annual fee of around £60,000 for external audit services.  

Legal implications

10.  The PSAA has been identified as an appointing person under the Local Audit 
(Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 and has power to make auditor 

Page 83



appointments for audits of accounts from 2018/19 on behalf of principal local 
government bodies that opt in, in accordance with the Regulations. The councils 
are entitled to opt in as district councils are included in the list of eligible bodies 
listed in Schedule 2 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. By opting in the 
councils would be accepting that they would be relying on the outcome of the 
PSAA tender process and the appointment by the PSAA of an auditor from their 
auditor panel established following their evaluation of tenders Risks

11.As set out in the report, use of PSAA minimises the risks inherent in undertaking 
our own procurement.

Other Implications

12.Should we chose to procure alone we would have to establish an auditor panel and 
conduct our own procurement. This is not recommended as it will be a far more 
resource intensive process and, without the bulk buying power of the sector led 
procurement, would be likely to result in a more costly service.

Conclusion

13.Following the demise of the Audit Commission new arrangements were needed for 
the appointment of external auditors. The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 
requires authorities to either opt in to the appointing person regime or to establish 
an auditor panel and conduct their own procurement exercise.

14.Regulation 19 of the Local Audit (Appointing Person) Regulations 2015 requires 
that a decision to opt in must be made by Full Council (authority meeting as a 
whole). To comply with this regulation Joint Audit and Governance Committee is 
asked to make the recommendation above to South and Vale Councils.

Background Papers

 PSAA Prospectus

 PSAA – Appointing Person – Frequently Asked Questions

 

Page 84



Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee

Report of Assurance Manager
Author: Adrianna Partridge
Telephone: 01235 540389
Textphone: 18001 01235 540455
E-mail: adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
SODC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Jane Murphy
Tel: 07970 932054
E-mail: jane.murphy@southoxon.gov.uk
VWHDC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Robert Sharp
Telephone: 07771 760549
E-mail: robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk

To: Joint Audit and Governance Committee
DATE: 23 January 2017

Internal audit activity report quarter three 
2016/2017 
Recommendation

That members note the content of the report

Purpose of Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to summarise the outcomes of recent internal audit activity 
at both councils for the committee to consider.  The committee is asked to review the 
report and the main issues arising, and seek assurance that action will be/has been 
taken where necessary. 

2 The contact officer for this report is Adrianna Partridge, Assurance Manager for South 
Oxfordshire District Council (SODC) and Vale of White Horse District Council (VWHDC), 
telephone 01235 422485.

Strategic Objectives 

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 85

mailto:jane.murphy@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


3. Managing our business effectively.

Background 

4. Internal audit is an independent assurance function that primarily provides an objective 
opinion on the degree to which the internal control environment supports and promotes 
the achievements of the council’s objectives.  It assists the councils by evaluating the 
adequacy of governance, risk management, controls and use of resources through its 
planned audit work, and recommending improvements where necessary. After each audit 
assignment, internal audit has a duty to report to management its findings on the control 
environment and risk exposure, and recommend changes for improvements where 
applicable.  Managers are responsible for considering audit reports and taking the 
appropriate action to address control weaknesses. 

 
5. Assurance ratings given by internal audit indicate the following:

Full assurance: There is a good system of internal control designed to meet the system 
objectives and the controls are being consistently applied. 

Substantial assurance: There is a sound system of internal control designed to meet 
the system objectives and the controls are being applied.

Satisfactory assurance: There is basically a sound system of internal control although 
there are some minor weaknesses and/or there is evidence that the level of non-
compliance may put some minor system objectives at risk.

Limited assurance: There are some weaknesses in the adequacy of the internal control 
system which put the system objectives at risk and/or the level of non-compliance puts 
some of the system objectives at risk.

Nil assurance: Control is weak leaving the system open to significant error or abuse 
and/or there is significant non-compliance with basic controls.

6. Each recommendation is given one of the following risk ratings:

High Risk: Fundamental control weakness for senior management action

Medium Risk: Other control weakness for local management action

Low Risk: Recommended best practice to improve overall control

2016/2017 Audit Reports

7. Since the last audit and governance committee meeting, the following audits and follow 
up reviews have been completed:

Completed Audits

Full Assurance: 1
Substantial Assurance: 0
Satisfactory Assurance: 2
Limited Assurance: 3
Nil Assurance: 0

Page 86



Assurance 
Rating

N
o.

 o
f R

ec
s

H
ig

h 
R

is
k 

R
ec

s.

N
o.

 A
gr

ee
d

M
ed

iu
m

  R
is

k 
R

ec
s.

N
o.

 A
gr

ee
d

Lo
w

 R
is

k 
R

ec
s.

N
o.

 A
gr

ee
d

Joint
Community 
Infrastructure Levy 1617

Full 1 0 0 0 0 1 1

Building Control 1617 Limited 6 2 2 3 2 1 1
Facilities Management 
1617

Limited 3 1 1 2 2 0 0

Health & Safety 1617 Satisfactory 4 0 0 3 3 1 1
Sundry Debtors 1617 Satisfactory 3 0 0 2 2 1 1
SODC only
Cornerstone 1617 Limited 5 1 3 3 3 1 1
VWHDC Investigation
Temporary 
Accommodation 
Refurbishment 
November 2016

N/A 3 2 2 1 1 0 0

Follow Up Reviews

Initial
Assurance 
Given

N
o.

 o
f R

ec
s

Im
pl

em
en

te
d

Pa
rt

ly
 

Im
pl

em
en

te
d

N
ot

 
Im

pl
em

en
te

d

O
ng

oi
ng

Joint
Consultations 1516 Substantial 3 1 2 0 0
Leisure 1516 Satisfactory 11 11 0 0 0
Neighbourhood Planning 
Grants 1516 Limited 5 5 0 0 0

Elections and Election 
Payments 1516 Limited 7 1 0 6 0

VWHDC Investigation
Temporary 
Accommodation 
Refurbishment 
November 2016

N/A 3 3 0 0 0

8. Appendix 1 of this report sets out the key points and findings relating to the completed 
audits which have received limited or nil assurance, and satisfactory or full assurance 
reports which members have asked to be presented to committee 

Page 87



9. Members of the committee are asked to seek assurance from the internal audit reports 
and/or respective managers that the agreed actions have been or will be undertaken 
where necessary.  

10. A copy of each report has been sent to the appropriate service manager, the strategic 
management board, the section 151 officer and the relevant member portfolio holder. In 
addition to the above arrangements, reports are now published on the councils’ intranet.

11. Internal audit continues to carry out a six month follow up on all non-financial and non-
key financial audits to establish the implementation status of agreed recommendations.   
All key financial system recommendations are followed up as part of the annual 
assurance cycle.

Overdue Recommendations

12. Appendix 2 of this report summarises all overdue recommendations within each service 
area.  The report has been circulated to the relevant service manager, heads of service, 
the strategic management board and the portfolio holder.  

Financial Implications

13. There are no financial implications attached to this report.

Legal Implications

14. None.

Risks

15.  Identification of risk is an integral part of all audits.

ADRIANNA PARTRIDGE
ASSURANCE MANAGER

 

Page 88



APPENDIX 1

1. BUILDING CONTROL 2016/2017

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report details the internal audit review of procedures, controls and 
the management of risk in relation to building control.  The audit has been 
undertaken in accordance with the 2016/2017 audit plan agreed with the 
audit and governance committee of South Oxfordshire District Council 
(SODC) and Vale of White Horse District Council (VWHDC).  The audit 
has a priority score of 22.  The audit approach is provided in the audit 
framework in Appendix 1.

1.2 The following areas have been covered during the course of this review 
to provide assurance that:

 adequate procedures and guidance are in place for building 
control, which are in accordance with the Building Act 1984;

 the scale of fees and charges are transparent and in accordance 
with the Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010;

 applications are properly administered, and income collection is 
appropriately recorded and managed;

 refunds, exemptions and enforcements are valid, authorised and 
documented;

 health and safety requirements are met;
 appropriate performance monitoring is undertaken; and
 regulation changes are appropriately implemented.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Building Control is a statutory function, primarily concerned with 
administrating regulations through the Building Act 1984 and associated 
legislation, which seek to ensure building work is undertaken to reasonable 
performance based standards.  Building Regulations set standards for the 
design and construction of buildings to ensure the safety and health for 
people in or about those buildings.  The regulations also include requirements 
to ensure that fuel and power is conserved, and facilities are provided for 
people, including those with disabilities, to access and move around inside 
buildings.  It is noted that Building Regulations approval may also be required 
for many alterations, including:-
 replacement of fuse boxes and connected electrics;
 installing a bathroom that involves plumbing;
 changing electrics near a bath or shower;
 putting a fixed air conditioning system;
 replacing windows and doors;
 replacing roof coverings on pitched and flat roofs;
 installing or replacing a heating system;
 adding extra radiators to a heating system.

2.2 The responsibility for checking the Building Regulations have been met falls 
to Building Control Bodies (BCBs) either from the councils or the private 

Page 89



sector as an approved inspector.  Within both SODC and VWHDC the 
building control team is part of the planning service area and consists of:-

3. PREVIOUS AUDIT REPORTS

3.1 SODC
Building control was last subject to an internal audit review in October 
2011 and three recommendations were raised.  All three 
recommendations were agreed and a satisfactory assurance opinion was 
issued.

3.2 Of the three recommendations, two have been implemented and one 
recommendation is no longer applicable and has been superseded.  No 
joint recommendations have been restated as part of this review.

3.3 VWHDC
Building control was last subject to an internal audit review in October 
2011 and three recommendations were raised.  All three 
recommendations were agreed and a satisfactory assurance opinion was 
issued.

3.4 Of the three recommendations, two have been implemented and one 
recommendation is no longer applicable and has been superseded.  No 
joint recommendations have been restated as part of this review.

4. 2016/2017 AUDIT ASSURANCE

4.1 Limited assurance: There are some weaknesses in the adequacy of the 
internal control system which put the system objectives at risk and/or the 
level of non-compliance puts some of the system objectives at risk.

4.2 Six joint recommendations have been raised in this review.  Two high 
risk, three medium risk and one low risk.

5. MAIN FINDINGS

5.1 Procedures and guidance notes

5.1.1 Building control has standard operating procedures (SOPs) in place, 
which provides officers a step-by-step process covering the relevant 

Customer Services Manager

Team Leader Building Control Business Development & Marketing Officer

Structural Engineer Building Control Surveyor x 8

Trainee Building Control Surveyor x 2 Building Control Support Officer x 3

Head of Planning

Page 90



areas of building control to ensure no break/delay in service due to 
unforeseen circumstances.  The SOPs are available to all building control 
officers as they are kept on the planning shared drive.  Review found that 
the SOPs are version controlled confirming that they are regularly 
reviewed and up-to-date.  It is noted that it also states the author of the 
SOPs and reason for the update.

5.1.2 Guidance is available to the public via the internet on building control.  
Review confirmed that guidance in place is up-to-date and covers the 
areas required, i.e. types of building works require approval, application 
form, exemptions.

5.1.3 Area assurance: Full
No recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area.

5.2 Fees and charges

5.2.1 The councils have in place building regulation charges, which gives 
details of the amount charged for full plan and building notice 
applications.  It is noted that any works not on the building regulation 
charges are individually assessed.  The building regulation charges were 
last updated in March 2015; however it could not be established if the 
charges were appropriately approved.  Review of both councils’ websites 
found that the building regulation charges are not made available on the 
public domain.  It is noted that the charges were taken off the websites in 
January 2016 due to approved private sector building control inspectors 
obtaining and undercutting the charges, hence the councils losing 
business to their competitors.

5.2.2 The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 are in place 
which the councils must abide to when calculating the fees and charging 
the public.  Review of the councils’ building regulation charges confirmed 
that the fees were calculated appropriately and the public were only 
charged for the functions in the regulations.  Review of 20 applications 
also found that 14 applicants were charged the appropriate fee as stated 
on the councils’ building regulation charges.  For the other six applicants, 
the building control team assessed the fees based on the works (to be) 
undertaken, which from review found no evidence on how the charge 
was determined.

5.2.3 Area assurance: Limited
Two recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area (Recs 1 and 2).

5.3 Applications and income collection

5.3.1 For building works that require building regulation approval, an 
application form is required to be completed and, along with payment, 
submitted to a building control body (BCB).  Review of both councils 
website found that the application form is available for download.  It is 
noted that an online application can also be complete via the websites.  
The fees for building regulation approval are not available to the public, if 

Page 91



the applicant want a quote for the charge they can contact the building 
control team, who would send out a written quote.  Review of 20 building 
regulation applications confirmed that payments were received at the 
time of the application and were appropriate to the building works (to be) 
carried out.

5.3.2 After the applications are received, they are registered onto the Ocella 
system, which generates a building control reference.  Payments are 
also made against the reference number with the receipt attached.  
Review of 20 building regulations approval applications confirmed that 
payment was received with the application and was recorded against 
building regulations number on the Ocella system.  It is noted the income 
reconciliation between the Ocella system and the general ledger is 
undertaken on a monthly basis.

5.3.3 Area assurance: Full
No recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area.

5.4 Refunds, exemptions and enforcements

5.4.1 Refunds are given to applicants only if a valid reason is given and 
approved by the building control team leader.  Payment vouchers are 
raised on the Agresso system and approved prior to the refund being 
issued to the applicant.  It is noted that since 1 April 2015, 26 (15 SODC 
and 11 VWHDC) applicants have had their fee (part) refunded, and 
review confirmed that no issues were identified as the refunds:-
 had a valid reason, which was approved appropriately;
 were filed appropriately on the Ocella system; and
 had a payment voucher raised on the Agresso system, which was 

adequately approved.

5.4.2 There are two types on building regulation approval exemptions:-
 Exemptions where building works are within a certain class, as stated 

in the Building Regulations 2010;
 Exemptions where building works are solely for disabled persons.
Review of the councils’ website found that details on exemptions are 
available, so that members of the public are made aware that certain 
building works are exempt from building regulation approval.  It is noted 
that if the building works are within a certain class, which entitles them 
exemption, an application form is not required to be completed and 
submitted.  An application is still required for building works solely for 
disabled persons with evidence of disability and proof that the build is for 
disability usage only.  It is noted that a review of building regulation 
exemption applications could not be undertaken as it was not possible to 
identify any building regulation exemptions due to the Ocella system not 
having an event code set up for exemptions.  This issue has now been 
addressed and the building control support team have been notified to 
include the event code when an exemption application is received.

5.4.3 There is a legal requirement on both the builder and the owner of a 
building to make an appropriate building regulations application and to 
comply with the building regulations.  Failure to do so can result in 

Page 92



prosecution through the Magistrates’ Court.  It is noted only the councils 
have the duty to enforce building regulations in its local area and not 
approved inspectors.  A regularisation application can be made in some 
cases if notifiable work has been completed without submitting either full 
plans or building notice applications.

5.4.4 Area assurance: Full
No recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area.

5.5 Health and safety

5.5.1 A lone working policy is in place for building control surveyors’ who work 
on their own when they are off-site undertaking site inspections at homes 
and developments.  Surveyors register on the lone working monitoring 
system provided by Forestcare.  Health and safety issues are reported to 
the health and safety advisor using the incident reporting form, and any 
near misses are discussed at team meetings to prevent incident from 
reoccurring.

5.5.2 A personal protective equipment (PPE) policy is in place, which states 
that:
 an assessment is undertaken to ensure that the PPE is suitable and is 

reviewed at least annually;
 a record of the PPE provided to staff is maintained.
Building control surveyors are provided with PPE for when they are out 
on-site undertaking inspections, however a PPE assessment has not 
been undertaken to confirm if the equipment provided is suitable for the 
potential risks the surveyor might come across.  It is noted that building 
control hold a record of the PPE that has been provided to the surveyors.

5.5.3 Area assurance: Limited
One recommendation has been made as a result of our work in this area 
(Rec 3).

5.6 Performance monitoring

5.6.1 Building control is different to other services the councils provide as 
building control are competing for business with private approved 
inspectors, so if the service does not perform it might not get further 
business.  There are agreed targets in place for building control to ensure 
that the service remains competitive; however, the targets are not 
documented or monitored.  Building control also does not send customer 
feedback forms to establish their opinions, which could assist in 
improving the service provided further.  It is noted though that the market 
share is monitored on a monthly basis and reported to both SODC and 
VWHDC planning cabinet members.

5.6.2 The building control support team also have performance targets in place 
that are documented on a KPI dashboard.  The performance targets 
should be monitored on a monthly basis and discussed with the building 
support officers in their one-2-one.  However, review of the KPI 
dashboard found that the dashboard was last updated and reviewed in 

Page 93



April 2016.

5.6.3 Area assurance: Limited
Three recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area (Recs 4, 5 and 6).

5.7 Regulation changes

5.7.1 The Building Regulations 2010 was approved by Parliament and came 
into force on 1 October 2010.  DCLG continuously review and update the 
2010 regulations, and send notification of changes to the councils’ 
building control team.  In 2015 and 2016, four parts of the 2010 
regulations were changed and review confirmed that the building control 
team were made aware of the 2010 regulation changes and the 
documents were kept and filed appropriately so that the team can refer to 
the changes.

5.7.3 Area assurance: Full
No recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

6.1 Internal audit would like to take this opportunity to thank all staff involved 
for their assistance with the audit.

7. CATEGORISATION OF RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 To assist management in using our reports, we have categorised our 
recommendations according to their level of priority as follows:

High risk Fundamental control weakness for 
senior management action

Recs 2 and 3

Medium risk Other control weakness for local 
management action

Recs 1, 4 and 6

Low risk Recommended best practice to 
improve overall control

Rec 5

OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

FEES AND CHARGES

1. Review of fees and charges (Medium Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
Fees and charges for building 
control are reviewed and approved 
by the relevant committee or 
cabinet.  Thereafter, the fees and 
charges are reviewed on an annual 
basis.

The building regulation 
charges should be reviewed 
and approved by the relevant 
committee or cabinet.  
Thereafter, the fees and 
charges should be reviewed 
on an annual basis.

Team leader building 
control

Page 94



Findings
The building regulations charges 
were last reviewed in October 
2011.

Risk
If the fees and charges for building 
control are not reviewed at least 
annually, there is a risk of the 
councils not remaining competitive 
and/or recouping their costs to 
provide the service.

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is Agreed
Fees to stay the same as 2011 and fees are also based on hourly 
rate.

Management response: Team leader building control

30 April 2017

2. Transparency of building regulation charges (High Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
A building regulation charge 
calculation sheet is completed when 
determining that charge.

Findings
From the sample of 20 building 
control applications selected for 
testing, six required a bespoke fee.  
Review of the six applications found 
that there is no transparency as 
building control do not complete a 
calculation sheet showing how the 
charge was determined.

Risk
If a building regulation charge 
calculation sheet is not in place or 
completed, there is a risk of lack of 
transparency when determining the 
charge for each application 
resulting in the councils not 
complying with the Building (Local 
Authority Charges) Regulations 
2010.

A building regulation charge 
calculation sheet should be 
set up and used when 
determining the charge to 
applicants, to ensure that 
there is transparency and 
consistency on how the 
charge has been determined.

N/A

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is Agreed in Principle
A fee quote sheet is in place for applications that do not come off 
the fee schedule.  Fees are worked out on an hourly rate, which is 
£65, and this is the same rate for every application.  I take into 
account the whole project from quality of the plans to the builder.

Management response: Team leader building control

Implemented

Page 95



HEALTH AND SAFETY

3. Personal protective equipment risk assessment (High Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
A personal protective equipment 
risk assessment has been 
completed and is reviewed on an 
annual basis.

Findings
The councils have a personal 
protective equipment (PPE) policy 
in place that expects teams that 
require PPE to complete a PPE risk 
assessment.  From conversations, 
it was established that a PPE risk 
assessment has not been 
undertaken, so internal audit 
cannot place reliance that the PPE 
given to the building control 
surveyors is sufficient for all types 
of scenarios the surveyors might 
face when undertaking on-site 
inspections.

Risk
If a personal protective equipment 
risk assessment is not completed, 
there is a risk of building control 
surveyors not being equipped 
appropriately to protect them from 
all possible scenarios resulting in 
non-compliance with the Health 
and Safety at Work Act 1974.

A personal protective 
equipment risk assessment 
form should be completed to 
ensure that the surveyors 
have the appropriate 
equipment for all types of 
situations when undertaking 
on-site inspections, and is 
reviewed on an annual basis.

Team leader building 
control

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is Agreed in Principle
A spreadsheet has been in place for the last 3 years which shows 
who has equipment and date it was issued.  This is monitored 
annually, every January, and new equipment ordered as required.

Management response Team leader building control

31 January 2017

PERFORMANCE

4. Performance targets (Medium Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
Building control performance 
targets are documented and 
monitored on a regular basis.

Findings
Building control have the following 
performance targets in place to 
remain competitive against 
approved inspectors (private 
sector):- 

Building control performance 
indicators should be 
documented, updated and 
reviewed on a regular basis 
to ensure that staff are 
performing efficiently and 
effectively.

N/A

Page 96



 respond to customer requests 
for site inspection service - for 
requests received before 9:30 
am;

 percentage of completion 
certificates issues within two 
working days.

 percentage of plans checked 
within five working days of 
receipt.

 percentage of other incoming 
work checked in five working 
days.

However, the performance targets 
are not documented and monitored.

Risk
If building control performance 
indicators are not documented and 
monitored, there is a risk of the 
team not performing efficiently and 
effectively resulting in a possible 
percentage reduction in a 
competitive market.

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is Not Agreed
Reports are ran on-site inspections and plan checking to ensure all 
are carried out in time frame.  Plan dates are checked every day to 
ensure plan checks are carried out within 48hrs.  I will ensure that a 
report is set to run to check completion certificates are issued within 
two working days.  Emails are again answered within 48hrs and the 
only way of checking this is by going into the inbox, which is done 
daily.

Management response: Team leader building control

N/A

5. KPI dashboard (Low Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
The KPI dashboard is updated on a 
monthly basis.

Findings
The business development & 
marketing officer manages the 
building control support team and 
reviews the team members’ 
performance on a weekly basis via 
the KPI dashboard.  However, 
review of the KPI dashboard found 
that the dashboard has not been 
updated since 11 April 2016.

Risk
If the KPI dashboard is not updated 
regularly, there is a risk that staff 
performance not being monitored.

The KPI dashboard should 
be updated on a weekly 
basis so that monitoring of 
the building control support 
staff performance can be 
undertaken effectively.

N/A

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Page 97



Recommendation is Agreed in Principle

Management response: Team leader building control

Implemented

6. Customer feedback (Medium Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
Customer feedback forms are 
issued to customer along with the 
building regulations certificate.

Findings
Customer feedback forms are no 
longer issued to customers after 
the building regulation certificates 
have been issued.  It is noted that 
the feedback form used to be sent 
out with the building regulation 
certificates, but was stopped due to 
the fire at Crowmarsh offices and 
did not start up again.

Risk
If customer feedback is not sought, 
there is a risk of the building control 
team being complacent and the 
service not improving resulting in a 
possible decrease in market 
position.

The process of issuing 
customer feedback forms 
should be started up again to 
ascertain from the customer 
how satisfied they are with 
the service provided.  The 
privacy notice should also be 
included onto the feedback, if 
obtaining personal 
information, i.e. sex, race, 
etc.

Team Leader Building 
Control

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is Agreed in Principle
Feedback does come from user groups, and customers also email 
any comments they have about the service.  The market share is 
looked at every month to check where we stand.  I will look into a 
customer feedback form next year.

Management response: Team Leader Building Control

30 April 2017

Page 98



2. FACILITIES MANAGEMENT 2016/2017

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report details the internal audit review of procedures, controls and 
the management of risk in relation to facilities management.  The audit 
has been undertaken in accordance with the 2016/2017 audit plan 
agreed with the audit and governance committee of South Oxfordshire 
District Council (SODC) and Vale of White Horse District Council 
(VWHDC).  The audit has a priority score of 20.  The audit approach is 
provided in the audit framework in Appendix 1.

1.2 The following areas have been covered during the course of this review 
to provide assurance that:

 procedures are in place to allocate and schedule work, and 
monitoring processes are in place to measure performance;

 effective budget monitoring arrangements are in place, 
discrepancies are identified and variances are reported and 
investigated appropriately;

 all contractor/partner contracts, agreements, correspondence and 
financial information is held and maintained securely by facilities;

 a scale of costs and charges applicable to rental occupants is in 
place and the relevant invoices have been raised and paid in 
accordance with the terms of the agreement;

 all purchases are ordered, received and paid for in an appropriate 
and timely manner.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 From 1 August 2016, SODC and VWHDC facilities management was 
outsourced through the corporate services partnership to VINCI, who will 
manage the service under the Five Councils Partnership.  The VINCI facilities 
management team are responsible for the safety, maintenance and security 
of the council properties. 

2.2 The councils’ facilities management team was led by the technical and 
facilities manager, facilities team leader and facilities support team 
leader across both councils with 18 further staff. This structure changed 
from 1 August 2016 when VINCI became the provider of the facilities 
management service.  There has also been a change to the councils’ 
facilities management system (tf system) to the VINCI facilities helpdesk 
system for logging in calls raised to the team from 1 August 2016.

2.3 The audit fieldwork has been undertaken prior to the corporate services 
partnership taking place on 1 August 2016.  However, adjustments have 
been made in the necessary sections that have been affected by the 
VINCI transition during the audit process.

3. PREVIOUS AUDIT REPORTS

3.1 SODC
Facilities management was last subject to an internal audit review in 

Page 99



August 2011 and a follow up review was undertaken in February 2012.  
16 recommendations were raised and all were agreed.  A satisfactory 
assurance opinion was issued.

3.2 Following the February 2012 follow up audit, eight recommendations had 
been implemented, five not implemented, two partly implemented and 
one recommendation still ongoing.  The 2016/17 review identified that 
five recommendations were no longer applicable due to the Crowmarsh 
building fire in January 2015, 10 recommendations had been 
implemented and one recommendation has been revised and 
incorporated into this report (Rec 1).   

3.3 VWHDC
Facilities management was last subject to an internal audit review in 
August 2011 and a follow up review was undertaken in February 2012.  
13 recommendations were raised and all were agreed.  A satisfactory 
assurance opinion was issued.

3.4 Following the February 2012 follow up audit, seven recommendations 
had been implemented, four not implemented, one partly implemented 
and one recommendation still on going.  The 2016/17 review identified 
that 12 recommendations has been implemented and one 
recommendation had been revised and incorporated into this report (Rec 
1).   

4. 2016/2017 AUDIT ASSURANCE

4.1 Limited assurance: There are some weaknesses in the adequacy of the 
internal control system which put the system objectives at risk and/or the 
level of non-compliance puts some of the system objectives at risk.

4.2 Three joint recommendations have been raised in this review. One high 
risk, and two low risk.

4.3 Due to the facilities management service provision moving to VINCI on 1 
August 2016, a number of areas will be reviewed again during the follow 
up to ensure adequate controls remain in place.  This includes policies 
and procedures, rental invoicing and the purchasing process. 

5. MAIN FINDINGS

5.1 Policies and procedures

5.1.1 Internal audit identified that the council has relevant policies and 
procedures covering aspects of facilities management, including the 
allocation and scheduling of work.  Review of the policies identified that 
all policies have details of the procedure, objectives and the responsible 
officers of the policies.  Further analysis of the policies and procedures 
identified that there is a requirement for an update for some of the 
procedures in relation to the purchasing procedure for the building 
materials by facilities. (Rec 1).    

Page 100



5.1.2 The audit review also identified that there are no formal procedures 
relating to performance management for services provided to clients, and 
there is no evidence that regular performance monitoring and consumer 
feedback activities take place.  The customer services delivery manager 
(VINCI) confirmed that the new facilities helpdesk system implemented 
from 1 August 2016, will include a request for the client to complete a 
satisfaction questionnaire once each of the requested job is completed.  
No recommendation has been raised at this stage and internal audit will 
conduct further testing at the audit follow up stage.

5.1.4 Area assurance: Substantial 
One recommendation has been made as a result of our work in this area 
(Rec 1).

5.2 Budget monitoring

5.2.1 The technical and facilities manager is responsible for monitoring the 
facilities management budget, and ensures a quarterly review is 
conducted with the assistance from the finance department. Any 
significant variances, if identified, would be communicated as part of 
quarterly reporting to cabinet.  The facilities team leader is responsible 
for the day to day management and validating expenditure of the facilities 
and technical services on a monthly basis.  It should be noted that due to 
the corporate services project, the facilities management budget will 
become a contract budget monitored by the facilities client manager.

5.2.2 Area assurance: Full
No recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area.

5.3 Contractor services

5.3.1 The procurement of contractors’ services for services valued under the 
council tender threshold of £75,000 are carried out in accordance with 
the council’s contract procurement rules. At the time of review, internal 
audit identified that 35 out of the 107 contracts on the contracts register 
are managed by the facilities management services using the council’s 
contract procedure rules.

5.3.2 Internal audit selected a sample of 10 contracts to test and ensure that 
there are adequate records retained with clear and transparent costings 
for services.  It was also identified that there were no contracts that were 
over the £10,000 or £75,000 threshold that would require three 
quotations or the EU regulations for the period being tested. The audit 
tests confirmed that there was sufficient evidence to support that records 
were retained adequately by the facilities management team.  Internal 
audit identified an invoice that was addressed to the council office 
instead of the Darlington (Capita) address documented in the council 
accounts payable procedure notes.  This resulted in a delayed payment.

5.3.3 Area assurance: Substantial
One recommendation has been made as a result of our work in this area 
(Rec 2).  

Page 101



5.4 Rental invoicing

5.4.1 The council has three rental agreements (Capita, Oxfordshire County 
Council and Citizen’s Advice Bureau) in place for 2016/17. The rent for 
each of these agreements is increased year-on-year by the RPI figure 
from August of the preceding year. Internal audit reviewed the scale and 
charges for each of the rental occupants held by the council and found 
that there was timely invoicing, resulting from planning at the start of the 
financial year and payment from tenants in line with the terms of 
respective agreements.  

5.4.2 Prior to 1 August 2016, the contracts management was managed by the 
council’s procurement officer with regular reviews of the contracts being 
undertaken by the technical and facilities manager at the annual 
invoicing stage.  From 1 August 2016, the management of the rental 
invoicing, review of charges and payments will be managed by VINCI. 

5.4.3 Area assurance: Full
No recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area.

5.5 Purchasing

5.5.1 Purchases made by the facilities management team are processed 
through requisitions which are appropriately approved and then 
processed on the Agresso system. From a sample of 20 invoices 
reviewed, there was an appropriate level of authorisation controls and 
three instances of late payment processing identified. There was also no 
documented procedures relating to the purchase of building materials 
and milk supplies (Rec 1).  During the finalisation of the audit report, it 
was identified that there was a lack of clarity on the roles and 
responsibility post 1 August 2016 when the Five Council’s corporate 
services project was implemented (Rec 3).  This identified an operational 
risk with the council’s franking machine contract, with the credit value 
being low and no one being assigned authority to process the contract 
payment.

5.5.2 Area assurance: Limited
One recommendation has been made as a result of our work in this area 
(Rec 3). Also see related recommendation Rec 1.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

6.1 Internal audit would like to take this opportunity to thank all staff involved 
for their assistance with the audit.

7. CATEGORISATION OF RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 To assist management in using our reports, we have categorised our 
recommendations according to their level of priority as follows:

High risk Fundamental control weakness for 
senior management action

Rec 3

Page 102



Medium risk Other control weakness for local 
management action

Low risk Recommended best practice to 
improve overall control

Rec 1 and 2

OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

1. Purchasing policy (Low Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
There are appropriately authorised, 
up-to-date, fully documented 
processes in place over 
procurement and purchasing of low 
value items.

Findings
Internal audit identified that there is 
no formal documented process for 
purchasing low value items e.g. 
building materials and milk supplies.

Risk
Without procedures notes there is a 
risk of breach of procurement 
legislation and financial loss to the 
council.

Guidance notes covering the 
purchasing process for low 
value items should be 
formulated.

N/A

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is N/A
Due to the Five Council’s Partnership taking place on 1 August 
2016, this is now administered by VINCI.  Evidence was provided at 
draft report stage.

Management response: Corporate services delivery manager 
(VINCI)

Implemented

CONTRACTOR SERVICES

2. Invoices (Low Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
Invoices are processed and paid in 
a timely manner.

Findings
Internal audit reviewed 10 SODC 
and 10 VWHDC invoices and 
identified that:
a) Three of the invoices tested 

were paid over the invoice 
payment terms (Two SODC 
and one VWHDC).  

b) It was also identified that one 

The service team need to 
ensure that:
a) payments are paid within 

the agreed payment 
terms

b) invoices are sent to the 
Darlington address in the 
first instance.

N/A

Page 103



out of the 10 invoices was sent 
to the service area (sent to 
Abbey House) first instead of 
being sent to the Agresso team 
in Darlington as stated in the 
accounts payable procedure.  
It should be noted that it is the 
responsibility of the service 
area to inform the supplier of 
the correct details to ensure 
prompt payments are 
completed in the invoice 
payment terms provided.

Risk
There is a risk of reputation 
damage and financial loss through 
late payment charges. Possible 
loss of prompt payment discounts 
and impaired relations with 
suppliers.

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is N/A
This is no longer applicable as VINCI do not pay any council 
invoices.  VINCI ensure that their own contractors are paid within 
the agreed terms. The invoices to VINCI are sent to VINCI 
construction at Astral House in Watford and not Darlington.

Management response: Corporate services delivery manager 
(VINCI)

N/A 

        PURCHASING

3. Roles and Responsibilities (High Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
All roles and responsibilities should 
be clear and communicated to the 
relevant officers.

Findings
During the finalisation of the audit 
report, it was identified that there 
were issues in the definition of 
roles and responsibility post 1 
August 2016 when the Five 
Council’s corporate services 
project was implemented.  It was 
not clear as to who would take 
responsibility of the management 
of the council’s franking machine.  

Internal audit also identified that 
the role of the council’s property 
manager, and the parking, facilities 
management and print design 
officer had not been recruited as at 
1 August 2016.  The roles of the 
vacant posts had not been 
allocated to ensure efficient 

a) A decision should be 
made on the management 
of the franking machine 
services as soon as 
possible.

b) Arrangements should be 
put in place to ensure that 
roles and responsibilities 
aligned to the currently 
vacant facilities posts are 
covered in the interim.

Client Relationship 
Director

Page 104



business continuity.

Risk
Without a contingency plan in 
place, there is a risk of financial 
loss as critical services may not be 
addressed, also bringing about 
reputational damage with the 
council’s current and potential 
clients. 

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is Agreed
a) Neopost (the company that credit the postal charge onto the 

franking machine) have told us we are on the best type of 
method,  but I am still challenging this.  At the moment we have 
a £10,000 margin and in addition we request the council to top 
up when we go below £10,000 so we always have a £20,000 
‘buffer’.  

Management response: Corporate services delivery manager 
(VINCI)

b) From the 1 August 2016 Vinci took responsibility for the 
authorities’ facilities management as per their contractual 
obligations.  It must also be recognised that facilities 
management under the new contract spans across five 
authorities and therefore roles and responsibilities within the 
joint client team also extend to the five authorities. 
Prior to, during and after the transfer of services the 
communications team together with Vinci designed a clear 
contact and escalation document which was made available to 
all staff via the authorities intranet and will remain in place for 
the foreseeable future (to be updated as necessary).  This 
document identifies names, email addresses, telephone 
numbers and the different stages of escalation to be followed 
should an issue occur.  Furthermore, the client relationship 
director met with each head of service to provide assurance of 
the continued facilities management to be provided by Vinci and 
alleviate any cause for concern they may have had. In addition, 
the joint client team structure was distributed to heads of 
service.
In regard to the vacant posts, the client relationship director 
together with the South and Vale lead officer (also transition 
manager) has absorbed responsibility for these roles until such 
time as an appointment is made to the property manager post.  
On the 17 August 2016 an external advert for the property 
manager position went live and is due to close on the 8 
September 2016.  Once appointed it is anticipated that a more 
in-depth understanding of the relationship the joint property 
manager position has with the contractor and five councils will 
be documented.  However, this is predicated on Vinci providing 
clear procedures, process maps, policies and partnership 
working to agree a sustainable and mutual approach to facility 
management across the five council partnership.  It is projected 
that the officer post will be recruited to by the property manager, 
however this will be continuously reviewed on a week by week 
basis by representatives from across the five authorities.

Management response: Client Relationship Director

a) 30 November 2016

b) Within the first 8 -10 
months of service 
commencement. 

Page 105



3. CORNERSTONE 2016/2017

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This report details the internal audit review of procedures, controls and 
the management of risk in relation to Cornerstone.  The audit has been 
undertaken in accordance with the 2016/2017 audit plan agreed with the 
audit and governance committee of South Oxfordshire District Council 
(SODC).  The audit has a priority score of 21.  The audit approach is 
provided in the audit framework in Appendix 1.

1.2 The following areas have been covered during the course of this review 
to provide assurance that:

 roles and responsibilities and all operational functions are clearly 
assigned and adequate policies and procedures have been 
documented;

 adequate arrangements are in place for the receipt of income 
(including discounts), processing of refunds and the collection of 
cash and banking; and adequate reconciliation arrangements;

 transactions involving memberships are accurate, appropriate and 
suitably recorded;

 adequate safety and security (including DBS) arrangements are in 
place for officers and Council assets;

 the exit from the catering contract is appropriately managed;
 sufficient management information is available to support 

performance.

2. BACKGROUND

2.1 Cornerstone Arts Centre, located in Didcot, provides a range of art (e.g. 
gallery) and entertainment (e.g. live music) including workshops, classes 
and a café bar on-site. Income is principally generated from ticket sales 
(and from memberships), however the centre does receive proceeds 
from hiring out rooms and commission from merchandise sold from its 
premises.

2.2 The centre is funded by South Oxfordshire District Council and the team is led 
by the arts manager.  Cornerstone had 262 active memberships and received 
£2640 from the membership sales for the period April 2016 to September 
2016. 

2.3 Cornerstone had an external company (Elegant Cuisine Limited) 
contracted to provide the café services up until 14 August 2016.  
Cornerstone has now implemented an in-house catering function which 
is being managed by the operations manager from September 2016.   

3. PREVIOUS AUDIT REPORTS

3.1 Cornerstone was last subject to an internal audit review in December 
2012 and six recommendations were raised at both councils.  All 
recommendations were agreed.  A satisfactory assurance opinion was 

Page 106



issued.

3.2 Following the July 2013 follow up audit, three out of the six 
recommendations had been implemented, one had been partly 
implemented and one recommendation was no longer applicable.  One 
recommendation on policies and procedures has been revised and 
incorporated into this report (Rec 1).

4. 2016/2017 AUDIT ASSURANCE

4.1 Limited assurance: There are some weaknesses in the adequacy of the 
internal control system which put the system objectives at risk and/or the 
level of non-compliance puts some of the system objectives at risk.

4.2 Five recommendations have been raised in this review.  One high risk, 
three medium risk and one low risk.

5. MAIN FINDINGS

5.1 Roles and responsibilities

5.1.1 Internal audit established that there are a number of Cornerstone policies 
and procedures in place and available to the relevant staff.  Some of the 
key documents reviewed did not have details of the date policies and 
procedures were either formulated and/or reviewed, evidence of version 
controls and the policy/procedure’s responsible officer.  A policy log was 
provided to internal audit although it was not up to date.  

5.1.2 Cornerstone’s job descriptions are updated when a vacancy arises or a 
job evaluation takes place.  Internal audit reviewed the organisational 
chart and the job descriptions for each of the roles within the team.  It 
was identified that there has been a change in job roles for the arts 
manager and the operations manager due to Cornerstone’s café bar 
services now being managed in-house from August 2016, but this has 
not been reflected in their job descriptions.  

5.1.3 Area assurance: Satisfactory
Two recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area (Rec 1 and 2).

5.2 Income and refunds

5.21 The box office team, comprising of three box office receptionists, are 
supported by the duty managers and are responsible for ticket sales.  
Ticket sales are made in one of three ways -in person, over the phone or 
via the internet. Customers can pay in one of four ways -credit/debit card, 
cash or cheque with sales being administered on Spektrix (Cornerstone’s 
sales and membership database). Internal audit tested a sample of 20 
sales transactions which involved ensuring the price charged (including 
discounts) was correct and all booking fees were appropriately taken.  
From the testing, internal audit had no major issues of concern with the 
process with exception to the need for a counter signatory to enter the 
date when they have checked the daily cashing up records. 

Page 107



5.2.2 Refunds are administered to customers via card or cash when customers 
cancel their booking, there are show cancellations or if wrong payments 
are taken.  Internal audit reviewed a sample of 10 refunds and found that 
there was no areas of concerns.

5.2.3 Banking is conducted monthly with two officers in attendance to ensure 
there is appropriate separation of duties. Officers list monies counted, 
double-check counts and reconcile the day’s takings to Spektrix activities 
and payments report. Daily bankings are securely locked in 
Cornerstone’s safe with a £50 box office float maintained. The team 
administrator conducts on a daily basis, a ticket sales to income check 
and allocates the sales to the correct general ledger code.  A monthly 
summary is provided to the accountant (Capita) who updates the 
appropriate general ledger code in Agresso.   Internal audit also 
reviewed an approved petty cash float for £150 used in Cornerstone.  It 
was noted that there were issues regarding the recording of VAT, 
replenishment of the petty cash float, pre-authorisation of purchases and 
the review of the petty cash float.

5.2.4 Area Assurance: Satisfactory
Two recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area (Rec 3 and 4).

5.3 Membership

5.3.1 Cornerstone has a membership policy which outlines the terms and 
conditions for all members and is available on the Cornerstone website.  
Internal audit’s review identified that the membership terms and 
conditions policy is accurate and was last updated in August 2015. 

5.3.2 Internal audit did a sample check of 20 membership transactions to 
determine whether they have been administered correctly.  The process 
of sales to members is as general sales on the Cornerstone system 
(Spektrix), however the price charged is different in accordance with the 
membership type. The testing involved ensuring the correct membership 
was provided and the price charged was correct, i.e. membership 
benefits were applied correctly.  From the audit tests conducted, internal 
audit have no concerns.

5.3.3 Area Assurance: Full
No recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area.

5.4 Safety and security

5.4.1 Cornerstone adopt the council policy and procedures on health and 
safety with consultation with the council’s health and safety advisor.  A 
full health and safety review for Cornerstone is conducted every five 
years by the health and safety advisor, with the last review taking place 
in September 2013.  Internal audit confirmed that the next scheduled 
review will take place in the financial year of 2018/2019.  Cornerstone 
perform and record daily, weekly and monthly tests to ensure that the 
facilities and services provided are safe and fit for purpose for all service 
users.  From the review, internal audit have concluded that there are a 

Page 108



sufficient number of checks carried out regularly.  

5.4.2 Cornerstone is in Didcot town centre and public access is via the two 
front entrances. The doors within the premises are code restricted. 
Internal audit reviewed the floor plan which documented fire alarms, 
security alarms and exit routes.  The operations manager stated that 
there was one security breach at Cornerstone in the last 12 months.  
Internal audit reviewed the process undertaken to report and rectify the 
security breach and can confirm that it was appropriately recorded and 
reported in a timely manner.  It was also identified that the action points 
and additional security measures were implemented in a timely manner. 

5.4.3 Cornerstone perform their own DBS checks for staff and tutors and keep 
a record of this in line with legislation and the council’s policy and 
procedures. From the review of the records retained, internal audit 
identified that there were staff and tutors that were due to have their DBS 
checks renewed which had not taken place, and a requirement for 
Cornerstone to expand the list of their staff that need to be DBS checked.

5.4.4 Area assurance: Limited
One recommendation has been made as a result of our work in this area 
(Rec 5). Also see related recommendation (Rec 1). 

5.5 Exit of Elegant Cuisine catering contract

5.5.1 A copy of the signed contract between the council and Elegant Cuisine 
(who previously supplied the catering services up to 14 August 2016) 
was provided to internal audit and a review was undertaken to ensure 
that the termination agreement was followed as documented in the 
contract.  Internal audit can confirm that the termination procedure was 
followed accordingly i.e. handover meetings with the supplier, final stock 
take of equipment, final invoice calculations and refund of the agreed 
deposit taken at the start of the contract.  

5.5.3 Area assurance: Full 
No recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area.

5.6 Management information

5.6.1 A Cornerstone board report which summarises management information 
is presented to the head of finance (following the retirement of the head 
of economy, leisure and property) and to cabinet twice yearly. The pack 
includes management information on operational and financial matters 
documented by the Cornerstone management team i.e.
• operations report
• Participation and Visual Arts
• marketing and director’s report
• financial administration report.
The facts and figures presented in the March 2016 board report were 
reviewed by internal audit and it can be confirmed that there were no 
issues of concern.

Page 109



5.6.2 Area assurance: Full
No recommendations have been made as a result of our work in this 
area.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

6.1 Internal audit would like to take this opportunity to thank all staff involved 
for their assistance with the audit.

7. CATEGORISATION OF RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1 To assist management in using our reports, we have categorised our 
recommendations according to their level of priority as follows:

High risk Fundamental control weakness for 
senior management action

Rec 5

Medium risk Other control weakness for local 
management action

Recs 1, 2 and 4

Low risk Recommended best practice to 
improve overall control

Recs 3

OBSERVATIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

 ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES

1. Policies and procedures (Medium Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
All policies, procedures and 
version control/log books are 
completed, reviewed, up to date 
and available to appropriate 
employees.

Findings
Internal audit identified that 
there are policies and procedure 
notes in place for Cornerstone 
processes.  A review of the 
policies and procedure notes 
identified that there were a 
number of policies that were not 
up to date and some that did not 
show evidence of being 
reviewed.  For example, the 
Cornerstone emergency plan 
procedure was last updated in 
October 2012 and the fire policy 
was last updated in June 2009.  
There were no dates of when 
the next review were due.

Internal audit also identified a 
spreadsheet log which records 
the policies in place and when 

a) All Cornerstone policies and 
procedures should be updated 
and reviewed in a timely 
manner.

b) The policies and procedures 
spreadsheet log book should 
be updated to reflect all the 
policies and procedures used 
at Cornerstone; evidence to 
support that all the policies are 
up to date; authorised 
appropriately and are subject 
to regular reviews.  For 
example, using and updating 
the version control log and 
attaching an accountable 
officer to all policy documents.   

c) The emergency plan 
procedure and the fire policy 
need to be reviewed and 
updated to reflect the new 
council arrangements and the 
reporting channels.  A date of 
when the next reviews are due 
should also be added to the 
policies and procedures.

a) Team Administrator 

b) Team Administrator

c) Arts Manager

Page 110



they are next due for a review.  
At the time of audit, the 
spreadsheet was not up to date 
and was missing a lot of policies 
and procedures including the 
next date of review.

Risk
There is a lack of procedure or 
compliance with best practice 
which may lead to poor data 
management or inefficient 
administration of financial 
transactions.
Management Response Implementation 

Date
Recommendation is Agreed
1a) and 1b) Team administrator will update all policies and log.
1c) Arts manager to meet with the assurance manager to agree way 
forward with Cornerstone’s emergency planning and business 
continuity plans.

Management response: Arts Manager

1 June 2017

2. Roles and Responsibilities – job descriptions (Medium Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
There are clear and up-to-date job 
descriptions in place for all officers.

Findings
The current job description for the 
arts manager does not reflect the 
inclusion of leading on the 
development, implementation, 
monitoring and review of the arts 
strategy for Vale of White Horse 
District together with the South 
Oxfordshire District.

Internal audit also identified that the 
job descriptions for the arts 
manager and the operations 
managers have not been updated 
to reflect the change in the catering 
contract from being managed by a 
contractor to being managed in-
house at Cornerstone.

Risk
Duties are not carried out due to 
confusion over roles and 
responsibilities, and poor 
performance may not be managed 
appropriately.

The arts manager and the 
operations manager job 
descriptions need to be 
updated to reflect the new 
roles and responsibilities due 
to the recent changes in 
Cornerstone’s functions.

Arts Manager

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is Agreed in Principle
Cornerstone management took the café in house in September 2016. 
In November 2016 we commissioned an external review to carry out 
an operational review of Cornerstone to look at all job roles and 

TBC Operational review 
due end of Jan 2017, 
thereafter, consideration 
by cabinet and head of 

Page 111



responsibilities in line with the functions Cornerstone performs. Any 
changes to the job descriptions will arise out of this. 

Management response: Arts Manager

service, consultation with 
staff, before any 
implementation. 

 INCOME AND REFUNDS

3. Cashing up records (Low Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
There is adequate separation of 
duties in the daily cashing up 
procedure with records being 
updated promptly.

Findings
Internal audit reviewed 24 daily 
cashing up records from the month 
of June 2016.  The audit tests 
revealed that there is evidence of 
the cash received through the 
Cornerstone system being matched 
to the cash in hand on a daily basis.  
There is also sufficient evidence 
showing that the cashing up 
process is checked by a separate 
staff member (i.e. duty manager) but 
there are no details of when the 
date the cashing up records are 
countersigned as correct.

Risk
Insufficient evidence of full checks 
to the cashing up duties may 
increase the risk of fraud and/or 
theft.

The appropriate officers need 
to record the date they have 
checked the daily cash 
recordings to ensure that 
there is adequate and 
complete separation of duties 
in the daily cashing up 
procedure.

Team Administrator

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is Agreed
Team administrator will update the cashing up sheet to reflect 
additional sign off date.

Management response: Arts Manager

31 December 2016

4. Petty Cash - Cornerstone (Medium Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
All petty cash claims are authorised 
by an appropriate officer prior to 
them being paid and reclaimable 
VAT is recorded and coded within 
the Agresso financial system.

Findings
Internal audit performed a review of 
the petty cash and identified the 
following weaknesses:

a) Petty cash claim vouchers 
used at the time of review 
did not have a section 

a) Officers should be 
advised that claims must 
be authorised by the 
appropriate budget holder 
prior to being paid

b) Reclaimable VAT is 
identified as part of the 
replenishment process 
and coded within the 
Agresso financial system 
to facilitate the council 
reclaiming amounts paid.

Team Administrator and 
Arts Manager

Page 112



requiring authorisation and 
the date of authorisation 
prior to the claim being paid. 

b) Three of the most recent 
petty cash replenishments 
undertaken in 2016/2017 
were reviewed and it was 
identified that they did not 
have any VAT elements 
recorded even though there 
were suitable VAT receipts 
in support of expenditure 
items. 

c) Replenishments for the petty 
cash are currently being 
done by adding £150 to the 
petty cash instead of the 
difference required to 
ensure the petty cash is not 
more than £150 at any time.

d) There is no evidence of the 
petty cash kept on site 
receiving a spot check or 
regularly reviewed by senior 
management.

Risk
If petty cash is not managed 
appropriately, there is a risk of 
mismanagement of the funds which 
increases the risk of theft and 
financial losses to the council.

c) Petty cash should be 
replenishments to the 
value of Cornerstone’s 
agreed petty cash float 
(i.e. to £150)  

d) Senior management need 
to perform a random spot 
check review of the petty 
cash kept at Cornerstone 
at least once a year to 
ensure that the claims are 
appropriate, suitably 
documented and 
authorised and that the 
petty cash is being used 
for the intended purpose. 

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is Agreed
4a) and 4b) Team administrator has already implemented these 
recommendations 
4c) Team administrator will request a higher float limit as ‘making up’ 
to £150 will not be efficient. 
4d) Team administrator and arts manager will implement spot checks

Management response: Arts Manager

31 January 2017

 SAFETY AND SECURITY

5. DBS Checks - Cornerstone (High Risk)
Rationale Recommendation Responsibility
Best Practice
All posts that are deemed to 
warrant a Disclosure Barring 
Service (DBS) check is undertaken 
in a timely manner and prior to 
commencement of their 
employment.

Findings 
Internal audit has recognised that 
the Cornerstone tutors require DBS 
checks.  From the 27 tutors 
reviewed, it was identified that eight 
tutors’ DBS checks were overdue 

DBS checks and disclosures 
should be undertaken for all 
posts that require one 
including renewals, in a timely 
manner.  Internal audit would 
also recommend that is 
undertaken prior to the 
commencement of their 
employment.

Consideration is given to 
widening the range of 
Cornerstone officers who are 
subject to DBS checks who 

Events Duty Manager

Page 113



for renewal. 

It was also noted that five 
Cornerstone officers had DBS 
checks conducted.  Two out of the 
five officers were due renewal of 
the DBS checks.

Further review was conducted by 
internal audit of the Cornerstone 
officers’ roles and responsibilities.  
In internal audit’s opinion, there 
were officers who do not receive 
DBS checks although they work in 
an environment that would open the 
possibility of working/assisting 
children and/or members of the 
public, who may be considered as 
vulnerable adults.  For example, 
duty mangers and box office 
receptionists.

Risk
Failure to ensure employee 
references and DBS checks have 
been obtained and verified in a 
timely manner, could result in the 
employee commencing their 
employment without the necessary 
checks being undertaken.

have possible interaction with 
children and/or vulnerable 
adults.  The scope should 
include the basic level of 
disclosure for officers.  This 
could also assist with 
compliance to 2014 HMG (Her 
Majesty’s Government) 
baseline personnel security 
standard.

Management Response Implementation 
Date

Recommendation is Agreed in principle
All tutors undergo a DBS check and the procedure is started as soon 
as they are hired to work. One member of staff is authorised to carry 
out the checks and she pushes through all the paperwork, but it 
involves chasing both the tutor and then waiting for DBS to process. 
Since the audit, of the eight outstanding we have received back two 
(one not yet seen in person), sent off and waiting for DBS to process 
another two, and still waiting for two tutors to fill out and return two. 
Advice from audit on how to handle a contractor tutor who’s DBS has 
been delayed would be helpful.

Of the Cornerstone establishment staff we were working to the latest 
advice we had from HR – not to ask general staff to have DBS 
checks done. We have already changed this practice now following 
audit feedback, but had not been told of this previously. Seven 
Cornerstone staff have already signed up to be checked, two of those 
DBS checks already being back

Management response: Arts Manager

31 January 2017

Page 114



Appendix 
2

Head of Service Total Number 

of Open Recs

Number of 

Overdue Recs

% of Overdue Recs Total Number of 

Open Recs

Number of 

Overdue Recs

% of Overdue 

Recs

Total Number of 

Open Recs

Number of 

Overdue Recs

% of Overdue 

Recs

Total Number of 

Open Recs

Number of 

Overdue Recs

Q2 2016/17 % 

of Overdue 

Recs 

Q3 2016/17 

% of 

Overdue 

Recs 

% 

Change

Additional 

Notes

Clare Kingston

(Head of Corporate Strategy)

0 0 0% 0 0 0% 1 0 0% 1 0 0% 0% 0%

Gerry Brough

(Acting Head of Development & 

Housing)

0 0 0% 0 0 0% 0 0 0% 0 0 0% 0% 0%

William Jacobs

(Head of Finance)

22 8 36% 9 4 44% 51 2 4% 82 14 35% 17% -18%

Andrew Down

(Head of HR, IT & Technical 

Services)

2 0 0% 5 0 0% 16 13 81% 23 13 50% 57% 7%

Margaret Reed

(Head of Legal & Democratic 

Services)

2 1 50% 2 0 0% 6 0 0% 10 1 27% 10% -17%

Adrian Duffield

(Head of Planning)

1 0 0% 10 9 90% 13 8 62% 24 17 75% 71% -4%

27 26 87 140 45

Report Date: 11/01/2017 16:48:29

Joint AGC Overdue Recommendations Q3 2016/2017

Executive summary SODC VWHDC Joint Recs Total

Legal and Democratic

Planning

Total recommendations Q3 2016/17 9 13 23

Joint Comparison of Q2 2016/17 and Q3 2016/17

Service Area

Corporate Strategy and Leisure

Development and Housing

Finance and Arts (including Cornerstone)

HR, IT, Technical Services, Economy, 

Property and Corporate Policy

P
age 115



Rec 

ID

Audit Name Audit Year Head of Service Service Manager Recommendation 

Name

Risk Rating Implementation 

date

Date of Officer 

Update

Recommendation 

Status

Revised 

Implementation 

Date
381 Partnership Performance 

Monitoring

2015/2016 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Sally Truman 

(Policy, 

Partnership & 

Engagement 

Manager)

1. Partnership guidance High 30/06/2016  Not Implemented 30/09/2016

382 Partnerships performance 

monitoring

2015/2016 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Sally Truman 

(Policy, 

Partnership & 

Engagement 

Manager)

2. Partnerships¿ 

register

High 31/03/2016  Not Implemented 30/09/2016

383 Partnerships performance 

monitoring

2015/2016 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Sally Truman 

(Policy, 

Partnership & 

Engagement 

Manager)

3. Public awareness of 

partnerships

Low 31/03/2016  Not Implemented 30/09/2016

384 Partnerships Performance 

Monitoring

2015/2016 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Sally Truman 

(Policy, 

Partnership & 

Engagement 

Manager)

4. Risk register Medium 30/06/2016  Not Implemented 30/09/2016

391 HR Management 2015/2016 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Andrew Down 

(Head of HR, IT & 

Technical 

Services)

1. Review of policies Low 31/12/2016    

393 HR Management 2015/2016 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Andrew Down 

(Head of HR, IT & 

Technical 

Services)

3. Authorisation of 

carried forward leave

Low 30/06/2016 27/06/2016 Implemented  

he council should implement a central register of 

all partnerships that the council¿s involved in and 

make this available to internal and external 

 stakeholders.  
 

 b)The central register should ensure that all 

partnerships are recorded, monitored, updated 

and controlled sufficiently by an officer assigned 

 as responsible for maintaining the register.
 

 c)The central register should include the 

 following details:

  i.date partnership was added to register,

  ii.name of the partnership,

  iii.type of partnership (formal or informal)

  iv.lead officer,

  v.council service/section,

  vi.number/name of other partners,

  vii.purpose of partnership,

  viii.date of last annual return,

  ix.date partnership ends,

  x.key objectives,

  xi.resource requirements,

  xii.number of meetings per year.

The policy, partnership & engagement 

manager stated that the recommendations are 

still outstanding as she is currently 

undertaking two peoples job.  She also stated 

that a new member of staff is due to start on 

18 July 2016 and will look to implement the 

 recommendation after then.
 

NP update (4 July 2016)

 a)Brief and non-sensitive details of the 

partnerships in which the council participates 

should be published on the council¿s website 

and kept up to date.

The policy, partnership & engagement 

manager stated that the recommendations are 

still outstanding as she is currently 

undertaking two peoples job.  She also stated 

that a new member of staff is due to start on 

18 July 2016 and will look to implement the 

 recommendation after then.
 

NP update (4 July 2016)
 a)The council needs to ensure that the risks 

relating to partnerships are identified, recorded 

and reported in the council¿s corporate risk 

 register. 
 

 b)Any changes identified and the reported 

outcomes needs to be updated to the risk register 

 by the nominated officer as soon as possible.
 

 c)Where an existing partnership appears to be 

realising risks, the council¿s continuing 

participation should be reviewed, and changed 

 or, if deemed appropriate, ended.

The policy, partnership & engagement 

manager stated that the recommendations are 

still outstanding as she is currently 

undertaking two peoples job.  She also stated 

that a new member of staff is due to start on 

18 July 2016 and will look to implement the 

 recommendation after then.
 

NP update (4 July 2016)

Joint Summary of overdue recommendations (Excluding Private)
Recommendation Recommendation Update

 a)The council¿s partnership guidance should be 

updated, implemented and shared across all 

 council services.
 

 b)The revised partnership guidance should 

 have the following areas added to the guidance:

 i.Introduction which includes framework, 

 purpose and structure

  ii.Benefits and risks of partnership working

  iii.The formal/informal partnership definitions

  iv.Risk assessment procedure of partnerships

 v.Tools for evaluating partnership resource 

 requirements 

  vi.Key council roles and responsibilities

  vii.Governance framework

  viii.Partnership agreement template

  ix.Partnerships checklist 

  x.Risk register template

  xi.Case studies

  xii.Further resources of help

  xiii.Where to go for further information.

 xiv.Information that should be reported regularly 

 to the council¿s nominated partnerships officer.
 

 c)Partnerships that are not in line with the 

council¿s objective should be investigated further 

to evaluate whether or not the partnership should 

 be discontinued.
 

 d)There should be sufficient evidence to show 

 that the guidance is:

  i.suitably agreed and authorised;

The policy, partnership & engagement 

manager stated that the recommendations are 

still outstanding as she is currently 

undertaking two peoples job.  She also stated 

that a new member of staff is due to start on 

18 July 2016 and will look to implement the 

 recommendation after then.
 

NP update (4 July 2016)

HR policies, including the annual leave policy, 

should be reviewed in accordance with agreed 

timescales.

 

HR should only action requests to carry forward 

annual leave in excess of 5 days, or the 

equivalent part time hours, when head of service 

approval has been obtained.

This recommendation has been implemented 

and all staff have been made aware of this 

 requirement. 

P
age 116



394 HR Management 2015/2016 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Mark Gibbons (HR 

Business Partner)

5. Honoraria Medium 30/09/2016    

397 HR Recruitment 2015/2016 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Andrew Down 

(Head of HR, IT & 

Technical 

Services)

4. Disclosure Barring 

Service (DBS) checks

High 31/07/2016    

399 HR Recruitment 2015/2016 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Mark Gibbons (HR 

Business Partner)

6. Pre-employment 

checks

High 31/05/2016 03/06/2016 Implemented 30/06/2016

400 HR Recruitment 2015/2016 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Mark Gibbons (HR 

Business Partner)

7. Induction process Medium 01/08/2016 27/07/2016 Implemented  

424 Review of Crowmarsh Fire 

September 2015

2015/2016 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

William Jacobs 

(Head Of Finance)

R7 - Emergency finance 

procedures

Medium 31/12/2016    

451 Project Management 2015/2016 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Sandra Wildern 

(Team Leader 

Building Control)

1. Project definition Low 31/07/2016    

454 Project Management 2015/2016 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Sandra Wildern 

(Team Leader 

Building Control)

4. Project register High 31/07/2016    

455 Project Management 2015/2016 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Sandra Wildern 

(Team Leader 

Building Control)

5. Authorisation of 

projects

High 31/07/2016    

456 Project Management 2015/2016 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Sandra Wildern 

(Team Leader 

Building Control)

6. Review of projects High 31/07/2016    

457 Project Management 2015/2016 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Sandra Wildern 

(Team Leader 

Building Control)

7. Project 

documentation

Medium 31/07/2016    

458 Project Management 2015/2016 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Sandra Wildern 

(Team Leader 

Building Control)

8. Project terms of 

reference

High 31/07/2016    

DBS checks and disclosures should be 

undertaken for all posts that require a one in a 

timely manner.  Internal audit would also 

recommend that is undertaken prior to the 

commencement of their employment.

 

HR should review the pre-employment checks 

process to ensure that all officers are given the 

appropriate checks required for their jobs as soon 

as possible.  

Implemented

Reviews of new starters should be undertaken to 

ensure that they are provided with induction 

training on the first available session.   

Induction will continue to be available on a 

regular basis. 

A policy should be in place for honoraria 

 including:-

  ¿the definition of honoraria

 ¿what does and does not constitute an 

 honorarium

  ¿the process to request honoraria

  ¿the criteria for deciding to award honoraria

 ¿the authorisation process for awarding 

 honoraria

 

All current projects should be reviewed to ensure 

they have been correctly approved, and obtain 

 retrospective approval if necessary.
 

Furthermore all future projects should be 

 approved in accordance with the methodology.

 

 Recommendation

All current projects should be reviewed to ensure 

 they are subject to the appropriate scrutiny.
 

Furthermore all future projects should be 

 scrutinised in accordance with the methodology.
 

 

All projects should have completed and 

comprehensive documentation to support it and 

 to comply with the approved methodology.
 

 

Corporate emergency finance procedures that 

can be implemented immediately during a BC 

incident should be documented and agreed.  

They should include the authorisation of 

emergency purchases, security of cash and 

assets, the drawing of funds and use of credit 

cards and the monitoring of expenditure.

 

A full review of both the projects register and 

inflight register should be undertaken, to ensure 

the listings are accurate and correct against the 

councils¿ definition of a project.

 

A review of the projects register is undertaken 

immediately, and the correct status of project and 

project managers recorded. Furthermore a 

system of regular reviews be introduced to 

ensure the currency is retained.

 

 1)Amend the guidance in the toolkit to include 

the requirement for project boards to have 

complete ToR, containing the following 

 components.
 

 ¿Introduction ¿ Who has authorised the creation 

of this Board (the full council), confirmation that 

they have the power to create this board, and 

whether or not they have the authority to call 

 upon outside expert opinion.

 ¿Membership ¿ This should detail by name and 

job title all the members, appoint the chair and 

 deputy chair, and who will record the minutes.

 ¿Attendance ¿ What will be the quorum, both in 

 numbers and specific attendees.

 ¿Frequency of meetings ¿ How many meetings 

per year, or during the life of the project, the 

 timings of them, and frequency.

 ¿Calling of meeting ¿ These should be in 

accordance with the constitution of the council 

including notice period, and submission of 

 documents date.

 ¿Remit ¿ Why does the board exist, what are its 

powers, what decisions can it 

 make/recommend.

 ¿Reporting ¿ What is the timescale for producing 

 the minutes/circulating minutes.

 ¿Limitations of authority ¿ Any restrictions placed 

 upon the project board.
 

 2)Amend the Didcot Leisure Facility ToR to 

reflect the requirements above and the 

 

P
age 117



459 Project Management 2015/2016 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Sandra Wildern 

(Team Leader 

Building Control)

9. Project compliance 

with methodology

Medium 31/07/2016    

460 Project Management 2015/2016 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Sandra Wildern 

(Team Leader 

Building Control)

10. Monitoring and 

reporting

Medium 31/07/2016    

461 Pro-active Anti-Fraud 

Review 

2015/2016 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

Paul Howden 

(Revenues & 

Benefits Client 

Manager)

1. Fraudulent activity 

reporting 

Low 30/06/2016 28/06/2016 Ongoing (Date of 

implementation not 

yet passed)

 

481 Safeguarding children, 

young people & 

vulnerable adults

2016/2017 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Sally Truman 

(Policy, 

Partnership & 

Engagement 

Manager)

Risk Register Low 31/08/2016    

482 Safeguarding children, 

young people & 

vulnerable adults

2016/2017 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Sally Truman 

(Policy, 

Partnership & 

Engagement 

Manager)

Central register of 

reported concern

Low 31/10/2016    

483 Safeguarding children, 

young people & 

vulnerable adults

2016/2017 Andrew Down (Head of HR, IT 

& Technical Services)

Sally Truman 

(Policy, 

Partnership & 

Engagement 

Manager)

Procurement guidelines Medium 31/08/2016    

All fraudulent or potentially fraudulent activity 

identified and prevented by Capita, should be 

reported to the council¿s client team and internal 

audit within their monthly performance monitoring 

report.  

Capita will include a note in its June 2016  

and future reports. Please note however that 

post August, reporting mechanisms may 

change -  so it may be reported in some other 

document. 

The councils¿ responsibility for having regard to 

safeguarding while discharging functions should 

be recorded within the councils¿ risk register.

 

A central register should be kept for any concerns 

reported regarding safeguarding for effective 

monitoring.

 

 1)All current projects should be reviewed to 

ensure they are compliant with the 

 methodology.

 2)A system of regular checks should be 

introduced to ensure ongoing compliance and 

 reporting thereof.

 

 1)All current projects should be monitored 

throughout the project to ensure they are 

 compliant with the methodology.

 2)A system of regular checks should be 

introduced to ensure ongoing monitoring and 

 reporting is being undertaken.

 

Procedures relating to procurement should be 

updated to include safeguarding to ensure that 

prior to offering a contract to a service 

provider/supplier sufficient safeguarding checks 

are undertaken, if applicable, in order to 

safeguard children and vulnerable adults.

 

P
age 118



Rec 

ID

Audit Name Audit Year Head of Service Service Manager Recommendation 

Name

Risk Rating Implementation 

date

Date of Officer 

Update

Recommendation 

Status

Revised 

Implementation 

Date
24 Petty Cash 2014/2015 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

Ben Watson 

(Finance & 

Systems Manager)

5. Petty Cash 

Replenishment Process

Medium 31/01/2015 17/06/2016 Not Implemented 31/07/2016

55 Inter-council Recharges 2013/2014 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

Ben Watson 

(Finance & 

Systems Manager)

1. Policies and 

procedures

High 31/03/2014 08/06/2015 Not Implemented 31/10/2015

197 Receipt of Income 

Arrangements

2015/2016 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

Paul Howden 

(Revenues & 

Benefits Client 

Manager)

Receipt of Income 

Procedures

Medium 30/09/2015 25/09/2015 Ongoing (Date of 

implementation not 

yet passed)

30/11/2016

305 National Non-Domestic 

Rates (NNDR)

2015/2016 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

Paul Howden 

(Revenues & 

Benefits Client 

Manager)

Suspense Account Low 01/03/2016    

414 Insurance 2015/2016 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

William Jacobs 

(Head Of Finance)

16. Business continuity 

claim - SODC

Medium 31/07/2016    

57 RIPA 2013/2014 Margaret Reed (Head Of Legal 

And Democratic Services)

Liz Hayden (Legal, 

Licensing And 

Community Safety 

Manager)

1. RIPA policy and 

procedure

Low 30/04/2014 07/01/2016 Ongoing (Date of 

implementation not 

yet passed)

30/09/2016

65 Community Loans 

Scheme

2013/2014 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

William Jacobs 

(Head Of Finance)

2. Roles and 

responsibilities

Medium 30/09/2013 16/06/2016 Not Implemented 31/12/2016

333 Creditor Payments 2015/2016 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

Paul Howden 

(Revenues & 

Benefits Client 

Manager)

6b) Duplicate invoices High 30/06/2016  N/A  

(a) Establish policy and procedures on when joint 

purchases is allowed and what inter-council 

 recharges should then be made.

(b) Incorporate good practice guides in recharges 

 guidance (e.g. use of time allocation sheets).

(c) Incorporate a section on key issues in 

recharges guidance (e.g. transferring items, low 

 value purchases).

This is now being reviewed following the 

move to one office.  This will be implemented 

prior to the 2015/16 budget setting process.  

 This will be completed by 31 October 2014.
 

Update (8/6/15)  Due to staffing issues and 

the recent fire, the accountancy team have 

been divereted to other priorities and this 

remains an aspiration.  I would still not regard 

 this as high risk.

Clear procedures for all areas of the council 

regarding the receiving of income, including 

unallocated income, need to be developed, 

approved, regularly reviewed, monitored, and 

evidenced with a named individual or role 

responsible for procedures in each service area 

and for updating intranet guidance.

Still agreed but will not be concluded by due 

date - competing priorities

A review of the suspense account should be 

undertaken and a decision made on the old 

transactions still on the account.

 

SODC Summary of overdue recommendations (Excluding Private)
Recommendation Recommendation Update

The request to replenish petty cash should be 

processed within creditors using a separate 

control account requiring a single coding and 

routing to an agreed officer for authorisation. 

Journal transfers would then be needed to code 

expenditure to the appropriate departments. 

Not a priority at present.  revised 

 implementation date changed to July 2016 

FK Update 17/6/16

 6b)The community safety department, human 

resources department, facilities department and 

Capita staff need to review the duplicate 

registration and payment highlighted during the 

audit and recover any overpayments from 

suppliers.

 

 a)The business continuity claim should be 

revised to exclude the staff compensation 

payments for both the flat rate £25 amounts and 

 the individual claim amounts. 

 b)The spreadsheet used to record the personal 

loss expenditure should be enhanced to include a 

reconciliation with payroll records and with the 

 continuity claim. 

 

The RIPA policy and procedure should be 

updated to reflect current legislation and 

 consideration should be given to including:-

 a)A requirement for members' review of RIPA 

activities and approval of the policy as per the 

 revised code of practice. 

  b)Reference to the use of the NAFN.

 and,

 c)Making the document available on the 

 council's intranet.

Policy to be revised by 31 March 2016 and 

training to take place by end quarter two 

2016/2017

(a) Document the end to end process (including 

roles and responsibilities) for the administration 

 and approval of loans.
 

(b) If there is a possibility of the 12 week 

turnaround time not being met in the processing 

of applications  received, there should be a 

 reassignment of roles and responsibility for:

  a)monitoring loan repayments

 b)reconciling general ledger records to loan 

 agreements.
 

Confirmed with the Head of Finance that there 

has only been one application to date and it 

was his opinion that at the present there is no 

need to update the procedure notes.  Should 

applications increase consideration will be 

 given to review the procedure notes.
 

As at 12 January 2015 no further applications 

 have been received.
 

As at 10 June 2015 no further applications 

 have been received.
 

As at 16 June 2016 no further applications 

have been received

P
age 119



Rec 

ID

Audit Name Audit Year Head of Service Service Manager Recommendation 

Name

Risk Rating Implementation 

date

Date of Officer 

Update

Recommendation 

Status

Revised 

Implementation 

Date
118 Inter-council Recharges 2013/2014 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

Bob Watson 

(Accountancy 

Manager 

(Technical))

1. Policies and 

procedures

High 31/03/2014 08/06/2015 Not Implemented 30/10/2015

183 Receipt of Income 

Arrangements

2015/2016 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

Paul Howden 

(Revenues & 

Benefits Client 

Manager)

Receipt of Income 

Procedures 

Medium 30/09/2015 01/07/2016 Ongoing (Date of 

implementation not 

yet passed)

30/11/2016

306 National Non-Domestic 

Rate (NNDR)

2015/2016 William Jacobs (Head Of 

Finance)

Paul Howden 

(Revenues & 

Benefits Client 

Manager)

Suspense Account Low 01/03/2016    

485 West Way Botley 2016/2017 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Andrew Maxted 

(Senior Planning 

Officer)

1. Statement of 

community involvement

High 31/12/2016    

486 West Way Botley 2016/2017 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Andrew Maxted 

(Senior Planning 

Officer)

2. Planning consultation 

methodology

High 31/12/2016    

488 West Way Botley 2016/2017 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Michelle Yankah 

(Cutomer Service 

Team Leader)

4. Written 

acknowledgements

Low 31/12/2016    

489 West Way Botley 2016/2017 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Andrew Maxted 

(Senior Planning 

Officer)

5. Captured responses - 

completeness and 

accuracy

High 31/12/2016    

490 West Way Botley 2016/2017 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Duncan Grainge 

(Customer Service 

Manager)

6. Scanned documents Low 31/10/2016    

491 West Way Botley 2016/2017 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Andrew Maxted 

(Senior Planning 

Policy Officer)

7. Free text responses Medium 31/10/2016 01/11/2016 Implemented  

492 West Way Botley 2016/2017 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Andrew Maxted 

(Senior Planning 

Policy Officer)

8. Scope of consultation 

questions

Medium 31/10/2016 01/11/2016 Implemented  

VWHDC Summary of overdue recommendations (Excluding Private)
Recommendation Recommendation Update

(a) Establish policy and procedures on when joint 

purchases is allowed and what inter-council 

 recharges should then be made.

(b) Incorporate good practice guides in recharges 

 guidance (e.g. use of time allocation sheets).

(c) Incorporate a section on key issues in 

recharges guidance (e.g. transferring items, low 

 value purchases).

This is now being reviewed following the 

move to one office.  This will be implemented 

prior to the 2015/16 budget setting process.  

 This will be completed by 31 October 2014.
 

Not yet had the opportunity to review policy 

and guidance (although FPR have been 

updated).  Still do not consider this high risk 

and would appreciate if the rationale for this 

 decision to assess it so could be explained. 
 

As above and due to higher priority issues 

and limited resources this has yet to be 

All planning consultations should be supported by 

comprehensive procedures and have an officer 

methodology statement to support the analysis of 

consultation responses.  This should document 

officer responsibilities for the end to end 

consultation process, and clearly specify the 

methodology for analysing, categorising and 

 recording consultation responses.

 

Planning to consider whether it is reasonable and 

practical to state within the SCI that it will 

¿acknowledge in writing all representations 

received¿.  If it is, then planning must deliver on 

the commitment.

 

There should be independent review and quality 

checks to ensure consultation responses are fully 

and accurately captured within the consultation 

database.

 

Clear procedures for all areas of the council 

regarding the receiving of income, including 

unallocated income, need to be developed, 

approved, regularly reviewed, monitored, and 

evidenced with a named individual or role 

responsible for procedures in each service area 

and for updating intranet guidance.

Still agreed but will not be completed by due 

date - competing priorities

A review of the suspense account should be 

undertaken and a decision made on the old 

transactions still on the account.

 

The statement of community involvement (SCI) 

 should be reviewed and updated, to include:

 ¿Clearly identifying a responsible officer/team for 

 the policy.

 ¿Ensuring the SCI adequately reflects the 

council¿s corporate policy on customer 

engagement and the customer engagement 

 charter to ensure consistency.

 ¿Identifying how councillors will be involved in 

 planning consultations. 

 ¿Specifying what documents consultees will be 

entitled to view as part of any planning 

 consultation process.

 

Scanned images of consultation response 

documentation must be checked to ensure they 

are complete.

 

a) Where there is a free text response rather than 

an agreed/disagreed answer, this should not be 

 represented as a ¿no response¿. 
 

b) The stated count and/or percentages of 

responses should use only those respondents 

that did provide an answer to the 

agreed/disagreed sections as there is already an 

option for ¿don¿t know/no opinion¿. Hence each 

comment may have a different total for the 

 number of responses.
 

c) For purposes of reconciling responses the ¿no 

response¿ can be used but this should not inform 

 the overall outcome. 

A Consultation Statement is prepared for 

Local Plan Consultation stages which clearly 

identifies how each comment has been 

considered and informed the plan making 

process. This statement forms part of the 

Council's submission to the Secretary of State 

and is scrutinised through Examination. On 

this basis the approach is considered to be 

robust. Moving forward this approach will be 

adopted for all policy documents, including 

SPD's. 

All sections and options presented within a 

policy/report which is being consulted upon, 

should be reflected in the direct questions within 

a consultation.

A standard approach is adopted for 

developing consultation questions for Local 

Plan consultations, which includes questions 

on all aspects of the Plan (e.g. by chapter/ 

policy etc) and includes more generic 

questions on the 'tests of soundness' which 

relate to those aspects of plan preparation 

that will be tested by an independent Planning 

Inspector. Moving forward, this approach will 

be adopted for all policy documents including 

SPD's.   

P
age 120



493 West Way Botley 2016/2017 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Andrew Maxted 

(Senior Planning 

Policy Officer)

9. Statistical analysis - 

independent review

High 31/10/2016 01/11/2016 Implemented  

494 West Way Botley 2016/2017 Adrian Duffield (Head of 

Planning)

Andrew Maxted 

(Senior Planning 

Policy Officer)

11. Definitions and 

explanations

Medium 31/10/2016 01/11/2016 Implemented  

There should be an independent review of stated 

statistics within a consultation report, including 

free text analysis/summary, or more than one 

officer undertaking the analysis, to ascertain if 

similar conclusions could be drawn and/or 

validate the reported data analysis.

Consultation Statements prepared to support 

preparation of the Local Plan will always be 

subject to internal quality control/ peer review 

as the document forms part of the evidence 

submitted to the Secretary of State and 

subject to independent review at Examination. 

This approach will be adopted for all policy 

documents including SPD's.  

Consultation questions and documents for 

consultation should use clear and transparent 

language and terms with definitions or 

explanations where necessary. 

The importance of using plain language in 

consultation material is understood, although 

this sometimes needs to be balanced by the 

need for documents to comply with national 

policy, guidance and legislative requirements 

and be capable of scrutiny by an Independent 

Planning Inspector, where these requirements 

 are demonstrably met. 
 

However, supporting documents will often by 

published alongside formal planning 

documents to help explain technical 

processes in more detail and in an accessible 

and easy to understand style. These often 

take the form of 'Topic Papers' and prove 

helpful to Planning Inspector's as well as 

members of the public. It is suggested that 

this approach is adopted for all policy 

documents including SPD's.    

P
age 121



Joint Audit and Governance 
Committee

Report of Assurance Manager
Author: Adrianna Partridge
Telephone: 01235 540389
Textphone: 18001 01235 540455
E-mail: adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
SODC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Jane Murphy
Tel: 07970 932054
E-mail: jane.murphy@southoxon.gov.uk
VWHDC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Robert Sharp
Telephone: 07771 760549
E-mail: robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk

To: Audit and Governance Committee
DATE: 23 January 2017

Internal audit management report 
quarter three 2016/2017
 
Recommendation

That members note the content of the report.

Purpose of report

1. The purpose of this report is:

 to report on management issues within internal audit;

 to summarise the progress against the 2016/2017 audit plan up to 11 
January 2017; and

 to summarise the priorities for quarter four 2016/2017.

CONFIDENTIAL

Page 122

mailto:jane.murphy@southoxon.gov.uk
mailto:robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk


2. The contact officer for this report is Adrianna Partridge, Assurance Manager for 
South Oxfordshire District Council and Vale of White Horse District Council, 
telephone 01235 422485.

Strategic objectives

3. Managing our business effectively.

Background 

4. The CIPFA Code of Practice for Internal Audit in Local Government in the UK 
2006 states that the head of internal audit should prepare a risk-based audit 
plan, which should outline the assignments to be carried out and the broad 
resources required to deliver the plan.

5. The CIPFA Code also states that the audit committee should approve the 
annual internal audit plan and monitor progress against the plan.  The joint 
committee approved the 2016/2017 annual internal audit plan on 21 March 
2016.

Management issues

6. 5 councils’ partnership
Internal audit is now consulting on 5CP activity. A number of operational 
concerns have been identified as a result of this work i.e. control environment 
concerns with the payroll and HR transition.  An internal 5CP programme board 
has been established to ensure strong SODC and VWHDC governance of the 
partnership. Membership of the programme board includes the chief executive, 
interim chief operating officer, section 151 officer, monitoring officer, 
SODC/VWHDC 5CP lead, communications and the assurance manager. A 5CP 
paper with further information will be presented at the next meeting.

The level of 5CP involvement is placing a strain on current internal audit 
resources. This is currently being reviewed and will be considered as part of the 
2017/2018 audit plan process.

The internal audit approach across the 5CP has yet to be determined. It is 
anticipated that the relevant audit managers will shortly meet to agree an 
approach for the 2017/2018 audit year.

7. Emergency planning
The emergency planning resource provided by Oxfordshire County Council will 
cease at the end of January 2017. The risk and insurance officer will be 
temporarily covering the emergency planning duties until a successful 
recruitment process is completed. 

Progress against the 2016/2017 audit plan

8. Progress against the approved audit plan has been calculated for the quarter 
and year to date and is summarised in appendix 1 attached.

Page 123



Performance figures to date are as follows:

Target YTD Q1 
15/16

Q2 
15/16

Q3 
15/16

Q4 
15/16

Chargeable
(identifiable client and/or specific 
IA deliverable)

74% 73.5% 72% 75.5% 69.5% 59%

Non-Chargeable 
(corporate, not IA deliverable)

8% 5% 7% 5% 3.5% 4%

Planned Lost
(i.e. leave)

16% 18.5% 20% 18% 21% 17%

Unplanned Lost
(i.e. study, sickness)

2% 3% 1 % 1.5% 6% 20%

9. As at 11 January 2017 the status of audit work against the 2016/2017 audit 
plan is as follows:

Planned 

Strategic, operational and financial assurance work known and approved by the 
audit and governance committee.

2016/2017

Pl
an

ne
d

C
om

pl
et

e

D
ra

ft

In
 p

ro
gr

es
s

To
 

co
m

m
en

ce

PLANNED 28 11 2 7 8
Joint 25 10 2 7 6
SODC 3 1 0 0 2

Adhoc

Unplanned project work based on agreed terms of reference with the audit 
manager (i.e. implementation of new systems) and responsive work issued and 
agreed by the section 151 officer, members or senior management team (i.e. 
investigations).

2016/2017

R
eq

ue
st

ed

C
om

pl
et

e

D
ra

ft

In
 p

ro
gr

es
s

To
 

co
m

m
en

ce

ADHOC 8 3 1 3 1
Joint 4 1 0 3 0
SODC 0 0 0 0 0
VWHDC 4 2 1 0 1

Page 124



Follow up 

Work undertaken to ensure that agreed recommendations have been 
implemented.  The number of follow-up audits is a rolling number, all internal 
audit reports are followed up after six months unless the area is subject to an 
annual review.

2016/2017

R
eq

ue
st

ed

C
om

pl
et

e

D
ra

ft

In
 p

ro
gr

es
s

To
 

co
m

m
en

ce

FOLLOW-UP 25 15 0 5 5
Joint 15 5 0 5 5
SODC 5 5 0 0 0
VWHDC 5 5 0 0 0

Priorities for 2016/2017 quarter four (January 2017 – March 2017)

10. The priorities for quarter four are to:
 
 complete 2016/2017 audit plan;

 confirm the internal audit arrangements across the 5CP for 2017/2018; 
and

 identify and address any internal audit resource concerns.

11. Remaining 2016/2017 planned audit work can be reviewed in appendix 2. 

Financial implications

12. There are no financial implications attached to this report.

Legal implications

13. None.

Risk implications

14. Identification of risk is an integral part of all audits.

ADRIANNA PARTRIDGE
ASSURANCE MANAGER

Page 125



PLANNED AUDIT 2016/2017

System Name

As at 11 January 2017

Payroll (29 priority score) 36

SODC 16.0

VWHDC 16.0

General Ledger (26) 20

SODC 5.0

VWHDC 5.0

Procurement (CSP) (25) 20

SODC 11.5

VWHDC 11.5

Council Tax (24) 20

SODC 2.5

VWHDC 2.5

Creditor Payments (24) 20

SODC 9.0

VWHDC 9.0

Pro-active Anti-Fraud Review (23) 20

SODC 4.5

VWHDC 4.5

Capital Management and Accounting (23) 14

SODC 0.5

VWHDC 0.5

Housing Benefits and CTRS (22) 30

SODC 0.5

VWHDC 0.5

Sundry Debtors (22) 20

SODC 9.0 3 0 0 2 2 1 1 0

VWHDC 9.0 3 0 0 2 2 1 1 0

NNDR (20) 20

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Treasury Management (18) 14

SODC 8.5

VWHDC 8.5

Substantial

T
o

ta
l 
N

o
t 

A
g

re
e
d

JOINT - Part 1

M
e
d

iu
m

N
o

. 
A

g
re

e
dStatus

A
u

d
it

 

A
ll
o

c
a
ti

o
n

T
o

ta
l 
D

a
y
s
 

U
s
e
d

Exception Issues

L
o

w

N
o

. 
A

g
re

e
d

N
o

. 
A

g
re

e
d

In Progress

N
o

. 
o

f 
R

e
c
sAudit Opinion

In progress

Draft out

Draft out

In Progress

To Commence Q4

In Progress

In progress

Completed

To Commence Q4

In progress

APPENDIX 1

Substantial

H
ig

h

P
age 126



Risk Management (28) 14

SODC 7.0 14 8 8 4 4 2 2 0

VWHDC 7.0 14 8 8 4 4 2 2 0

Community Infrastructure Levy (25) 12

SODC 5.0 1 0 0 0 0 1 1 0

VWHDC 5.0

Training and Development (22) 12

SODC 5.0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0

VWHDC 5.0 1 1 1 0 0 0 0 0

Building Control (22) 20

SODC 9.5 6 2 2 3 2 1 1 1

VWHDC 9.5 6 2 2 3 2 1 1 1

Health and Safety (20) 20

SODC 7.0 4 0 0 3 3 1 1 0

VWHDC 7.0 4 0 0 3 3 1 1 0

Gifts and Hospitality (20) 10

SODC 5.0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0

VWHDC 5.0 1 0 0 1 1 0 0 0

Performance Management (20) 16

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Facilities Management (20) 20

SODC 10.0 3 1 1 0 0 2 0 2

VWHDC 10.0 3 1 1 0 0 2 0 2

Lone Working and Officer Security (20) 14

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Comments and Complaints Process (20) 16

SODC 4.5 5 0 0 4 4 1 1 0

VWHDC 4.5 5 0 0 4 4 1 1 0

Environmental Protection (20) 20

SODC 0.5

VWHDC 0.5

Information Governance (15) 20

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Tree Management and Inspections (15) 20

SODC 0.0

VWHDC 0.0

Safeguarding Children, Young People and Vulnerable 

Adults (16)

12

SODC 6.0 3 0 0 1 1 2 2 0

VWHDC 6.0 3 0 0 1 1 2 2 0

Limited

Limited

Substantial

Limited

Satisfactory

Satisfactory

Satisfactory

Limited

Substantial

Satisfactory

Limited

Satisfactory

Limited

Completed

Completed

To Commence Q4

In Progress

Satisfactory

Completed

Substantial

Substantial

JOINT - Part 2
Completed

Completed

Completed

Full

Not yet applicable

Completed

To Commence Q4

Completed

To Commence Q4

Completed

To Commence Q4

P
age 127



Cornerstone (21) Completed 10 10.0 5 1 1 3 3 1 1 0

Leader Project Assurance (17) To Commence Q4 10 0.0

Leader Project Grant Verification (10) To Commence Q4 5 0.0

Full
Substantial

Satisfactory
Limited

Nil

Full

Substantial
Satisfactory

Limited
Nil

Full
Substantial

Satisfactory
Limited

Nil

6182237

Limited

86

6

IA PLANNED AUDIT TOTALS

0

- 485 263

6
7

1

SODC

3925 25

VWHDC PLANNED AUDIT TOTALS - 263 115.0

0

SODC PLANNED AUDIT TOTALS 13- 268 136.5 46 13

1

2
3

3

8

21 20 12 10

3

0
2

3
3

40 12 12 18 17 10

3

0

P
age 128



FOLLOW UP AUDITS 2015/2016

System Name Total Days 

Used

Original Audit Opinion Issued Total No. of Recs 

Agreed

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

P
a

rt
ly

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

N
o

t 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

O
n

g
o

in
g

Waste Management & Recycling 1516 0.5 Substantial 3 1 1 1 0

Receipt of Income 1516 0.25 Satisfactory 6 5 1 0 0

Development Management 1516 0.25 Satisfactory 3 3 0 0 0

Licensing 1516 0.5 Satisfactory 6 6 0 0 0

Cash Office 1516 0.5 Limited 4 3 0 1 0

Waste Management & Recycling 1516 0.5 Substantial 3 1 1 1 0

Receipt of Income 1516 0.25 Satisfactory 6 5 1 0 0

Development Management 1516 0.25 Satisfactory 3 3 0 0 0

Licensing 1516 0.5 Satisfactory 4 4 0 0 0

Cash Office 1516 0.5 Limited 5 4 0 1 0

Partnership Performance Monitoring 1516 0.25 Limited 4 0 0 4 0

Leisure Centres 1516 1 Satisfactory 11 11 0 0 0

Consultation (Public and Staff) 1516 2 Substantial 3 1 2 0 0

Neighbourhood Planning Grants 1516 1 Limited 5 5 0 0 0

Elections and Election Payments 1516 1 Limited 7 1 0 6 0

FOLLOW UP AUDITS 2016/2017

System Name Total Days 

Used

Original Audit Opinion Issued Total No. of Recs 

Agreed

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

P
a

rt
ly

 

Im
p

le
m

e
n

te
d

N
o

t 
Im

p
le

m
e
n

te
d

O
n

g
o

in
g

None

None

Temporary Accommodation Refurbishment - November 2016 0.5 N/a 3 3 0 0 0

IA FOLLOW UP DURING 16/17 TOTALS 9.8 76 56 6 14 0

JOINT FOLLOW UP 16/17 TOTALS 4.3 30 18 2 10 0

SODC FOLLOW UP 16/17 TOTALS 2.0 22 18 2 2 0

VWHDC FOLLOW UP 16/17 TOTALS 2.5 24 20 2 2 0

SODC

JOINT

VWHDC

SODC

VWHDC

JOINT

P
age 129



UNPLANNED WORK 2016/2017

CONSULTANCY

System Name Status Audit Allocation Total Days Used Requested By

5 Councils Partnership In Progress As required 30.5 N/A

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

CONTINGENCY

System Name Status Audit Allocation Total Days Used Requested By

MOT and Business Insurance Spotcheck Completed 2 2 Assurance Manager

Urgent Key Decisions In Progress 3 N/A Chief Executive

Investigation Templates In Progress 10 5 Assurance Manager

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

West Way Botley Completed 15 40.5 Councillor

TA Refurbishment Completed 4 3.5 Head of Legal and Democratic Services

East Challow S106 Draft out 4 3 Chief Executive

West Way Botley Follow Up To commence Q4 1 0 Councillor

SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT

System Name Status Audit Allocation Total Days Used Requested By

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

None N/A N/A N/A N/A

VWHDC

SODC

JOINT

VWHDC

JOINT

SODC

JOINT

VWHDC

SODC

P
age 130



PLANNED AUDITS

PRIORITY
JOINT - PART 1 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5

Payroll 29

General Ledger 26

Procurement (CSP) 25

Council Tax 24

Creditor Payments 24

Pro-active Anti-Fraud Review 23

Capital Management & Accounting 23

Housing Benefits & CTRS 22

Sundry Debtors 22

NNDR 20

Treasury Management 18

JOINT - PART 2

Risk Management 28

Community Infrastucture Levy 25

Training and Development 22

Building Control 22

Health and Safety 20

Gifts and Hospitality 20

Performance Management 20

Facilities Management 20

Lone Working and Officer Security 20

Comments and Complaints Process 20

Environmental Protection 20

Information Governance 15

Tree Management and Inspections 15

Safeguarding Children, Young People and Vulnerable 
Adults

14

SODC

Cornerstone 21

Leader Project Assurance 17

Leader Project Grant Verification 11

FOLLOW UP AUDITS

PRIORITY

JOINT 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5

Waste Management

Receipt of Income Arrangements

Development Management

Licensing

Cash Office

Consultation

Partnership Performance Management

Leisure

Neighbourhood Planning Grants

Project Management

Elections & Election Payments

ICT

HR Recruitment

HR Mgt

Insurance

Gifts and Hospitality

Comments and Complaints

Facilities Management

Health and Safety

Training and Development

SODC

None

VWHDC
None

UNPLANNED AUDITS

PRIORITY

JOINT 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5 1 2 3 5 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 1 2 3 4 5

Spotcheck of MOT and Business Insurance

Urgent Key Decisions

Investigation Templates

SODC

None

VWHDC

West Way

West Way follow up

S106 East Challow

Temporary Accommodation Refurbishment
Temporary Accommodation Refurbishment follow up

Key

Projected Start Date

In Progress

Draft Issued

Complete

A
G

C

October NovemberJuly

August OctoberSeptember

April

A
G

C
A

G
C

 
August

AUDIT PLAN SCHEDULE 2016/2017 (As at 11 January 2017)

April May June July

April May July

May June

A
G

C

September

February March

October November

A
G

C
A

G
C

A
G

C

A
G

C

December

January

A
G

C

Appendix 2

August September

June

December

February

MarchNovember December January February

A
G

C

A
G

C

March

A
G

C

January

P
age 131



 

 1

Joint Audit and Governance 

Committee  

Report of Head of Finance 

 

Author: Rhona Bellis, Principal Accountant 
Telephone: 01235 422497 
Textphone: 18001 01235 422497 
E-mail: rhona.bellis@southandvale.gov.uk 

SODC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Jane Murphy 
Telephone: 07970 932054 
E-mail: jane.murphy@southoxon.gov.uk 
 
VWHDC cabinet member responsible: Councillor Robert Sharp 
Telephone: 01367 710549 
E-mail: robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 
 

To: Joint Audit and Governance Committee; Cabinet; Council 

DATE: 23 Jan 17 by Joint Audit and Governance Committee 
 1 Feb 17 (S) / 3 Feb 17 (V) by Cabinet  
 16 Feb 17 (S) / 15 Feb 17 (V) by Council  

AGENDA ITEM 

 

Treasury management mid-year monitoring report 

2016/17 

Recommendations 

That Joint Audit and Governance Committee: 

1. notes the treasury management mid-year monitoring report 2016/17, and 
2. is satisfied that the treasury activities are carried out in accordance with the 
treasury management strategy and policy. 
 
That Cabinet: 

3. considers any comments from Joint Audit and Governance Committee and 
recommends council to approve the report. 

 
Purpose of report 

1. The report fulfils the legislative requirements to ensure the adequate monitoring of the 
treasury management activities and that each council’s prudential indicators are 
reported to their respective council mid-year (ie: as at 30 September).  The report 
provides details of the treasury activities for the first six months of 2016/17 and an 
update on the current economic conditions with a view to the remainder of the year. 

Page 132



 

 2

Strategic objectives  

2. Managing the finances of the authority in accordance with the treasury management 
strategy will help to ensure that resources are available to deliver its services and 
meet the council’s other strategic objectives. 

 

Background 

3. The council’s treasury activities are strictly regulated by legislation.  The CIPFA 
Prudential Code and CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management requires a 
monitoring report to be provided mid-year to council.  The report covers the treasury 
activity for the period 1 April 2016 to 30 September 2016. 

4. The 2016/17 treasury management strategy was approved by each council in 
February 2016.  This report summarises the treasury activity and performance for the 
first six months of 2016/17 against those prudential indicators and benchmarks set for 
the year.  It is also provides an opportunity to review and subsequently revise limits if 
required.  Full council is required to approve this report and any amendments to the 
Treasury Management Strategy. 

Treasury activity 

5. The mid-year performance of the two councils is summarised in the tables below1.   

 

 

 
  

                                            
1 For property, the balance shown is the fair value of investment properties as at 31 March 2016.  

South

Treasury 

investments 

£000

Non 

treasury 

loan £000

Sub Total 

£000

Property 

investment 

£000

Overall total 

£000

1 Average investment balance 117,182 15,000 132,182 8,950 141,132 

2 Budgeted investment income 721 311 1,032 

3 Actual investment income 1,247 312 1,559 427 1,986 

4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 501 1 502 

5 Annualised rate of return 2.13% 4.16% 2.36% 9.54% 2.81%

Vale

Treasury 

investments 

£000

Property 

investment 

£000

Overall total 

£000

1 Average investment balance 47,809 8,210 56,019 

2 Budgeted investment income 205 

3 Actual investment income 298 358 656 

4 surplus/(deficit)  (3) - (2) 93 

5 Annualised rate of return 1.25% 8.72% 2.34%

Page 133



 

 3

6. The forecast outturn position based on known investments and maturities and an 
estimate for future earnings is shown in the table below: 

 
 

7. The Councils remain restricted regarding financial institutions meeting their 
investment criteria.  When it is possible, investments will be placed with highly rated 
institutions for a longer duration with a view to increasing the weighted average 
maturity of the portfolio, but this has meant that overall there are less suitable 
counterparties available to the councils to deposit with. 

8. SODC.  The latest estimate is that income receivable on cash investments will be 
above budget by £80,650 by the end of the year. Although cash balances have been 
higher than expected, as a result of insurance receipts and re-profiling of the capital 
programme, the ongoing decline in interest rates available to the council when 
looking to reinvest maturing deposits has meant that average rates of return over the 
last six months of the year are expected to be lower than achieved in the first six 
months.  The budget for 2017/18 has been reduced to reflect this reduction. 

 
9. Officers monitor the performance of the unit trust holding on a regular basis.  When 

the value reaches £14 million, a disposal of £2 million is made.  During September 
2016, the value of our unit trust holding reached the £14 million threshold and a 
disposal of £2 million was agreed. 
 

10. VWHDC.  The latest estimate is that income receivable on cash investments will be 
above budget by £159,000.  This is due to higher than budgeted cash balances 
relating to grant funding from the EZ building foundations for growth that was 
received at the end of 2014/15 and has been invested pending disbursement, and the  
re-profiling of the capital programme as a result of delays in expenditure.  The 
ongoing decline in interest rates available to the council when looking to reinvest 
maturing deposits has meant that average rates of return over the last six months of 
the year are expected to be lower than achieved in the first six months.  The budget 
for 2017/18 has been reduced to reflect this reduction. 
 

11. The Section 151 officer is content that there is no current need to review practices 
following the TUPE transfer of staff to Capita in August 2016, whilst the service is 
provided on a business as usual basis.  However, the status quo may change in 
2017/18, and at such time practices will be reviewed. 

Performance measurement 

12. A list of current investments as at 30 September is shown in Appendices A1 and A2.  
All investments were with approved counterparties.  The average return on these 
investments is shown above in the table at paragraph 5.  South has performed better 
than Vale because it holds more long term loans at higher rates, equities and 
corporate bonds as a result of its larger investment base. 

 
13. The councils’ performance against benchmarks for the first six months of the year are 

detailed in Appendices A3 and A4.  All benchmarks have been achieved where 
measurable.   

South Oxfordshire 

District Council

Vale of White Horse 

District Council

Annual budget as per MTFP £2,196,350 £411,000

Forecast outturn £2,277,000 £570,000

Variance against budget £80,650 £159,000

Borrowing Nil Nil

Page 134



 

 4

 
14. VWHDC.  Two benchmark performance indicators contained within the treasury 

management strategy for Vale are considered below, these have not got a defined 
measurable basis 
 

 Maximum investment of daily balances (in house) – on a daily basis, cash 
balances are reviewed and invested with a view to earning the maximum 
return for the council.  

 Maintenance of a balanced portfolio – when cash balances allow, investments 
are made in line with the treasury management strategy, with a view firstly to 
minimise risk and then to achieve maximum returns for the council.  

 
Treasury management limits on activity 

15. Each council is required by the Prudential Code to report on the limits set each year 
in their respective Treasury Management Strategies.  The purpose of these limits is to 
ensure that the activity of the treasury functions remain within certain parameters, 
thereby mitigating risk and reducing the impact of an adverse movement in interest 
rates.  However, if these limits are set to be too restrictive they will impair the 
opportunities to reduce costs/improve performance.  The limits for both councils are 
shown in appendices B1 and B2. 

16. During September 2016 a breach of counterparty limits occurred with Newcastle 
Building Society.  South Oxfordshire District Council invested £2 million with 
Newcastle Building Society on 1 September 2016.  This investment took the council 
£0.5 million over the agreed limit of £12 million.  A temporary authorisation was 
sought and obtained from the Section 151 officer.  The breach will be corrected in 
April 2017 when £1 million matures and brings the council back within its agreed 
limits. 

 
Debt activity during 2016/17 

17. During the first six months of 2016/17 there has been no need for either of the 
councils to borrow.  The treasury manager will continue to take a prudent approach to 
the councils’ debt strategies.  The prudential indicators and limits set out in 
appendices B1 and B2 provide the scope and flexibility for either of the councils to 
borrow in the short-term up to the maximum limits, if ever such a need arose within 
the cash flow management activities of the authority in order to achieve its service 
objectives. 

 
Financial implications 

18. Following the referendum on EU membership in June, we have entered a period of 
uncertainty.  The depreciation of sterling has resulted in a rise in inflation (CPI) and 
this is predicted to remain above the two per cent target for some time.  The Bank of 
England’s Monetary Policy Committee has stated that interest rates could move in 
either direction and they will respond to changes to the economic outlook as they 
unfold. The projection from the council’s treasury advisors (Capita Asset Services) is 
that the likelihood of a rise in official rates before early 2019 is unlikely.  Furthermore, 
when rates do rise, they will do so more slowly than in pre-crash years due to 
concerns over the sustainability of the recovery and the continuing levels of high 
personal indebtedness.  Rates are not likely to reach pre-2008 levels for some 
considerable time (if at all). 
 

Page 135



 

 5

 
Legal implications 

19. There are no significant legal implications as a result of the recommendations in this    
report.  Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the 
Public Services and the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance provides 
assurance that the council’s investments are, and will continue to be, within its legal 
powers. 
 

Conclusion 

20. This report provides details of the treasury management activities for the period 1 
April 2016 to 30 September 2016 and the mid-year prudential indicators to each 
respective council.  
 

21. During the first six months a breach of limits occurred at SODC and temporary 
authorisation was sought and obtained.  All other treasury activities at both councils 
have operated within the agreed parameters set out in their respective approved 
treasury management strategies.  
 

22. This report also provides the monitoring information for joint audit and governance 
committee to fulfil its role of scrutinising treasury management activity at each 
council. 

 
Background papers 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes (revised 2011) 

 CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2011 edition) 
 Various committee reports, principally:- 

 
Treasury Management Investment Strategy 2016/17 

SODC – council 18 February 2016 
VWHDC – council 17 February 2016 

 
Appendices 

A1 – SODC List of investments as at 30 September 2016 
A2 – VWHDC List of investments as at 30 September 2016 
A3 – SODC Performance against benchmark 
A4 – VWHDC Performance against benchmark 
B1 – SODC Prudential Indicators 
B2 – VWHDC Prudential Indicators 
C1 – Note on Prudential Indicators 

Page 136



Appendix A1 

A1 – 1 

South Oxfordshire District Council 

 

Investments as at 30 September 2016

Counterparty Deposit type

Maturity 

date

Investment 

duration in 

days Principal Rate

Close Brothers Fixed 15/12/2016 366 3,000,000 1.05%
National Counties Building Society Fixed 16/12/2016 304 1,500,000 0.95%
National Counties Building Society Fixed 21/12/2016 303 2,000,000 0.95%
Progressive Building Society Fixed 23/12/2016 304 1,000,000 0.90%
Progressive Building Society Fixed 03/01/2017 308 2,000,000 0.90%

National Counties Building Society Fixed 15/02/2017 229 1,500,000 0.73%
National Counties Building Society Fixed 27/02/2017 306 2,000,000 0.97%
Skipton Building Society Fixed 10/03/2017 364 3,000,000 1.02%
Principality Building Society Fixed 13/03/2017 367 2,000,000 1.05%
National Counties Building Society Fixed 15/03/2017 257 2,000,000 0.83%
Progressive Building Society Fixed 03/04/2017 304 2,000,000 1.00%
Progressive Building Society Fixed 03/04/2017 304 1,000,000 0.97%

Newcastle Building Society Fixed 12/04/2017 364 1,000,000 1.15%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed 27/04/2017 365 2,000,000 1.15%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed 02/05/2017 364 2,000,000 1.15%
National Counties Building Society Fixed 04/05/2017 304 1,000,000 0.95%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed 05/05/2017 364 2,000,000 1.15%
Skipton Building Society Fixed 08/05/2017 367 2,000,000 1.04%

Principality Building Society Fixed 30/05/2017 364 2,000,000 1.03%
West Bromwich Building Society Fixed 12/06/2017 364 3,000,000 1.07%
Nottingham Building Society Fixed 12/06/2017 364 1,000,000 1.01%
Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed 26/06/2017 367 2,000,000 1.00%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed 29/06/2017 364 1,500,000 1.15%
West Bromwich Building Society Fixed 03/07/2017 367 4,000,000 1.00%
Nottingham Building Society Fixed 11/07/2017 365 2,000,000 0.81%

Principality Building Society Fixed 10/07/2017 364 2,000,000 0.80%
Progressive Building Society Fixed 17/07/2017 304 2,500,000 0.70%
West Bromwich Building Society Fixed 19/07/2017 364 1,000,000 0.85%
Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed 24/07/2017 364 2,000,000 0.60%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed 30/08/2017 365 2,000,000 0.77%
Newcastle Building Society Fixed 31/08/2017 364 2,000,000 0.77%

Nottingham Building Society Fixed 18/09/2017 367 2,500,000 0.72%
Goldman Sachs International Bank Fixed 28/09/2017 364 2,000,000 0.70%
Santander Call * 7,105,464 0.25%
Royal Bank of Scotland Call * 2,329 0.25%
Royal Bank of Scotland Call * 95,101 0.25%
Goldman Sachs MMF * 4,460,000 0.44%
Blackrock MMF * 690,000 0.36%

Total short term cash investments 

(<1 yr duration)

76,852,894

HSBC Fixed 27/02/2017 1827 2,000,000 1.90%
Kingston upon Hull City Council Fixed 19/08/2020 2557 3,500,000 2.70%
Kingston upon Hull City Council Fixed 19/08/2020 2557 1,500,000 2.70%
Kingston upon Hull City Council Fixed 15/01/2021 2557 2,000,000 2.50%
Bury MBC Fixed 19/07/2021 1827 5,000,000 1.50%

Royal Bank of Scotland Fixed 22/01/2018 1098 2,000,000 1.25%
Royal Bank of Scotland Fixed 18/02/2019 1463 2,000,000 1.20%
Royal Bank of Scotland Fixed 08/04/2019 1095 3,000,000 1.31%
Close Brothers Fixed 27/11/2017 732 3,000,000 1.60%
Close Brothers Fixed 03/04/2017 549 2,000,000 1.41%
Close Brothers Fixed 14/03/2017 547 2,000,000 1.40%

Total long-term cash investments 

(>1 yr duration)

28,000,000

Santander Corporate Bond 04/01/2017 280,719 11.50%

Total corporate bond investments 280,719

CCLA Property 6,524,585 Variable
Legal & General Equities Unit Trust 12,209,874 Variable

Total Investments 123,868,072
*  Rates are variable.  Returns shown represent prevailing rates at end Q2 2016.

Above figures exclude balance outstanding from Kaupthing Singer and Friedlander and SOHA loan

Page 137



Appendix A2 

A2 – 1 

 
Vale of White Horse District Council 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Investments as at 30 September 2016

Counterparty Deposit type Maturity date

Total 

investment 

duration in 

days Principal Rate

Skipton Building Society Fixed 13/10/2016 364 2,000,000 1.02%

National Counties Building Society Fixed 18/11/2016 305 2,000,000 1.00%
Principality Building Society Fixed 20/01/2017 364 2,000,000 1.05%

Newcastle Building Society Fixed 08/12/2016 304 1,000,000 1.02%
Principality Building Society Fixed 28/12/2016 303 2,000,000 0.93%

National Counties Building Society Fixed 28/11/2016 273 1,000,000 0.90%

West Bromwich Building Society Fixed 20/03/2017 364 2,000,000 1.05%
Lloyds Bank Plc Fixed 28/03/2017 364 6,000,000 1.05%

Newcastle Building Society Fixed 15/03/2017 336 2,500,000 1.10%
Progressive Building Society Fixed 15/03/2017 254 2,000,000 0.77%

Skipton Building Society Fixed 20/03/2017 200 2,000,000 0.49%
Close Brothers Fixed 29/09/2017 364 2,000,000 0.80%

LGIM MMF * 5,750,000 0.34%

Goldman Sachs MMF * 6,620,000 0.27%

Total short term cash 

investments (<1 yr duration)

38,870,000

Kingston Upon Hull City Council Fixed 19/08/2020 2,557 2,000,000 2.70%
Kingston Upon Hull City Council Fixed 15/01/2021 2,557 2,000,000 2.50%

Close Brothers Fixed 16/11/2017 731 2,000,000 1.60%
Places for People Homes (HA) Fixed 15/06/2018 730 2,000,000 1.70%

Total long-term cash 

investments (>1 yr duration)

8,000,000

CCLA Property 2,580,865 variable

Total Investments 49,450,865

*  Rates are variable.  Returns shown represent prevailing rates at end Q2 2016.

Page 138



Appendix A3 

A3 – 1 

 

South Oxfordshire District Council 

 

 All benchmarks managed by the treasury team were met in the first six months of 
the year.   

CCLA 

 

 The CCLA investment is a long term holding.  The above table shows the 
performance of the fund as a whole and the longer term performance should be 
used as a guide to returns achievable in the medium term. 

 South invested £5 million into the fund and in the first six months of 2016/17, 
achieved a return of 4.7 per cent calculated as a ratio of income over the market 
value held as at 30 September 2016.  This is not the same basis upon which the 
performance of the fund above is calculated.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Investment returns achieved against benchmark

Benchmark 

Return Actual Return

Growth 

(Below)/above 

Benchmark Benchmarks

 
Bank & Building Society deposits - internally 

managed 0.38% 2.13% 1.75% 3 Month LIBID

Equities 10.61% 11.51% 0.90% FTSE All Shares Index

Corporate Bonds 0.25% 11.50% 11.25% BoE base rate

Annualised total return performance

Performance to 30 September 2016 1 year 3 years 5 years

The local authorities property fund 2.9% 12.5% 9.3%

Benchmark 4.3% 12.0% 8.3%

Page 139



Appendix A4 

A4 - 1 

 

Vale of White Horse District Council 

 

 All benchmarks managed by the treasury team were met in the first six 
months of the year.   

CCLA 

 

 The CCLA investment is a long term holding.  The above table shows 
the performance of the fund as a whole and the longer term 
performance should be used as a guide to returns achievable in the 
medium term. 

 Vale invested £2 million into the fund and in the first six months of 
2016/17, achieved a return of 4.7 per cent calculated as a ratio of 
income over the market value held as at 30 September 2016.  This is 
not the same basis upon which the performance of the fund above is 
calculated. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Investment returns achieved against benchmark

Benchmark 

return

Actual return Growth 

(below)/above 

benchmark

Benchmarks

 % % %

Internally managed - Bank & 

Building Society deposits

0.38% 1.25% 0.87% 3 month LIBID

Page 140



Appendix B1 

B1 - 1 

 

South Oxfordshire District Council 
 

 

 

Prudential indicators as at 30th September 2016

2016/17 Actual  as at

Original Estimate 30-Sep

Debt £m £m

Authorised limit for external debt
Borrow ing 5 0

Other long term liabilities 5 0

10 0

Operational boundary for external debt
Borrow ing 2 0

Other long term liabilities 3 0

5 0

Interest rate exposures

Maximum fixed rate borrowing 100% 0

Maximum variable rate borrowing 100% 0

Investments

Interest rate exposures

Limits on fixed interest rates 100 93

Limits on variable interest rates 30 12

Principal sums invested > 364 days

Upper limit for principal sums invested >364 days 70 28

Limit to be placed on investments to maturity:

1 - 2 years 70 7

2-5 years 50 12

5 years+ 50 9

Page 141



Appendix B2 

B2 - 1 

 
 
Vale of White Horse District Council 
 

 

 

 

Prudential indicators as at 30th September 2016

2016/17 Actual  as at

Original estimate 30-Sep

Debt £m £m

Authorised limit for external debt
Borrow ing 30 0

Other long term liabilities 5 0

35 0

Operational boundary for external debt
Borrow ing 25 0

Other long term liabilities 0 0

25 0

Interest rate exposures

Maximum fixed rate borrowing 100% 0

Maximum variable rate borrowing 100% 0

Investments

Interest rate exposures

Limits on fixed interest rates 40 34.5

Limits on variable interest rates 30 12.4

Principal sums invested > 364 days

Upper limit for principal sums invested >364 days 30 8

Limit to be placed on investments to maturity:

1 - 2 years 30 4

2-5 years 5 0

5 years+ 5 4

Page 142



Appendix C1 

C1 - 1 

Prudential indicators – explanatory note 

Debt 

There are two limits on external debt: the ‘Operational Boundary’ and the ‘Authorised 
Limit’.   Both are consistent with the current commitments, existing plans and the 
proposals in the budget report for capital expenditure and financing, and with 
approved treasury management policy statement and practices.  They are both based 
on estimates of most likely, but not worst case scenario.   

The key difference is that the Authorised Limit cannot be breached without prior 
approval of the Council.  It therefore includes more headroom to take account of 
eventualities such as delays in generating capital receipts, forward borrowing to take 
advantage of attractive interest rates, use of borrowing in place of operational leasing, 
“invest to save” projects, occasional short term borrowing to cover temporary revenue 
cash flow shortfalls as well as an assessment of risks involved in managing cash 
flows.   

The Operational Boundary is a more realistic indicator of the likely position. 

Interest rate exposures 

The maximum proportion of interest on borrowing which is subject to fixed/variable 
rate of interest. 

Investments 

Interest rate exposure 

The purpose of these indicators is to set ranges that will limit exposure to interest rate 
movement. The indicator required by the Treasury Management Code considers the 
net position of borrowing and investment and is based on principal sums outstanding. 

Principal sums invested 

This indicator sets a limit on the level of investments that can be made for more than 
364 days. 

 

Page 143



 1

Report to: 

Joint Audit and Governance 

Committee  

Cabinet 

 

Council  

Report of Head of Finance 

Author: Rhona Bellis 

Tel: 01235 422497 

E-mail: Rhona.bellis@southandvale.gov.uk 

Cabinet Member responsible: Jane Murphy 

Tel: 07970 932054 

E-mail: jane.murphy@southoxon.gov.uk  

To: Joint Audit & Governance Committee                             23 January 2017  
To: Cabinet                                                                            1 February 2017 
To: Council                                                                          16 February 2017 
 

AGENDA ITEM NO 

 

 

Treasury management strategy  

2017/18 to 2019/20 

Recommendations: 

The committee recommends to Cabinet and Council: 

1. To approve the treasury management strategy 2017/18 set out in appendix A to 
this report; 

2. To approve the prudential indicators and limits for 2017/18 to 2019/20 as set out in 
table 2, appendix A; 

3. To approve the annual investment strategy 2017/18 set out in appendix A 
(paragraphs 23 to 66) and the lending criteria detailed in table 5. 

That Cabinet: 

Considers any comments from committee and recommends Council to approve the 
report.  

 
 
 

Page 144



 2

Purpose of report 

1. This report presents the council’s Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) for 
2017/18 to 2019/20.  This sets out how the council’s treasury service will support 
capital investment decisions, and how the treasury management operates day to 
day.  It sets out the limitations on treasury management activity governed by the 
prudential indicators, within which the council’s treasury function must operate.  The 
strategy is included as appendix A to the report.  This report includes the three 
elements required by legislation as follows: 

 The prudential indicators required by the CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities; 

 
 The annual investment strategy.  This sets out the council’s criteria for 

selecting counterparties and limiting exposure to the risk of loss on its 
investments.  This strategy is in accordance with the DCLG investment 
guidance and forms part of the treasury management strategy (appendix 
A, paragraphs 23 – 66); 

 
 A statutory duty to approve a minimum revenue provision policy for 

2017/18 (paragraphs 58-62). 
 

It is a requirement of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 2011 that this report 
is approved by full Council on an annual basis. 

 

Strategic objectives 

2. Managing the finances of the authority in accordance with the treasury 
management strategy will help to ensure that resources are available to deliver its 
services and meet the council’s other strategic objectives. 

Background 

3. ‘Treasury management’ is the planning of the council’s cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks. 

4. The funding of the council’s capital expenditure is also a function of treasury 
management.  The capital programme provides a guide to the funding needs of the 
council and the long term cash flow plans to ensure that the council can meet its 
capital spending obligations. 

5. The treasury management and annual investment strategy set out the council’s 
policies for managing investments and confirms the council gives priority to the 
security and liquidity of those investments.  It also includes the prudential indicators 
for the next three years; these demonstrate that the council’s capital investment 
plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. 

6. The council’s treasury management strategy 2017/18 to 2019/20 is attached in 
appendix A.  Whilst every attempt has been made to minimise the technical content 
of this report, it is, by its very nature and the need for compliance with associated 
guidance, technical in parts.   A glossary of terms in annex 6 should aid members 
understanding of some technical terms used in the report. 

Page 145



 3

Recommended changes to the treasury management strategy 

7. Council approved the 2016/17 treasury management strategy on 18 February 2016.  
The proposed strategy for  2017/18 includes the changes detailed below, which 
cabinet is asked to recommend to council: 

 Table 2 Prudential Indicators 

 To raise the authorised limit for external debt to £30 million.   

 To raise the operational boundary for external debt to £25 million from £5 
million. 

 To change the limits on fixed interest rate investments to 100 per cent from 
£100 million 

 To raise the limits on variable interest rate investments to £50 million from 
£30 million 

 To remove the detailed limits on investments to maturity where they are split 
into bands of one to two years of £70 million, two to five years of £50 million 
and more than five years of £50 million, retaining the limit on principal sums 
invested for longer than 364 days to £70 million. 

Table 5 Counterparty Limits 

 To change the maximum maturity date on investments with institutions with a 
minimum rating F1+/A+ to 4 years from 3 years 

 To change the maximum maturity date on investments with institutions with a 
minimum rating F1+/AA- to 3 years from 4 years 

Annex 2 Liquidity 

 To simplify the performance measurement in terms of investment liquidity in 
Annex 2 paragraphs three and four to focus on maintaining minimum levels 
of working capital in short term vehicles 

8. The changes above are proposed to allow the council to fund future spending in the 
most financially advantageous way. 

9. The Section 151 officer is content that there is no current need to review practices 
following the TUPE transfer of staff to Capita in August 2016 whilst the service is 
provided on a “business as usual” basis.  However when there are changes to this 
provision then practices will be reviewed. 

Financial implications and risk assessment 

10. This report and all associated policies and strategies set out the parameters the 
council must work within.  It is important that the council follows the approved 
treasury management strategy which is designed to protect the council’s finances 
by managing its risk exposure. 

11. In the last few years investment income has fallen due to lower interest rates. In the 
medium term interest rates are expected to remain low.  According to latest 
forecasts from Capita Asset Services, the council’s treasury advisors, a rise in 

Page 146



 4

interest rates is not expected until June 2019 and any rises in rates are expected to 
be slow and gradual given the continued uncertainty in the economy.   

12. The table below gives an estimate of the investment income achievable for the next 
five years. 
 

 

 
 The 2017/18 budget setting report and medium term financial plan will take into 

account the latest projections of anticipated investment income. 
 
Legal implications 

13. There are no significant legal implications as a result of the recommendations in 
this report.  Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management 
in the Public Services and the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance 
provides assurance that the council’s investments are, and will continue to be, 
within its legal powers.  

14. The council must approve any amendment to the treasury management strategy 
and annual investment strategy in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 
(the Act), the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public 
Services and the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance under Section 15(1) 
(a) Local Government Act 2003 and CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance. 

Conclusion 

15. This report provides details of the treasury management strategy and the annual 
investment strategy for 2017/18 which are appended to this report, together with the 
prudential indicators for approval to council.  These documents provide the 
parameters within which officers will operate the council’s treasury management 
function. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Table 1: Medium term investment income forecast     

  2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Forecast as at January 
2017 2,201 2,153 2,308 2,504 2,606 

            

Page 147



 5

 

Background papers 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes (revised 2011) 

 CLG Local Government Investment Guidance under Section 15(1)(a) Local 
Government Act 2003 and CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance. 

 Treasury Management Investment Strategy 2016/17 (cabinet 4 February 2016, 
council 18 February 2016) 

 
Appendices  

Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 2017/18 – 2019/20 – incorporating the 
following: 

 
Annex 1 Economic conditions and prospects for interest rates 
Annex 2 Risk and performance benchmarking 
Annex 3 Property investment policy 
Annex 4 Explanation of prudential indicators 
Annex 5 TMP1 
Annex 6 Glossary of terms 

Page 148



Appendix A 

 6

Treasury Management Strategy 2017/18 to 2019/20 

 

Introduction 

1. The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations require the council to 
‘have regard to’ the CIPFA Prudential Code and to set Prudential Indicators for the 
next three years to ensure that the council’s capital investment plans are affordable, 
prudent and sustainable. 

2. The Act requires the council to set out its treasury strategy for borrowing and to 
prepare an Annual Investment Strategy (as required by Investment Guidance issued 
subsequent to the Act).  This sets out the council’s policies for managing its 
investments and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments. 

3. The strategy in respect of the following aspects of the treasury management function 
is based on treasury officers’ views on interest rates, supplemented with market 
forecasts provided by the council’s treasury advisor, Capita Asset Services.  The 
strategy covers: 

 Prudential and treasury indicators in force that will limit the treasury risk and 
activities of the council; 

 Current treasury position 

 Borrowing strategy 

 Policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 Investment strategy; 

 Counterparty selection and limits; 

 Policy on use of external service providers; 

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement; 

 Treasury management scheme of delegation and Section 151 role. 

4. It is a statutory requirement under Section 32 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, for the council to produce a balanced budget.  In particular, Section 32 
requires a local authority to calculate its budget requirement for each year to include 
the revenue costs that flow from capital financing decisions.  This means that 
increases in capital expenditure must be limited to a level where any increases in 
charges to revenue from: 

 Increases in interest charges caused by increased borrowing to finance 
additional capital expenditure, and 

 Any increases in running costs from new capital projects are identified and 
limited to a level which is affordable. 

A key requirement of this report is to explain the risks, and the management of those 
risks, associated with providing the treasury service.  Legislation requires that as a 
minimum two further treasury reports are provided: a mid-year monitoring report and an 
outturn report after the year-end that reports on actual activity for the year. 

 

 

 

 

Page 149



Appendix A 

 7

Treasury Limits for 2017/18 to 2019/20 

5. It is a statutory duty, under Section 3 of the Act and supporting regulations for the 
council to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to borrow.  The 
amount so determined is called the “Affordable Borrowing Limit”. The Authorised 
Limit is the legislative limit specified in the Act. 

6. The council must have regard to the Prudential Code when setting the Authorised 
Limit, which essentially requires it to ensure that total capital expenditure remains 
within sustainable limits and in particular, that the impact upon its future council tax is 
‘acceptable’. 

7. The Authorised Limit is set on a rolling basis, for the forthcoming financial year and 
two successive financial years. 

8. The following indicators set the parameters within which we manage the overall 
capital investment and treasury management functions.  There are specific treasury 
activity limits, which aim to contain the activity of the treasury function in order to 
manage risk and reduce the impact of an adverse movement in interest rates.  
However if these are set to be too restrictive they will impair the opportunities to 
reduce costs/improve performance.  The limits are set out in table 2 below. 

 
Cabinet is asked to recommend council to approve the limits: 

                                            
1 These limits have been removed for years after 2016/17 

Table 2: Prudential Indicators   2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

    £m £m £m £m 

   
   

  

Debt  

   
  

Authorised limit for external debt       

Borrowing  5 30 30 30 

Other long term liabilities  5 0 0 0 

   10 20 30 30 

Operational boundary for external debt       

Borrowing  2 25 25 25 

Other long term liabilities  3 0 0 0 

   5 25 25 25 

Interest rate exposures       

Maximum fixed rate borrowing  100% 100% 100% 100% 

Maximum variable rate borrowing  100% 100% 100% 100% 
        

Investments  £m £m £m £m 

Interest rate exposures       

Limits on fixed interest rates  100 100% 100% 100% 

Limits on variable interest rates  30 50 50 50 
        

Principal sums invested > 364 days       

Upper limit for principal sums invested > 364 days 70 70 70 70 

Limit to be placed on investments to maturity:1       
1-2 years  70     

2-5 years  50     

5 years+   50       

Page 150



Appendix A 

 8

Current position 

9. The maturity structure of the council’s investments at 31 December 2016 was as 
follows: 

 

Note: £126 million does not represent uncommitted resource the council has at its disposal.  This 
amount includes council tax receipts held prior to forwarding to Oxfordshire County Council and the 
Police and Crime Commissioner for the Thames Valley, business rate receipts prior to payment to the 
government and committed capital and revenue balances.  Details of the council’s uncommitted 
balances are provided in the annual budget and council tax setting report. 

The figure for total investments shown above excludes the £15 million 20-year loan to SOHA 
made in 2013/14 and the balance outstanding with Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander (KSF). 

 
10. The council currently holds 86 per cent of its investments in the form of cash 

deposits, 75 per cent is invested for fixed terms with a fixed investment return and 11 
per cent is currently held on call accounts, with the remainder held in non-cash 
deposits.  Typically the council restricts lending activity to UK institutions and the 
highest rated counterparties. 

11. The council’s considerations for investment will remain security, liquidity and yield – 
in that order.  Within this framework a potential optimum portfolio distribution of cash 
investments could be considered as follows: 

Table 3: Maturity structure of investments

Classification 

of investment 

at deal date

% holding Classification 

as at 31/12/16

% holding

£'000 £'000

Call 7,204 6% 7,204 6%

Money market funds 6,800 5% 6,800 5%

Less than 6 months 5,000 4% 46,000 36%

6 months to 1 year 61,500 49% 29,500 23%

1 - 2 years 7,000 6% 2,000 2%

2 - 3 years 5,000 4% 5,000 4%

3 - 7 years 16,000 13% 12,000 10%

Corporate bonds (par value) 270 0% 270 0%

CCLA - property fund 5,000 4% 5,000 4%

Equities 12,319 10% 12,319 10%

126,093 100% 126,093 100%

Page 151



Appendix A 

 9

  

Note: This represents officer interpretation of a diversified portfolio and from time to time actual 
holdings will vary from this significantly.  Should interest rates increase then consideration would be 
given to increasing the proportion held for the long term. 

Icelandic banks – Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander 

12. The council has now received £2,216,848 in respect of the claim for £2.6 million 
(£2.5 million investment plus interest) from the investment made with the failed 
Icelandic bank Kaupthing Singer & Friedlander (KSF).   

 
13. The administrators intend to make further payments at regular intervals.  The 

estimated total amount to be recovered is forecast to be in the range of 86p to 86.5p 
in the pound.  This equates to between £2,262,517 and £2,275,671 

 
Investment performance for the year to 31 December 2016. 

14. The council’s budgeted investment return for 2016/17 is £2.2 million, and the actual 
interest earned to date is shown as follows: 

 

 
             
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Optimum portfolio distribution

50%

30%

7%
7%
6%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100% Certificates of deposit and
pooled bond funds

Enhanced cash funds

Call accounts and money
market funds

Long-term (+365 day) fixed
term cash deposits

Short-term fixed term cash
deposits

Table 4: Investment interest earned to date and outturn estimate

Annual Actual Annual Forecast

Investment type Budget to date Forecast Variation

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2015/17

£000's £000's £000's £000's

Position at end December 2016 2,196 1,814 2,290 94              

Total interest 2,196 1,814 2,290 94

Interest Earned

Page 152



Appendix A 

 10

 

Borrowing Strategy 2017/18 – 2019/20 

15. The annual treasury management strategy has to set out details of the council’s 
borrowing requirement, any maturing debt which will need to be re-financed, and the 
effect this will have on the treasury position over the next three years.  This council 
has no external debt and and external borrowing may only prove necessary to fund 
the future capital programme.   

 
16. The council will continue to take a prudent approach to its debt strategy.  In general, 

the council will borrow for one of two purposes: 
 

 to support cash flow in the short-term;  
 to fund capital investment over the medium to long term. 

 
Any borrowing undertaken will be within the scope of the boundaries given in the 
prudential indicators shown in table 2. 

 
17. The prudential indicators provide the scope and flexibility for the council to borrow up 

to a maximum of £30 million, if such a need arose.  This also allows short-term 
borrowing for the cash flow management activities of the authority, for the 
achievement of service objectives. 

 
18. The existing capital programme can be financed from internal resources.  Additional 

expenditure committed in the future can be financed from internal resources (either 
by use of reserves or internal borrowing) or externally (through prudential borrowing).  
Any decision on borrowing will be taken by the Head of Finance based on the 
optimum cost to the council. 

 
19. Currently the council is debt free.  There is no financial advantage to the council of 

maintaining a debt free status, other than it avoids the revenue cost of servicing any 
borrowing it assumes.  Any borrowing undertaken will be within the framework of the 
prudential indicators included in this report. 

 
20. The latest projection from the council’s treasury advisors, Capita Asset Services, is 

for the Bank of England base rate to remain unchanged at 0.25 per cent until the 
June 2019.   

 
21. The treasury management strategy for the forthcoming year aims to efficiently 

manage the investment portfolio by reducing the amount of funds held extremely 
short-term for cash flow purposes and operating with an adequate but not excessive 
level of working capital.  This optimum level is dictated by the accuracy of cash flow 
forecasts and, although unlikely, it is prudent to set a minimum level for the use of 
short-term borrowing arrangements or overdraft facilities if the cash flow forecasts 
prove inaccurate at any point in the year. 

 
22. This strategy allows the head of finance to take the most appropriate form of 

borrowing depending on the prevailing interest rates at the time, taking into account 
the risks shown in the forecast above.  

 
23. Any borrowing for capital financing purposes will be assessed by the head of finance 

to be prudent, sustainable and affordable. 
 

Page 153



Appendix A 

 11

24. This strategy allows the head of finance to determine the most suitable repayment 
terms of any borrowing to demonstrate affordability and sustainability in the medium 
term financial plan.  As a general rule, the term of any borrowing will not be longer 
than the expected life of the capital asset being created. 

 
Policy on borrowing in advance of need 

 
25. The council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs, purely in order to 

profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed.  Any decision to borrow in 
advance will be within approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will 
be considered carefully to ensure value for money can be demonstrated and that the 
council can ensure the security of such funds.  In determining if any borrowing will be 
undertaken in advance of need, the council will: 

 
 Consider the impact of borrowing in advance on investment cash balances and 

the exposure to counterparty risk.  Any risk associated with any borrowing in 
advance of activity will be subject to prior appraisal and subsequent reporting 
through the mid-year or annual reporting process. 

 
 Consider the optimum point to borrow in advance of need to obtain the most 

beneficial rates on any loan raised to minimise the cost of borrowing over the 
duration of the loan. 

 
Annual investment strategy  

26. The primary aim of the council’s investment strategy is to maintain the security and 
liquidity of its investments, yield or return on the investment will be a secondary 
consideration, subject to prudent security and liquidity.  The council will ensure: 

 
 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments to cover cash flow.  For this purpose it 

has set out parameters for determining the maximum periods for which funds 
may prudently be committed.   

 
 It maintains a policy covering the categories of investment types it will invest in, 

criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate security, and 
monitoring their security. 

 
27. The strategy aims to provide a high degree of flexibility to take appropriate lending 

decisions, with a view to producing a portfolio with an even spread of maturity 
periods as and when institutional security and market confidence returns.  This aim is 
to provide a more even and predictable investment return in the medium term.  

 
28. The council’s head of finance will ensure a counterparty list (a list of named 

institutions) is maintained in compliance with the recommended credit rating criteria 
(table 5) and will revise the criteria and submit any changes to the credit rating 
criteria to council for approval as necessary.  

 
Investment types 

 
29. The types of investment that the council can use are summarised below. These are 

split under the headings of specified and non-specified in accordance with the 
statutory guidance.   

 

Page 154



Appendix A 

 12

Specified investment instruments (maximum period 1 year) 
 

30. These are sterling investments of not more than one year maturity, or those where 
the council has the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes.  These would 
include sterling investments with: 

 
 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF) 
 UK government – treasury stock (Gilts) with less than one year to maturity 
 Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration 
 Deposits with UK local authorities  
 Pooled investment vehicles such as Money Market Funds (MMF) (AAA rated) 
 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A- rated) 
 Certificates of deposits issued by banks and building societies (minimum rating as 

above) 
 

Non-specified investment instruments   
 
31. These are any other type of investment (i.e. investments not defined as specified, 

above).  Non-specified investments would include any sterling investments with: 
 

 Supranational bonds of 1 to 10 years maturity 
 UK treasury stock (Gilts) with a maturity of 1 to 10 years 
 Unrated building societies (minimum asset value £1 billion) 
 Bank and building society cash deposits up to 5 years (minimum F1/A-)  
 Deposits with UK local authorities up to 25 years  
 Corporate bonds  
 Pooled property, pooled bond funds and UK pooled equity funds  
 Direct property investment 

 
Other non-specified investment instruments 

 
32. Other non-specified investment instruments include:  

 
 Fixed term deposits with variable rate and variable maturities  
 Investment  in Housing Associations 
 

Approach to investing 
 

33. The council currently holds approximately £106 million core cash balances which are 
available to invest for more than one year.  This is expected to reduce over the 
medium term as the approved capital expenditure is incurred and not replaced by 
capital receipts.  In addition the council has funds which are available on a temporary 
basis to invest. These are held pending payment over to another body such as 
precept payments and council tax.  The amount can vary between £5 million and £15 
million throughout the year and should only be invested short term (under one year).  
Investments will be made with reference to known cash flow requirements (liquidity).   

 
34.  Whilst the current market uncertainties remain the council will aim to keep 

investments relatively short term, but will continue to look for opportunities to fix 
lending in the medium term with highly rated institutions when possible for core cash 
balances.  The aim is to increase the weighted average maturity of the portfolio in 
order to reduce maturity risk. 

 

Page 155



Appendix A 

 13

35. Officers will continue to implement an operational strategy which provides tight 
controls on the investments placed.  Where possible, opportunities to spread the 
investment risk over different types of instruments will be considered. 

 
36. Should market conditions deteriorate suddenly to the extent that the council is unable 

to place money with institutions with the necessary credit rating, it will make use of 
the UK Government deposit account (DMADF).  

 
37. The council has the authority to lend to other local authorities at market rates.  

Current investments include £7 million with Kingston Upon Hull City Council and £5 
million placed with Bury Metropolitan Borough Council.  Whilst investments with other 
local authorities are considered to be supported by central government, officers will 
consider the financial viability and sustainability of the individual local authority before 
any funds are advanced.  

 
38. The property investment holdings will be kept under review to identify if further 

investments should be placed in these categories.  Property funds will also be looked 
at in more detail for consideration.  In 2013/14 the council invested £5 million in the 
Churches Charities and Local Authorities pooled property investment fund (CCLA).  
Further details on the property investment policy are contained in annex 3. 

 
39. Money market funds are mainly used for liquidity; they also provide security and 

spread portfolio risk.  Officers will always monitor the council’s exposure to these 
funds in order to manage our security risk. 

 
40. Currently the council does not make use of an external fund manager.  Whilst there 

are presently no plans for this situation to change, this will continue to be kept under 
review. 

  
41. Bond funds can be used to diversify the portfolio, whilst maintaining an element of 

liquidity and security. These will be considered and reviewed as an investment 
possibility to spread portfolio risk. 

 
42. One option to offer diversification in the council’s investment portfolio would be to 

make use of enhanced cash funds.  Possible use of such funds would be intended 
for longer term investments than with traditional money market funds (i.e. for possible 
investment durations of 3 – 6 months).  Investments placed with enhanced cash 
funds are callable and so offer the option to be withdrawn before maturity, although 
this is likely to have an adverse impact on the return on the investment. 

 
43. Unlike money market funds, enhanced cash funds have a variable net asset value 

(VNAV).  This means the assets are ‘marked to market’ (re-valued to current market 
value) on a daily basis and the fund unit price adjusted accordingly.  Under this 
calculation basis the unit price fluctuates and could, therefore, be higher or lower 
than the original investment when it is redeemed.  Any use of enhanced cash funds 
would be restricted to the high quality counterparty credit criteria as set out in Table 5 
below. 

 
44. The council does not currently make use of certificates of deposit.  Consideration will 

be given to their use to assist diversification of the investment portfolio.  Certificates 
of deposit have the same level of ranking and security as ordinary fixed term 
deposits but have the option of being traded before maturity.  Certificates of deposit 
are bought and sold on the stock market and their price can go up or down prior to 

Page 156



Appendix A 

 14

their redemption date.  If held to maturity the investment will return their issue value.  
The council would only normally look to enter into such investments on a held to 
maturity basis. 

 
Counterparty selection 

 
45. Treasury management risk is the risk of loss of capital to the council.  To minimise 

this risk, the council uses credit rating information when considering who to lend to.  
Capita Asset Services provides the council with credit rating updates from all three 
ratings agencies – Standard & Poor’s, Fitch and Moodys. 

 
46. The council will not use the approach suggested by CIPFA of using the lowest rating 

from all three rating agencies to determine the creditworthy counterparties.  This is 
because adopting this approach could leave the council with too few counterparties 
for the strategy to be workable.  Instead, counterparty investment limits will be set by 
reference to all of the assigned ratings. 

 
47. Credit rating information is supplied by Capita Asset Services, our treasury 

consultants.  Any counterparty failing to meet the minimum required criteria (Table 5 
below) would be omitted from the counterparty list.  Any rating changes and rating 
watches (notification of a rating change) are provided to officers almost immediately 
after they occur and this information is considered before any deal is entered into.  
Extreme market movements may result in a downgrade of an institution or removal 
from the council’s lending list. 

 
48. Additional requirements under the CIPFA Treasury Management Code requires the 

council to supplement the credit rating data with operational market information such 
as credit default swaps (CDS), negative watches and outlooks, which are considered 
when assessing the security of counterparties.  This additional information is used so 
that the council does not rely solely on the current credit ratings of counterparties. 

 
49. Where it is felt the council would benefit from utilising government guarantees 

provided by countries with an AAA rating, the council may lend to institutions covered 
by such guarantees.  Any decision to lend in this way will be subject to consultation 
with and the agreement of the cabinet member responsible for finance.  

 
Country and sector considerations 

 
50. The council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties outside the 

UK from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AAA from Fitch Ratings. 
 

Counterparty limits 
 

51. In the normal course of the council’s cash flow operations it is expected that both 
specified and non-specified investments will be used for the control of liquidity as 
both categories allow for short term investments.  The use of longer term instruments 
(greater than one year from inception to repayment) will fall in the non-specified 
investment category.  These instruments will be used where the council’s liquidity 
requirements are safeguarded.  The council will lend to institutions that meet the 
following criteria: 

 
 
 

Page 157



Appendix A 

 15

Table 5: Counterparty limits 
  Minimum 

Fitch Rating 
(or 

equivalent) 

Counterparty Max. 
maturity 
period 

Maximum % 
of total 

investments 
  

Limit 

Counterparty 
£m     

Routinely used counterparties 

        

Bank - part nationalised UK UK Sovereign £20m 4 years 100% 

Building societies - assets > £1,000m n/a £10m 1 year 20% 

Building societies - assets > £3,000m n/a £12m 1 year 20% 

Building societies - assets > £5,000m n/a £15m 1 year 20% 

Corporate bonds F1+/A+ £5m variable 10% 

Institutions with a minimum rating F1+/AA- £15m 3 years 25% 

Institutions with a minimum rating F1/A £15m 2 years 30% 

Local Authorities / parish councils n/a £15m 25 years 50% 

Money Market Fund (CNAV) AAA £20m liquid 100% 

Pooled property fund  n/a £10m variable 15% 

UK equities n/a £10m variable 20% 

Other counterparties      

Enhanced cash funds (VNAV) AAA £20m variable 50% 

Housing associations F1+/A+ £15m variable 15% 

Institutions with a minimum rating F1+/A+ £15m 4 years 25% 

Institutions with a minimum rating F1/A- £15m 1 year 50% 

Managed bond fund F1/A- £15m 1 year 40% 

Pooled bond fund F1+/A+ £5m variable 10% 

Property related investments n/a £30m variable 80% 

Supranationals AAA £10m 10 years 40% 

UK government - gilts UK Sovereign £15m 15 years 10% 

UK government - treasury bills UK Sovereign £15m 15 years 10% 

UK Govt & DMADF UK Sovereign Unlimited n/a 100% 

 
52. The criteria for choosing counterparties provides a sound approach to investment.  

Whilst councillors are asked to approve the criteria in table 5, under exceptional 
market conditions the head of finance may temporarily restrict further investment 
activity to those counterparties considered of higher credit quality than the minimum 
criteria set out for approval.   

Fund managers 

53. The council does not currently employ any external fund managers.  However in the 
event of such an appointment, appointees will comply with this and subsequent 
treasury strategies.  This strategy empowers the Section 151 officer to appoint such 
an external manager to manage a proportion of the council’s investment portfolio if 
this is advantageous.  Situations in which this might be advantageous include 
benchmarking the performance of the internal treasury team;  benefiting from the 
often extensive credit risk and economic modelling resources of external fund 
managers and resources necessary to hold liquid instruments for trading.  

 
 
 
 

Page 158



Appendix A 

 16

Risk and performance benchmarks 
 

54. A requirement of the Code is that security and liquidity benchmarks are considered 
and approved. This is in addition to yield benchmarks which are used to assess 
performance.  The benchmarks are guidelines (not limits) so may be breached 
depending on the movement in interest rates and counterparty criteria.  Their 
purpose is to allow officers to monitor the current trend position and amend the 
operational strategy depending on any changes.  Any breach of the benchmarks will 
be reported, with an explanation in the mid-year or annual report to audit and 
corporate governance committee.  Detailed information for the assessment of risk is 
shown in annex 2.  

 
55. Performance indicators are set to assess the adequacy of the treasury function over 

the year.  These are distinct historic performance indicators, as opposed to the 
predominantly forward looking prudential indicators.  The indicators used to assess 
the performance of the treasury function are: 

 
Table 6: investment benchmarks

 

Investment category Benchmark

 

Bank & building society 

deposits - non-managed

3 Month LIBID

Equities FTSE all shares index

Property related investments IPD balanced Property Unit Trust Index

Corporate bonds BoE base rate

 
 

Performance against these indicators will be reported in both the annual mid-year and 
year-end treasury reports. 

 
Policy on the use of treasury management advisers   

56. The council has a joint contract for treasury management advisors with Vale of White 
Horse District Council.  Capita Asset Services, a subsidiary of the Capita Group Plc 
provides a range of services, which include: 

 
 technical support on treasury matters, capital finance issues, statutory reports; 

 economic forecasts and interest rate analysis; 

 credit ratings/market information service involving the three main credit rating 
agencies; 

 strategic advice including a review of the investment and borrowing strategies and 
policy documents. 

57. The council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions 
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not 
placed upon our external service providers.  It also recognises that there is value in 
employing external providers of treasury management services in order to acquire 
access to specialist skills, resources and up to date market information. 

 

Page 159



Appendix A 

 17

Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 2017/18 

 
58. MRP is the amount out of revenues set aside each year as a provision for debt i.e. 

the provision in respect of capital expenditure financed by borrowing.   
 

59. The council is required by regulation to approve an annual MRP policy before the 
start of the year to which it relates.  Any in-year changes must also be submitted to 
the council for approval. 

 
60. Currently, the council’s MRP liability is nil.  This will remain the case unless new 

capital expenditure is financed by external borrowing. 
 

61. The council has no outstanding capital liability and therefore the MRP for 2017/18 is 
nil.  This will remain the case unless new capital expenditure is financed by 
borrowing. 

 
62. The council’s current capital programme can be financed from internal resources.  

However, new capital growth ideas may require external borrowing.  If borrowing is 
undertaken then the council will be required by statute to set aside funds in the 
annual revenue budget to amortise the principal element of any borrowing – this is 
the MRP.  There will also be a requirement to set aside revenue budget for the 
interest payments on any borrowing raised.  Loans will generally be taken over the 
life of the assets being financed and amortised accordingly.  The Head of Finance 
will determine the most appropriate repayment method, term of borrowing and 
duration of borrowing.  As a general illustration, Table 7 below gives an example of 
the annual revenue costs associated with borrowing an amount of £2.5 million over a 
50 year period, based on the current district tax base of 55,557 Band D equivalents: 

 

 
 

Councillor and officer training 

63. The requirement for increased councillor consideration of treasury management 
matters and the need to ensure officers dealing with treasury management are 
trained and kept up to date requires a suitable training process for councillors and 
officers.  In compliance with the revised CIPFA Code, the council has provided 
treasury management training to councillors in January 2017.  Further training can be 
provided if required or requested. 

 

 

 

 

Table 7: Example MRP and interest calculation

Loan amount £2,500,000
Loan duration 50 years

PWLB interest rate 2.87 per cent

2017/18 Taxbase 55,557

£ £ per band D

MRP element 50,000 0.90

Annual interest cost 71,750 1.29
Total 121,750 2.19

Page 160



Appendix A 

 18

Treasury management scheme of delegation and the role of the section 151 officer 

64. The treasury management scheme of delegation and the role of the Section 151 
officer is as follows: 

 
 

I. Council 
 Receiving and approval of reports on treasury management policies, practices 

and activities; 
 Approval of annual strategy. 
 

II. Joint audit and governance Committee / Cabinet 
 Approval of amendments to the organisations adopted clauses, treasury 

management policy statements and treasury management practices; 
 Receiving and reviewing monitoring reports and acting on recommendations; 
 Ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management function. 
 

III. Section 151 Officer / Head of Finance 
 Recommending clauses, treasury management policies/practices for approval, 

review and monitoring compliance; 
 Submitting regular treasury management information reports; 
 Submitting budgets and budget variations; 
 Reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 
 Ensuring adequacy of treasury management resources and skills and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 
 Ensuring the adequacy of internal audit and liaising with external audit; 
 Approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 

appointment. 
 

Summary 
 

65. Prior to the beginning of each financial year the council must approve the treasury 
management strategy.  The strategy sets the parameters within which officers can 
manage the council’s cash flows and invest any surplus funds. 

 
66. This strategy provides a commentary on the current financial climate and sets out the 

council’s lending strategy in response to this. 
 

Page 161



Annex 1 

19 
 

Economic conditions and interest rate 

forecasts 

1. In order to put the investment strategy into context it is necessary to consider the 
strength of the UK economy, external factors in the financial markets and their impact 
on interest rate forecasts. 

 
UK economy 
 

2. Since the second quarter of 2013 the UK has reported rising levels of GDP.  However, 
following the result of the EU referendum, growth has become volatile.  Indicators 
suggest we will still see growth thanks to low unemployment and household spending, 
but the rate of growth will be slower than previously forecast. 

 
3. Levels of unemployment currently stand at 4.9 per cent, lower than the initial threshold 

of seven per cent previously flagged by the MPC as the point before which it would not 
consider any increase in bank rate.  The MPC broadened its forward guidance by 
looking at a much wider range of economic indicators in order to form a view on spare 
capacity in the domestic economy.   

 
4. Consumer Price Inflation currently stands at 0.6 per cent.  Forward indications are that 

rates of inflation will rise due to the weakness in sterling and the impact this is having 
on import prices. 

 
5. The latest projection from Capita Asset Services is for a first increase in interest rates 

to occur around June 2019. 
 
Eurozone economy 
 

6. Growth has slowed in the Eurozone.  Consumer confidence is falling, especially in 
Germany, which is pulling growth lower.  The Euro has strengthened since the Brexit 
vote in June and if it remains strong, it will result in inflation in the bloc falling sharply in 
the coming months.   
 
Capita Asset Services forward view 

7. Economic forecasting continues to be difficult given the number of external influences 
affecting the UK.  Key areas of risk include: 

 Economic uncertainty caused by the ongoing unrest in Eastern Europe, the 
Middle East and Asia; 

 UK economic growth is weaker than we currently anticipate; 

 Weak economic growth or recession in the European Union, the UK’s main 
trading partners; 

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis; 

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks;  

Page 162



Annex 1 

20 
 

 Monetary policy action failing to stimulate sustainable growth and combat the 
threat of deflation in western economies, especially the Eurozone and Japan. 

8. The view of Capita Asset Services is that the overall balance of risks to economic 
recovery in the UK is currently evenly weighted.  However, uncertainty remains over 
how long the period of strong economic growth will last and the UK economy remains 
exposed to vulnerabilities in a number of key areas.  

Prospects for interest rates 

9. The bank base rate is forecast to remain unchanged at 0.25 per cent, rising in Q2 in 
2019.  Capita Asset Service’s central view for bank rate forecasts is shown below: 

 

Following the results of the EU referendum, we have been in a period of uncertainty.  
The MPC has made clear that interest rates will change in either direction in the 
coming months if the economic outlook changes considerably.

Dec-16 Mar-17 Jun-17 Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19

Bank of England base rate 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.50

PWLB rates

5 year borrowing 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.90

10 year borrowing 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50

25 year borrowing 3.00 2.90 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20

50 year borrowing 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.80 2.90 2.80 2.90 3.00

Page 163



Annex 2 

21 
 

Benchmarking and Monitoring Security, 

Liquidity and Yield in the Investment 

Service.   

1. These benchmarks are targets and so could be exceeded from time to time.  Any 
variation will be reported, along with supporting reasons, in the Annual Treasury 
Report. 

2. Yield.  Benchmarks are used to assess the performance of investments. The local 
measures of yield are as shown in Appendix A to this report. 

  
3. Liquidity.  Liquidity is defined as the council “having adequate, though not excessive, 

cash resources, borrowing arrangements, overdrafts or standby facilities to enable it at 
all times to have the level of funds available to it which are necessary for the 
achievement of its business/service objectives” (CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice).   

 
4. In respect of this area the, the council shall seek to:  

 maintain a minimal balance held in the council’s main bank account at the 
close of each working day.  Transfers to the councils call accounts, MMF and 
investments will be arranged in order to achieve this, while maintaining 
access to adequate working capital at short notice. 

 use the authorised bank overdraft facility or short term borrowing where there 
is clear business case for doing so, to cover working capital requirements at 
short notice  

5. Security of the investments.  In the context of benchmarking, assessing security is 
very much more a subjective area to assess.  Security is currently evidenced by the 
application of minimum credit quality criteria to investment counterparties, primarily 
through the use of credit ratings supplied by the three main credit rating agencies 
(Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s).  Whilst this approach embodies security 
considerations, benchmarking levels of risk is more problematic.  One method to 
benchmark security risk is to assess the historic level of default against the minimum 
criteria used in the Council’s investment strategy.  The table beneath shows average 
defaults for differing periods of investment grade products for each Fitch long term 
rating category over the last 20-30 years. 

 

Average defaults for differing periods of investment 

Long 
term rating 

1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years 

AAA 0.00% 0.02% 0.06% 0.09% 0.13% 
AA 0.02% 0.04% 0.14% 0.27% 0.38% 
A 0.09% 0.24% 0.43% 0.61% 0.86% 
BBB 0.20% 0.59% 1.02% 1.52% 2.00% 

 

 

Page 164



Annex 2 

22 
 

6. The council’s minimum long term rating criteria is currently “A-” meaning the average 
expectation of default for a two year investment in a counterparty with an “A” long term 
rating would be 0.24 per cent of the total investment (e.g. for a £1 million investment 
the average loss would be £2,400).  This is only an average - any specific 
counterparty loss could potentially be higher or lower. These figures act as a proxy 
benchmark for risk across the portfolio. 

 

 

Page 165



Annex 3   

23 
 

Property Investment Policy 

 
1. The case for property 
 
1.1 The council is restricted in the different investment vehicles it is legally allowed to invest 

in notwithstanding the over-riding need for prudence.  Of the few options open, one is 
property and the returns from investing in property have generally been, and currently 
are, greater than the limited opportunities in the money markets.  

 
1.2 In broad terms the returns can be higher because the risks are greater.  Factors to be 

taken into account when deciding the principle of investing in property include: 
 

 investment will be for the long term since it may not be possible, or wise, to sell 
quickly, 

 the costs of acquisition and disposal are higher, 

 there are management costs, risk of rent default and failure to honour maintenance 
agreements,  

 different types of property and different areas carry different risks,  

 generally property tends to appreciate in value, although this will vary by type and 
area; however, in some cases the value may go down, 

 property can become functionally obsolete necessitating major refurbishment, 

 without regular repair and maintenance the condition will deteriorate and the 
responsibility for repairs/maintenance may not always rest with the tenant, 

 certain types of property may become less desirable as time goes by; this can make 
re-letting difficult or attract a lower calibre of tenant. 

 
2. How much to invest? 
 
2.1 £8.9 million is currently held in property and £117 million is invested in treasury 

investments.  The investment in property represents eight per cent of the overall total. 
 
2.2 The maximum percentage of the investment portfolio in property should be no more 

than 80 per cent of the total amount invested, and the cash funds invested (i.e. not held 
for cash-flow purposes) should not fall below £10 million. 

 
  

Page 166



Annex 3   

24 
 

3. What type of property? 
 
3.1 There are different types of property investment with assessment of prospects as 

follows: 
 

i) shops and offices good - although may be subject to changing fashions 
and working practices 

ii) industrial good but condition can be variable 
iii) leisure good but may be best avoided since too close to our 

“core” business 
iv) agricultural moderate but too risky now  
v) woodland poor – some is owned for environmental/leisure 

purposes 
 

3.2 Average Yield Levels (%).  In general, property can be categorised as prime, 
secondary or tertiary in terms of its desirability.  ‘Rack-rented’ means that the maximum 
market rental achievable is being received.  Yield derives from both capital appreciation 
and rent.  Lower yields can indicate that the investment attracts a lower degree of risk 
due to the ratio of rent to capital and other factors such as location, security and 
regularity of income.  

 
3.3 In general, properties for investment will be retail, offices, and industrial land and 

buildings. 
 

4. Where should it be located?  
 
4.1 Direct property investments will be located in the UK and will be acquired subject to 

appropriate legal powers and business case.  
 
5. What level of financial return? 
 
5.1 As mentioned above, generally the greater the return, the greater the risk inherent in the 

investment.  There are so many variables involving area, management, condition, 
leases, maintenance and the varying return on other investments that it is difficult to 
draw up hard and fast rules about them and their relationship with the rate of return.   

 
5.2 With regard to the rate of return, each proposal will be considered on its merits. 

 
6. Review 
 
6.1     The policy is to be reviewed annually (along with the Treasury Management Strategy). 

Page 167



Annex 4   

25 
 

 
Explanation of Prudential Indicators 

Central government control of borrowing was ended and replaced with Prudential 
borrowing by the Local Government Act 2003.  Prudential borrowing permitted local 
government organisations to borrow to fund capital spending plans provided they could 
demonstrate their affordability.  Prudential indicators are the means to demonstrate 
affordability. 
 
 
Authorised limit for external debt – this is the maximum limit for external borrowing.  
This is the statutory limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 
2003.  This limit is set to allow sufficient headroom for day to day operational management 
of cash flows. 
 
Operational boundary for external debt – this is set as the more likely amount that may 
be required for day to day cash flow.   
 
Upper limit for fixed and variable interest rate exposure – these limits allow the council 
flexibility in its investment and borrowing options. 
 
Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 364 days – the amount it is 
considered can be prudently invested for periods in excess of a year. 
 
 

Page 168



Annex 5 

26 
 

Treasury Management Practice (TMP) 1 – credit and counterparty risk management 
 
The CLG issued Investment Guidance in 2010, and this forms the structure of the 
council’s policy below.   
 
The key aim of the guidance is to maintain the current requirement for councils to invest 
prudently, and that priority is given to security and liquidity before yield.  In order to 
facilitate this objective the guidance requires this council to have regard to the CIPFA 
publication Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-
Sectoral Guidance Notes.  In accordance with the code, the head of finance has produced 
its treasury management practices (TMPs).  This part, TMP1(1), covering investment 
counterparty policy requires approval each year. 
 
The key requirements of both the Code and the guidance are to set an annual investment 
strategy, as part of its annual treasury strategy for the following year, covering the 
identification and approval of the following: 
 

 the strategy guidelines for decision making on investments, particularly non-
specified investments. 

 the principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which funds 
can be committed. 

 specified investments the council will use.  These are high security (i.e. have a 
high credit rating, although this is defined by the council, and no guidelines are 
given), and high liquidity investments in sterling and with a maturity of no more 
than a year. 

 non-specified investments, clarifying the greater risk implications, identifying 
the general types of investment that may be used and a limit to the overall 
amount of various categories that can be held at any time. 

 
The investment policy proposed for the council is: 
 
Strategy guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the 
treasury strategy statement. 
 
Specified investments – These investments are sterling investments of not more than 
one year maturity, or those which could be for a longer period but where the council has 
the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes.  These are considered low risk assets 
where the possibility of loss of principal or investment income is small.  These would 
include sterling investments with: 
 

 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF) 
 UK government – treasury stock (Gilts) with less than one year to maturity 
 Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration 
 Deposits with UK local authorities  
 Pooled investment vehicles such as Money Market Funds (MMF) (AAA rated) 
 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A-) 
 Certificates of deposits issued by banks and building societies (minimum rating 

as above) 
 
 
 

Page 169



Annex 5 

27 
 

Within these bodies, and in accordance with the Code, the council has set additional 
criteria to set the time and amount of monies which will be invested in these bodies.  
These criteria are as stated in table 5 to this report. 
 
Non-specified investments 
 
These are any other type of investment (i.e. not defined or specified above).  The 
identification and rationale supporting the selection of these other investments and the 
maximum limits to be applied are as set out in table 5. 
 
 

Page 170



Annex 6 

  
 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
Authorised Limit The maximum amount of external debt at any one time in the 

financial year. 

Basis Point (BP) 1/100th of 1%, i.e. 0.01% 

Base Rate Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution in the 
UK. 

Benchmark A measure against which the investment policy or performance 
of a fund manager can be compared. 

Bill of Exchange A financial instrument financing trade. 

Callable Deposit A deposit placed with a bank or building society at a set rate for 
a set amount of time.  However, the borrower has the right to 
repay the funds on pre agreed dates, before maturity.  This 
decision is based on how market rates have moved since the 
deal was agreed.  If rates have fallen the likelihood of the 
deposit being repaid rises, as cheaper money can be found by 
the borrower. 

Cash Fund 
Management 

Fund management is the management of an investment 
portfolio of cash on behalf of a private client or an institution, 
the receipts and distribution of dividends and interest, and all 
other administrative work in connection with the portfolio. 

Certificate of 
Deposit (CD) 

Evidence of a deposit with a specified bank or building society 
repayable on a fixed date.  They are negotiable instruments 
and have a secondary market; therefore the holder of a CD is 
able to sell it to a third party before the maturity of the CD. 

Commercial 
Paper 

Short-term obligations with maturities ranging from 2 to 270 
days issued by banks, corporations and other borrowers.  Such 
instruments are unsecured and usually discounted, although 
some may be interest bearing. 

Corporate Bond Strictly speaking, corporate bonds are those issued by 
companies.  However, the term is used to cover all bonds other 
than those issued by governments in their own currencies and 
includes issues by companies, supranational organisations and 
government agencies. 

Counterparty Another (or the other) party to an agreement or other market 
contract (e.g. lender/borrower/writer of a swap/etc.) 

Page 171



Annex 6 

  
 

CDS Credit Default Swap – a swap designed to transfer the credit 
exposure of fixed income products between parties.  The buyer 
of a credit swap receives credit protection, whereas the seller of 
the swap guarantees the credit worthiness of the product.  By 
doing this, the risk of default is transferred from the holder of 
the fixed income security to the seller of the swap. 

CFR Capital Financing Requirement. 

CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. 

CLG Department for Communities and Local Government. 

Derivative A contract whose value is based on the performance of an 
underlying financial asset, index or other investment, e.g. an 
option is a derivative because its value changes in relation to 
the performance of an underlying stock. 

DMADF Deposit Account offered by the Debt Management Office, 
guaranteed by the UK government. 

ECB European Central Bank – sets the central interest rates in the 
EMU area.  The ECB determines the targets itself for its 
interest rate setting policy; this is the keep inflation within a 
band of 0 to 2 per cent.  It does not accept that monetary policy 
is to be used to manage fluctuations in unemployment and 
growth caused by the business cycle. 

Enhanced Cash 
Funds 

A pooled investment fund.  Longer dated investment than a 
MMF and, unlike a MMF, enhanced cash funds have variable 
asset value.  Assets are marked to market on a daily basis and 
the unit prices vary accordingly.  Investments can be withdrawn 
on a notice basis (the length of which depends on the fund) 
although such funds would typically be used for investments of 
3 to 6 month duration. 

Equity A share in a company with limited liability.  It generally enables 
the holder to share in the profitability of the company through 
dividend payments and capital gain. 

Forward Deal The act of agreeing today to deposit funds with an institution for 
an agreed time limit, on an agreed future date, at an agreed 
rate. 

Forward 
Deposits 

Same as forward dealing (above). 

Fiscal Policy The government policy on taxation and welfare payments. 

GDP Gross Domestic Product. 

Page 172



Annex 6 

  
 

Gilt Registered British government securities giving the investor an 
absolute commitment from the government to honour the debt 
that those securities represent. 

Mark to Market 
Accounting 

Accounting of the basis of the “fair value” of an asset or liability, 
based on the current market price.  As a result, values will 
change with market conditions. 

Minimum 
Revenue 
Provision 

This is a prudent sum set aside each year to offset the principal 
repayment of any loan to smooth the impact on the local 
taxpayer. 

Money Market 
Fund 

A well rated, highly diversified pooled investment vehicle whose 
assets mainly comprise of short-term instruments.  It is very 
similar to a unit trust, however a MMF relies on loans to 
companies rather than share holdings. 

Monetary Policy 
Committee 
(MPC) 

Government body that sets the bank rate (commonly referred to 
as being base rate).  Their primary target is to keep inflation 
within plus or minus 1 per cent of a central target of 2.5 per 
cent in two years’ time from the date of the monthly meeting of 
the committee.  Their secondary target is to support the 
government in maintaining high and stable levels of growth and 
employment. 

Operational 
Boundary 

The most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario of external 
debt at any one time. 

Other Bond 
Funds 

Pooled funds investing in a wide range of bonds. 

PWLB Public Works Loan Board. 

QE Quantitative Easing. 

Retail Price 
Index 

Measurement of the monthly change in the average level of 
prices at the retail level weighted by the average expenditure 
pattern of the average person. 

Sovereign Issues 
(Ex UK Gilts) 

Bonds issued or guaranteed by nation states, but excluding UK 
government bonds. 

Supranational 
Bonds 

Bonds issued by supranational bodies, e.g. European 
Investment Bank.  The bonds – also known as Multilateral 
Development Bank bonds – are generally AAA rated and 
behave similarly to gilts, but pay a higher yield (“spread”) given 
their relative illiquidity when compared with gilts. 

Treasury Bill Treasury bills are short-term debt instruments issued by the UK 
or other governments.  They provide a return to the investor by 
virtue of being issued at a discount to their final redemption 
value. 

Page 173



 

1 
 

Report to: 
 

Joint Audit & Governance Committee 

Cabinet 

Council 

Report of Head of Finance 

Author: Rhona Bellis 

Telephone:  01235 422497 

E-mail: Rhona.bellis@southandvale.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  all 

REPORT NO 
 

Cabinet member responsible: Councillor Robert Sharp 

Tel:  01367 710549 

E-mail:  Robert.sharp@whitehorsedc.gov.uk 

To: JOINT AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE on  23  January 2017 
 CABINET on                      3 February 2017 
                COUNCIL on                                                                        15 February 2017 
  

 

Treasury management and investment strategy 

2017/18 to 2019/20 

Recommendations 

The committee recommends to cabinet and council: 

1. To approve the treasury management strategy 2017/18 set out in appendix A to this 
report; 

2. To approve the prudential indicators and limits for 2017/18 to 2019/20 as set out in 
table 2, appendix A; 

3. To approve the annual investment strategy 2017/18 set out in appendix A 
(paragraphs 24-63) and the lending criteria detailed in table 5. 

 
That cabinet: 

Considers any comments from committee and recommends council to approve the 
report. 
 

 

Page 174



 

2 
 

 

Purpose of report 

 
1. This report presents the council’s Treasury Management Strategy (TMS) for 2017/18 

to 2019/20.  This sets out how the council’s treasury service will support capital 
investment decisions, and how the treasury management operates day to day.  It 
sets out the limitations on treasury management activity governed by the prudential 
indicators, within which the council’s treasury function must operate.  The strategy is 
included as appendix A to the report.  This report includes the three elements 
required by legislation as follows: 

 
 The prudential indicators required by the CIPFA Prudential Code for 

Capital Finance in Local Authorities; 

 The annual investment strategy.  This sets out the council’s criteria for 
selecting counterparties and limiting exposure to the risk of loss on its 
investments. This strategy is in accordance with the DCLG investment 
guidance and forms part of the treasury management strategy. (appendix A, 
paragraphs 24-65); 

  
 A statutory duty to approve a minimum revenue provision policy for 

2017/18 (paragraphs 55-61).  
 

It is a requirement of the CIPFA Treasury Management Code 2011 that this report is 
approved by full Council on an annual basis. 

 

Strategic objectives  

2. Managing the finances of the authority in accordance with the treasury management 
strategy will help to ensure that resources are available to deliver its services and 
meet the council’s other strategic objectives. 

Background 

3. ‘Treasury management’ is the planning of the council’s cash flows, its banking, 
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent 
with those risks. 

4. The funding of the council’s capital expenditure is also a function of treasury 
management.  The capital programme provides a guide to the funding needs of the 
council and the long term cash flow plans to ensure that the council can meet its 
capital spending obligations. 

5. The treasury management and annual investment strategy set out the council’s 
policies for managing investments and confirms the council gives priority to the 
security and liquidity of those investments.  It also includes the prudential indicators 
for the next three years; these demonstrate that the council’s capital investment 
plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable. 

6. The council’s treasury management strategy 2017/18 to 2019/20 is attached in 
appendix A.  Whilst every attempt has been made to minimise the technical content 

Page 175



 

3 
 

of this report, it is, by its very nature and the need for compliance with associated 
guidance, technical in parts.   A glossary of terms in annex 6 should aid with the 
understanding of some of the technical terms used in the report. 

Recommended changes to the treasury management strategy 

7. Council approved the 2016/17 treasury management strategy on 17 February 2016.  
The proposed strategy for  2017/18 includes the changes detailed below, which cabinet 
is asked to recommend to council: 

Table 2 Prudential Indicators 

 To change the limits on fixed interest rates to 100 per cent from £40 million. 

 To raise the limits on variable interest rates to £50 million from £30 million. 

 To raise the upper limit for principal sums invested for longer than 364 days to £40 
million from £30 million.  

Note that the Section 151 officer has already agreed that the limit on fixed interest 
rates can be increased from £40 million to £43 million in 2016/17.  This followed a 
breach of the existing limit during December 2016.  

Appendix A Minimum Revenue Provision 

 To approve the change in the MRP policy that states that the council will use the 
“asset life method” to calculate MRP as a provision for repayment of borrowing if 
applicable. 

Annex 2 Liquidity 

 To simplify the performance measurement in terms of investment liquidity in Annex 
2 paragraphs 3 and 4 to focus on maintaining minimum levels of working capital in 
short term vehicles 

8. The Section 151 officer is content that there is no current need to review practices 
following the TUPE transfer of staff to Capita in August 2016 whilst the service is 
provided on a “business as usual” basis.  However when there are changes to this 
provision then practices will be reviewed. 

 

Financial implications and risk assessment 

9. This report and all associated policies and strategies set out clearly the parameters 
the council must work within.  It is important that the council follows the approved 
treasury management strategy which is designed to safeguard the council’s finances 
by managing its risk exposure. 

10. In the last few years investment income has fallen due to lower interest rates. In the 
medium term interest rates are expected to remain low.  According to latest forecasts 
from Capita Asset Services, the council’s treasury advisors, a rise in interest rates is 
not expected until June 2019 and any rises in rates are expected to be slow and 
gradual given the continued uncertainty in the economy.  The table below gives an 
estimate of the investment income achievable for the next five years. 
 

Page 176



 

4 
 

Table 1: Medium term investment income forecast     

  2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

  £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Forecast as at January 
2017 464 390 434 491 517 

            

 
11. The 2017/18 budget setting report and medium term financial plan will take into 

account the latest projections of anticipated investment income. 

 
Legal implications 

12. There are no significant legal implications as a result of the recommendations in this 
report.  Compliance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in 
the Public Services, the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance provides 
assurance that the council’s investments are, and will continue to be, within its legal 
powers.  

13. The council must approve any amendment to the treasury management strategy and 
annual investment strategy in accordance with the Local Government Act 2003 ( the 
Act), the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the Public Services 
and the CLG Local Government Investment Guidance under Section 15(1) (a) Local 
Government Act 2003 and CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance. 

Conclusion 

14. This report provides details of the proposed changes to the treasury management 
strategy and the annual investment strategy for 2017/18 which are appended to this 
report, together with the prudential indicators for approval to council.  These 
documents provide the parameters within which the council’s treasury management 
function will operate. 

Background papers 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in the Public Services Code of Practice and 
Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (revised 2011) 

 CLG Local Government Investment Guidance under Section 15(1) (a) Local 
Government Act 2003 and CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance. 

 Treasury Management Investment Strategy 2016/17 (cabinet 5 February 
2016, council 17 February 2016) 

 
Appendices 

Appendix A Treasury Management Strategy 2017/18 – 2019/20 - incorporating the 
following: 

 
  Annex 1             Economic conditions 
  Annex 2 Risk and performance benchmarking 
  Annex 3  Property investment policy 

Annex 4 Explanation of prudential indicators 
Annex 5 TMP1 extract 
Annex 6 Glossary of terms 

Page 177



Appendix A 

5 
 

Treasury Management Strategy 2017/18- 2019/20 

 

Introduction 

1. The Local Government Act 2003 and supporting regulations require the council to 
‘have regard to’ the CIPFA Prudential Code and to set Prudential Indicators for the next 
three years to ensure that the council’s capital investment plans are affordable, prudent 
and sustainable. 

2. The Act requires the council to set out its treasury strategy for borrowing and to 
prepare an Annual Investment Strategy (as required by Investment Guidance issued 
subsequent to the Act).  This sets out the council’s policies for managing its 
investments and for giving priority to the security and liquidity of those investments. 

3. The strategy in respect of the following aspects of the treasury management function is 
based on treasury officers’ views on interest rates, supplemented with market forecasts 
provided by the council’s treasury advisor, Capita Asset Services.  The strategy covers: 

 Prudential and treasury indicators in force that will limit the treasury risk and 
activities of the council; 

 Current treasury position 

 Prospects for interest rates; 

 Borrowing strategy 

 Policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 Investment strategy; 

 Counterparty selection and limits; 

 Policy on use of external service providers; 

 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) statement; 

 Treasury management scheme of delegation and Section 151 role. 

4. It is a statutory requirement under Section 33 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992, for the council to produce a balanced budget.  In particular, Section 32 requires a 
local authority to calculate its budget requirement for each year to include the revenue 
costs that flow from capital financing decisions.  This means that increases in capital 
expenditure must be limited to a level where any increases in charges to revenue are 
from: 

 Increases in interest charges caused by increased borrowing to finance 
additional capital expenditure, and 

 Any increases in running costs from new capital projects are identified and 
limited to a level which is affordable.  

A key requirement of this report is to explain the risks, and the management of those 
risks, associated with providing the treasury service.  Legislation requires that as a 
minimum two further treasury reports are provided: a mid-year monitoring report and 
an outturn report after the year-end that reports on actual activity for the year. 

Treasury Limits for 2017/18 to 2019/20 

5. It is a statutory duty, under Section 3 of the Act and supporting regulations for the 
council to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to borrow.  The 

Page 178



Appendix A 

6 
 

amount so determined is called the “Affordable Borrowing Limit”. The Authorised Limit 
is the legislative limit specified in the Act. 

6. The council must have regard to the Prudential Code when setting the Authorised 
Limit, which essentially requires it to ensure that total capital expenditure remains 
within sustainable limits and in particular, that the impact upon its future council tax is 
‘acceptable’. 

7. The Authorised Limit is set on a rolling basis, for the forthcoming financial year and two 
successive financial years. 

8. The following indicators set the parameters within which we manage the overall capital 
investment and treasury management functions.  There are specific treasury activity 
limits, which aim to contain the activity of the treasury function in order to manage risk 
and reduce the impact of an adverse movement in interest rates.  However if these are 
set to be too restrictive they will impair the opportunities to reduce costs/improve 
performance.  The limits are set out in table 2 below. 

 
Cabinet is asked to recommend council to approve the limits: 

Table 2: Prudential indicators           

   2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

        

Debt  £m £m £m £m 

Authorised limit for external debt       

Borrowing  30 30 30 30 

Other long term liabilities  5 5 5 5 

   35 35 35 35 

Operational boundary for external debt       

Borrowing  25 25 25 25 

Other long term liabilities  0 5 5 5 

   25 30 30 30 

Interest rate exposures       

Maximum fixed rate borrowing  100% 100% 100% 100% 

Maximum variable rate borrowing  100% 100% 100% 100% 
        

Investments  £m £m £m £m 

Interest rate exposures       

Limits on fixed interest rates  40 100% 100% 100% 

Limits on variable interest rates1  30 50 50 50 
        

Principal sums invested > 364 days       

Upper limit for principal sums invested 
>364 days  30 40 40 40 

            
 

 
 

                                            
1 The council has an investment in CCLA – property fund which pays dividends and is not included in this limit.  

Page 179



Appendix A 

7 
 

Current position 

9. The maturity structure of the council’s investments at 31 December 2016 was as 
follows: 

 

 
10. The council currently holds all of its investments in the form of either cash deposits or a 

managed property fund (£2 million with CCLA), the majority of which have been placed 
for fixed terms with a fixed investment return.   

11. The council's considerations for investment will remain security, liquidity and yield – in 
that order.  Within this framework an optimum portfolio distribution of cash investments 
could be considered as follows: 

 

 

This represents officer interpretations of a diversified portfolio and from time to time actual holdings will 
vary from this significantly.  Should interest rates increase then consideration would be given to 
increasing the proportion held for the long term. 

Investment performance for the year to 31 December 2016. 
 
12. The council’s budgeted investment return for 2016/17 is £0.411 million, and the actual 

interest received to date is shown as follows: 
 

Classification 

of investment 

at deal date

Classification 

as at 

31/12/2016

£'000 £'000

Call 100 0% 100 0%

Money market fund 9,090 17% 9,090 17%

Less than 6 months 9,000 17% 27,000 51%  

6 months to 1 year 25,000 47% 9,000 17%

1 year + 8,000 15% 6,000 11%

CCLA - property fund 2,000 4% 2,000 4%

Total investments 53,190 53,190  

Table 3: Maturity structure of investments:

Optimum portfolio distribution

40%

30%

10%

10%

10%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100% Certificates of deposit and
pooled bond funds

Enhanced cash funds

Call accounts and money
market funds

Long-term (+365 day) fixed
term cash deposits

Short-term fixed term cash
deposits

Page 180



Appendix A 

8 
 

 

 
 

Borrowing Strategy 2017/18 – 2019/20 

13. The annual treasury management strategy has to set out details of the council’s 
borrowing requirement, any maturing debt which will need to be re-financed, and the 
effect this will have on the treasury position over the next three years.  This council 
currently has no external debt and external borrowing may only prove necessary to 
fund the future capital programme. 

  
14. The council will continue to take a prudent approach to its debt strategy.  In general, 

the council will borrow for one of two purposes: 
 

 to support cash flow in the short-term;  
 To fund capital investment over the medium to long term. 

 
Any borrowing undertaken will be within the scope of the boundaries given in the 
prudential indicators shown in Table 2.  

 
15. The prudential indicators provide the scope and flexibility for the council to borrow up to 

a maximum of £30 million, if such a need arose.  This also allows short-term borrowing 
for the cash flow management activities of the authority, for the achievement of its 
service objectives.   

 
16. The existing capital programme can be financed from internal resources.  Additional 

expenditure committed as part of the 2017/18 budget setting process can be financed 
from internal resources (either by use of reserves or internal borrowing) or externally 
(through prudential borrowing).  Any decision on borrowing will be taken by the Head of 
Finance based on the optimum cost to the council. 

 
17. Currently, the council is debt free.  There is no financial advantage to the council of 

maintaining a debt free status, other than it avoids the revenue cost of servicing any 
borrowing it assumes.  Any borrowing undertaken will be within the framework of the 
prudential indicators included in this report. 

 
18. The latest projection from the council’s treasury advisors, Capita Asset Services, is for 

the Bank of England base rate to remain unchanged at 0.25 per cent until June 2019.   
 
19. The treasury management strategy for the forthcoming year aims to efficiently manage 

the investment portfolio by reducing the amount of funds held extremely short-term for 
cash flow purposes and operating with an adequate but not excessive level of working 
capital.  This optimum level is dictated by the accuracy of cash flow forecasts and, 

Table 4: Investment interest earned to date and outturn estimate

Annual Actual Annual Forecast

Investment type Budget to date Forecast Variation

2016/17 2016/17 2016/17 2016/17

£000's £000's £000's £000's

Position at end December 2016 411 444                 570 159            

Total interest 411 444 570 159

Interest Earned

Page 181



Appendix A 

9 
 

although unlikely, it is prudent to set a minimum level for the use of short-term 
borrowing arrangements or overdraft facilities if the cash flow forecasts prove 
inaccurate at any point in the year. 

 
20. This strategy allows the Head of Finance to take the most appropriate form of 

borrowing depending on the prevailing interest rates at the time, taking into account the 
risks shown in the forecast above.  

 
21. Any borrowing for capital financing purposes will be assessed by the Head of Finance 

to be prudent, sustainable and affordable 
 
22. This strategy allows the Head of Finance to determine the most suitable repayment 

terms of any borrowing to demonstrate affordability and sustainability in the medium 
term financial plan.  As a general rule, the term of any borrowing will not be longer than 
the expected life of the capital asset being created. 

 
Policy on borrowing in advance of need 
 
23. The council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs, purely in order to 

profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed.  Any decision to borrow in 
advance will be within approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates, and will be 
considered carefully to ensure value for money can be demonstrated and that the 
council can ensure the security of such funds.  In determining if any borrowing will be 
undertaken in advance of need, the council will: 

 
 consider the impact of borrowing in advance on investment cash balances and 

the exposure to counterparty risk.  Any risk associated with any borrowing in 
advance of activity will be subject to prior appraisal and subsequent reporting 
through the mid year or annual reporting process. 

 
 consider the optimum point to borrow in advance of need to obtain the most 

beneficial rates on any loan raised to minimise the cost of borrowing over the 
duration of the loan. 

 
Annual investment strategy  

24. The primary aim of the council’s investment strategy is to maintain the security and 
liquidity of its investments; yield or return on the investment will be a secondary 
consideration, subject to prudent security and liquidity.  The council will ensure: 

 
 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments to cover cash flow.  For this purpose it 

has set out parameters for determining the maximum periods for which funds may 
prudently be committed.   

 
 It maintains a policy covering the categories of investment types it will invest in, 

criteria for choosing investment counterparties with adequate security, and 
monitoring their security. 

 
25. The strategy aims to provide a high degree of flexibility to take appropriate lending 

decisions, with a view to producing a portfolio with an even spread of maturity periods 
as and when institutional security and market confidence returns.  This aim is to 
provide a more even and predictable investment return in the medium term.  

Page 182



Appendix A 

10 
 

 
26. The council’s Head of Finance will ensure a counterparty list (a list of named 

institutions) is maintained in compliance with the recommended credit rating criteria 
(table 5) and will revise the criteria and submit any changes to the credit rating criteria 
to council for approval as necessary.  

 
Investment types 
 
27. The types of investment that the council can use are summarised below. These are 

split under the headings of ‘specified’ and ‘non-specified’ in accordance with the 
statutory guidance.  

 
Specified investment instruments  

 
28. These are sterling investments of not more than one year maturity, or those where the 

council has the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes.  These would include 
sterling investments with: 

  
 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF) 
 UK government – treasury stock (Gilts) with less than one year to maturity 
 Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration 
 Deposits with UK local authorities 
 Pooled investment vehicles such as Money Market Funds (MMF) (AAA rated) 
 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A- rated) 
 Certificates of deposits issued by banks and building societies (minimum 

rating as above) 
  

Non-specified investment instruments   
 

29. These are any other type of investment (i.e. investments not defined as specified, 
above).  Non-specified investments would include any sterling investments with: 

 
 Supranational bonds of 1 to 10 years to maturity 
 UK treasury stock (Gilts) with a maturity of 1 to 10 years 
 Unrated building societies (minimum asset value £1 billion) 
 Bank and building society cash deposits up to 5 years (minimum F1/A- rated) 
 Deposits with UK local authorities up to 25 years to maturity  
 Corporate bonds  
 Pooled property, pooled bond funds and UK pooled equity funds   
 Direct property investment 

 
Other Non-specified investment instruments 
 
30. Other non-specified investment instruments include: 
 

 Fixed term deposits with variable rate and variable maturities 
 
Approach to investing 

 
31. The council holds approximately £14 million core cash balances which are available to 

invest for more than one year.  This is expected to reduce over the medium term as the 
approved capital expenditure is incurred and not replenished by capital receipts.  In 

Page 183



Appendix A 

11 
 

addition the council has funds that are available on a temporary basis to invest. These 
are held pending payment over to another body such as precept payments and council 
tax.  The amount can vary between £5 million and £15 million throughout the year and 
should only be invested short term (under one year).  Investments will be made with 
reference to known cash flow requirements (liquidity).   

 
32. Whilst the current market uncertainties remain the council will aim to keep investments 

relatively short term, but will continue to look for opportunities to fix lending in the 
medium term with highly rated institutions when possible for core cash balances.  The 
aim is to increase the weighted average maturity of the portfolio in order to reduce 
maturity risk.    

 
33. Officers will continue to implement an operational strategy which provides tight controls 

on the investments placed.  Where possible, opportunities to spread the investment 
risk over different types of instruments will be considered.   

 
34. Should market conditions deteriorate suddenly to the extent that the council is unable 

to place money with institutions with the necessary credit rating, it will make use of the 
UK Government deposit account (DMADF).  

 
35. The council has the authority to lend to other local authorities at market rates.  Current 

investments include £4 million of lending to Kingston upon Hull City Council, which 
matures in 2020/21.  Whilst investments with other local authorities are considered to 
be supported by central government, officers will consider the financial viability and 
sustainability of the individual local authority before any funds are advanced.  

 
36. The property investment holdings will be kept under review to identify if further 

investments should be placed in these categories.  Property funds will also be looked 
at in more detail for consideration.  In 2013/14 the council invested £2 million in the 
Churches Charities and Local Authorities pooled property investment fund (CCLA).  
Further details on the property investment policy are contained in annex 3. 

 
37. Money market funds are mainly used for liquidity; they also provide security and spread 

portfolio risk.  Officers will always monitor the council’s exposure to these funds in 
order to manage our security risk.  

 
38. Currently the council does not make use of an external fund manager.  Whilst there are 

presently no plans for this situation to change, this will continue to be kept under 
review. 

 
39. Bond funds can be used to diversify the portfolio, whilst maintaining an element of 

liquidity and security.  These will be considered and reviewed as an investment 
possibility to spread portfolio risk. 

 
40. One option to offer diversification in the council’s investment portfolio would be to make 

use of enhanced cash funds.  Possible use of such funds would be intended for longer 
term investments than with traditional money market funds (i.e. for possible investment 
durations of three – six months).  Investments placed with enhanced cash funds are 
callable and so offer the option to be withdrawn before maturity, although this is likely 
to have an adverse impact on the return on the investment. 

 

Page 184



Appendix A 

12 
 

41. Unlike money market funds, enhanced cash funds have a variable net asset value 
(VNAV).  This means the assets are ‘marked to market’ (re-valued to current market 
value) on a daily basis and the fund unit price adjusted accordingly.  Under this 
calculation basis the unit price fluctuates and could, therefore, be higher or lower than 
the original investment when it is redeemed.  Any use of enhanced cash funds would 
be restricted to the high quality counterparty credit criteria as set out in Table 5 below.  

 
42. The council does not currently make use of certificates of deposit.  Consideration will 

be given to their use to assist diversification of the investment portfolio.  Certificates of 
deposit have the same level of ranking and security as ordinary fixed term deposits but 
have the option of being traded before maturity.  Certificates of deposit are bought and 
sold on the stock market and their price can go up or down prior to their redemption 
date.  If held to maturity the investment will return their issue value.  The council would 
only normally look to enter into such investments on a held to maturity basis. 

 
Counterparty selection 
 
43. Treasury management risk is the risk of loss of capital to the council.  To minimise this 

risk, the council uses credit rating information when considering who to lend to.  Capita 
Asset Services provide the council with credit rating updates from all three ratings 
agencies – Standard & Poors, Fitch and Moodys. 

 
44. The council will not use the approach suggested by CIPFA of using the lowest rating 

from all three rating agencies in evaluating investment opportunity.  This is because 
adopting this approach could leave the council with too few counterparties for the 
strategy to be workable.  Instead, counterparty investment limits will be set by 
reference to all of the assigned ratings. 

 
45. Credit rating information is supplied by Capita Asset Services, our treasury consultants.  

Any counterparty failing to meet the minimum required criteria (Table 5 below) would 
be omitted from the counterparty list.  Any rating changes and rating watches 
(notification of a rating change) are provided to officers almost immediately after they 
occur and this information is considered before any deal is entered into.  Extreme 
market movements may result in a downgrade of an institution or removal from the 
council’s lending list. 

 
46. Additional requirements under the CIPFA Treasury Management Code require the 

council to supplement the credit rating data with operational market information such 
as credit default swaps (CDS), negative watches and outlooks, which are considered 
when assessing the security of counterparties.  This additional information is used so 
that the council does not rely solely on the current credit ratings of counterparties. 

 
47. Where it is felt the council would benefit from utilising government guarantees provided 

by countries with an AAA rating, the council may lend to institutions covered by such 
guarantees.  Any decision to lend in this way will be subject to consultation with and 
the agreement of the cabinet member responsible for finance.  

 
Country and sector considerations 
 
48. The council has determined that it will only use approved counterparties outside the UK 

from countries with a minimum sovereign credit rating of AAA from Fitch Ratings. 
 

Page 185



Appendix A 

13 
 

Counterparty limits 
 
49. In the normal course of the council’s cash flow operations it is expected that both 

specified and non-specified investments will be used for the control of liquidity as both 
categories allow for short term investments.  The use of longer term instruments 
(greater than one year from inception to repayment) will fall in the non-specified 
investment category.  These instruments will be used where the council’s liquidity 
requirements are safeguarded.  The council will lend to institutions that meet the 
following criteria: 

 
Table 5: Counterparty limits 

   Minimum Fitch 
Rating ( or 
equivalent) 

Counterparty Max. 
maturity 
period 

Maximum % 
of total 

investments    
Limit 

Counterparty   £m     

Routinely used counterparties       

Banks - house bank  n/a £5.0m 3 months 20% 

Banks - part nationalised UK UK sovereign  £15.0m 3 years 100% 

Building societies - assets > £1,000m n/a £3.0m 12 months 50% 

Building societies - assets > £3,000m n/a £3.5m 12 months 60% 

Building societies - assets > £5,000m n/a £5.0m 12 months 70% 

Institutions with a minimum rating: F1 / A- £7.5m 2 years 80% 

Local authorities; parish councils n/a £20.0m 25 years 20% 

Money Market funds (CNAV) AAA £20.0m liquid 100% 

Pooled property funds - CCLA n/a £3.0m variable 10% 

Other counterparties       

Corporate Bonds  AA- £5.0m variable 40% 

Direct property investment n/a n/a unlimited 80% 

Enhanced cash funds (VNAV) AAA / V1 £15.0m variable 50% 

Institutions with a minimum rating: F1+ / AA- £10.0m 5 years 100% 

Institutions with a minimum rating: F2/BBB £5.0m 1 year 70% 

Managed Bond Funds  n/a £15.0m  variable 40% 

Share capital  / Equities  n/a £3.0m variable 20% 

Supranationals  AAA £10.0m 10 years 50% 

UK Government - DMADF UK sovereign  Unlimited 6 months 100% 

UK Government - gilts  UK sovereign  Unlimited 25 years 20% 

UK Government - treasury bills UK sovereign  Unlimited 12 months 50% 

            

  
50. The criteria for choosing counterparties provides a sound approach to investment. 

Whilst councillors are asked to approve the criteria in table 5, under exceptional market 
conditions the head of finance may temporarily restrict further investment activity to 
those counterparties considered of higher credit quality than the minimum criteria set 
out for approval.    

Fund managers 

51. The council does not currently employ any external fund managers.  However in the 
event of such an appointment, appointees will comply with this and subsequent 
treasury strategies.  This strategy empowers the Section 151 officer to appoint such an 
external manager to manage a proportion of the council’s investment portfolio if this is 
advantageous.  Situations in which this might be advantageous include benchmarking 
the performance of the internal treasury team;  benefiting from the often extensive 

Page 186



Appendix A 

14 
 

credit risk and economic modelling resources of external fund managers and resources 
necessary to hold liquid instruments for trading. 

Risk and performance benchmarks 
 
52. A requirement of the Code is that security and liquidity benchmarks are considered and 

approved. This is in addition to yield benchmarks which are used to assess 
performance.  The benchmarks are guidelines (not limits) so may be breached 
depending on the movement in interest rates and counterparty criteria.  Their purpose 
is to allow officers to monitor the current trend position and amend the operational 
strategy depending on any changes.  Any breach of the benchmarks will be reported, 
with an explanation in the mid year or annual report to audit and corporate governance 
committee.  Detailed information for the assessment of risk is shown in annex 2.  

 
53. Performance indicators are set to assess the adequacy of the treasury function over 

the year.  These are distinct historic performance indicators, as opposed to the 
predominantly forward looking prudential indicators.  The indicators used to assess the 
performance of the treasury function are: 

 
 Cash investments - 3 month LIBID rate. 

 Property related investments – IPD Balance Property Unit Trust Index. 

 
54. The results of these indicators will be reported in both the annual mid-year and year-

end treasury reports. 
 
Policy on the use of treasury management advisors   

55. The council has a joint contract for treasury management advisors with South 
Oxfordshire District Council.  Capita Asset Services, a subsidiary of the Capita Group 
Plc provides a range of services which include: 

 
 technical support on treasury matters, capital finance issues, statutory reports; 

 economic forecasts and interest rate analysis; 

 credit ratings / market information service involving the three main credit rating 
agencies; 

 strategic advice including a review of the investment and borrowing strategies 
and policy documents. 

56. The council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains 
with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon 
our external service providers.  It also recognises that there is value in employing 
external providers of treasury management services in order to acquire access to 
specialist skills, resources and up to date market information.   

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) policy statement 2017/18 

57. MRP is the amount out of revenues set aside each year as a provision for debt i.e. the 
provision in respect of capital expenditure financed by borrowing.   
 

58. The council is required by regulation to approve an annual MRP policy before the start 
of the year to which it relates.  Any in-year changes must also be submitted to the 
council for approval. 

 

Page 187



Appendix A 

15 
 

59. A variety of options are provided to councils for the calculation of MRP.  The council 
has chosen the “asset life method” as being most appropriate.  Using this method MRP 
will be based on the estimated life of the asset, in accordance with the regulations (this 
option must be applied for any expenditure capitalised under a Capitalisation 
Direction).  Repayments included in annual PFI or finance leases are applied as MRP.  

 
60. Currently, the council’s MRP liability is nil.  This will remain the case unless capital 

expenditure is financed by external borrowing.   
 
61. In the event that borrowing is required to fund the council’s capital programme the 

Head of Finance will determine the most appropriate repayment method, term of 
borrowing and duration of borrowing.   
 

Councillor and officer training 

62. The requirement for increased councillor consideration of treasury management 
matters and the need to ensure officers dealing with treasury management are trained 
and kept up to date requires a suitable training process for councillors and officers.  In 
compliance with the revised CIPFA Code, the council provided treasury management 
training to councillors in January 2017.  Further training can be provided if required or 
requested.   

 
Treasury management scheme of delegation and the role of the Section 151 officer 

63. The treasury management scheme of delegation and the role of the Section 151 officer 
is as follows: 
   

I. Council 
 Receiving and approval of reports on treasury management policies, 

practices, outturn and activities; 
 Approval of annual strategy 

 
II. Joint Audit and Governance Committee / Cabinet 

 Approval of amendments to the organisations, adopted clauses, treasury 
management policy statements and treasury management practices; 

 Receiving and reviewing monitoring reports and acting on recommendations; 
 Ensuring effective scrutiny of the treasury management function 

 
III. Section 151 Officer / Head of Finance 

 Recommending clauses, treasury management policies/practices for approval, 
review and monitoring compliance; 

 Submitting regular treasury management information reports; 
 Submitting budgets and budget variations; 
 Reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 
 Ensuring adequacy of treasury management resources and skills and the 

effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 
 Ensuring the adequacy of internal audit and liaising with external audit; 
 Approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of 

appointment. 
 
 
 
 

Page 188



Appendix A 

16 
 

Summary 
 
64. Prior to the beginning of each financial year the council must approve the treasury 

management strategy.  The strategy sets the parameters within which officers can 
manage the council’s cash flows and invest any surplus funds. 
 

65. This strategy provides a commentary on the current financial climate and sets out the 
council’s lending strategy in response to this. 

 

Page 189



Annex 1 

17 
 

Economic conditions and interest rate forecasts 
 
1. In order to put the investment strategy into context it is necessary to consider the 

strength of the UK economy, external factors in the financial markets and their impact 
on interest rate forecasts.  

 
UK economy 
 

2. Since the second quarter of 2013 the UK has reported rising levels of GDP.  However, 
following the result of the EU referendum, growth has become volatile.  Indicators 
suggest we will still see growth thanks to low unemployment and household spending, 
but the rate of growth will be slower than previously forecast.  

 
3. Levels of unemployment currently stand at 4.9 per cent, lower than the initial threshold 

of seven per cent previously flagged by the MPC as the point before which it would not 
consider any increase in bank rate.  The MPC broadened its forward guidance by 
looking at a much wider range of economic indicators in order to form a view on spare 
capacity in the domestic economy. 

 
4. Consumer Price Inflation currently stands at 0.6 per cent.  Forward indications are that 

rates of inflation will rise due to the weakness in sterling and the impact this is having 
on import prices. 

 
5. The latest projection from Capita Asset Services is for a first increase in interest rates 

to occur around June 2019. 
 
Eurozone economy 
 

6. Growth has slowed in the Eurozone.  Consumer confidence is falling, especially in 
Germany, which is pulling growth lower.  The Euro has strengthened since the Brexit 
vote in June, and if it remains strong, it will result in inflation in the bloc falling sharply in 
the coming months. 
 
Capita Asset Services forward view 

7. Economic forecasting continues to be difficult given the number of external influences 
affecting the UK.  Key areas of risk include: 

 Economic uncertainty caused by the ongoing unrest in Eastern Europe, the 
Middle East and Asia; 

 UK economic growth is weaker than we currently anticipate; 

 Weak economic growth or recession in the European Union, the UK’s main 
trading partner; 

 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis; 

 Weak capitalisation of some European banks;  

 Monetary policy action failing to stimulate sustainable growth and combat the 
threat of deflation in western economies, especially the Eurozone and Japan. 

8. The view of Capita Asset Services is that the overall balance of risks to economic 
recovery in the UK is currently evenly weighted.  However, uncertainty remains over 

Page 190



Annex 1 

18 
 

how long the period of strong economic growth will last and the UK economy remains 
exposed to vulnerabilities in a number of key areas.  

 

Prospects for interest rates 

1. The bank base rate is forecast to remain unchanged at 0.25 per cent, rising in Q2 in 
2019. Capita Asset Service’s central view for bank rate forecasts is shown below: 

 

2. Following the results of the EU referendum, we have been in a period of uncertainty.  
The MPC has made clear that interest rates will change in either direction in the 
coming months if the economic outlook changes considerably.

Dec-16 Mar-17 Jun-17 Dec-17 Mar-18 Jun-18 Sep-18 Dec-18 Mar-19 Jun-19

Bank of England base rate 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.25 0.50

PWLB rates

5 year borrowing 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.60 1.70 1.70 1.70 1.80 1.80 1.90

10 year borrowing 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50

25 year borrowing 3.00 2.90 2.90 2.90 3.00 3.00 3.00 3.10 3.10 3.20

50 year borrowing 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.80 2.80 2.90 2.80 2.90 3.00

Page 191



Annex 2 

19 
 

 
Benchmarking and Monitoring Security, Liquidity and Yield in the Investment Service.   

 

1. These benchmarks are targets and so may be exceeded from time to time.  Any 
variation will be reported, along with supporting reasons, in the Annual Treasury 
Report. 

2. Yield.  The local benchmark currently used to assess the performance of cash 
investments is the level of returns contrasted against the London Interbank Bid (LIBID) 
three month rate.  This is the interest rate a bank would be willing to pay to borrow from 
another bank for three months. 

Property related investments are benchmarked against the IPD Balanced Property Unit 
Trust Index. 

3. Liquidity.  Liquidity is defined as the council “having adequate, though not excessive, 
cash resources, borrowing arrangements, overdrafts or standby facilities to enable it at 
all times to have the level of funds available to it which are necessary for the 
achievement of its business/service objectives” (CIPFA Treasury Management Code of 
Practice).   

4. In respect of this area, the council shall seek to:  

 maintain a minimal balance held in the council’s main bank account at the 
close of each working day.  Transfers to the councils call accounts, MMF and 
investments will be arranged in order to achieve this, while maintaining access 
to adequate working capital at short notice. 

 use the authorised bank overdraft facility or short term borrowing where there 
is clear business case for doing so, to cover working capital requirements at 
short notice  

5. Security of the investments.  In the context of benchmarking, assessing security is 
very much more a subjective area to assess.  Security is currently evidenced by the 
application of minimum credit quality criteria to investment counterparties, primarily 
through the use of credit ratings supplied by the three main credit rating agencies 
(Fitch, Moody’s and Standard and Poor’s).  Whilst this approach embodies security 
considerations, benchmarking levels of risk is more problematic.  One method to 
benchmark security risk is to assess the historic level of default against the minimum 
criteria used in the Council’s investment strategy.  The table beneath shows average 
defaults for differing periods of investment grade products for each Fitch long term 
rating category over the last 20-30 years. 

Average defaults for differing periods of investment 

Long 
term rating 

1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 5 years 

AAA 0.00% 0.02% 0.06% 0.09% 0.13% 
AA 0.02% 0.04% 0.14% 0.27% 0.38% 
A 0.09% 0.24% 0.43% 0.61% 0.86% 
BBB 0.20% 0.59% 1.02% 1.52% 2.00% 

 
6. The council’s minimum long term (i.e. plus 365 day duration) rating criteria is currently 

“A-”.  For comparison, the average expectation of default for a two year investment in a 
counterparty with an “A” long term rating would be 0.24 per cent of the total investment 
(e.g. for a £1m investment the average loss would be £2,400).  This is only an 

Page 192



Annex 2 

20 
 

average - any specific counterparty loss is likely to be higher - but these figures do act 
as a proxy benchmark for risk across the portfolio.    

 

 

Page 193



Annex 3 

21 
 

 

Property Investment Policy 
 
1. The case for property 
 
1.1 The Council is restricted in the different investment vehicles it is legally allowed to invest 

in notwithstanding the over-riding need for prudence.  Of the few avenues open, one is 
property and the returns from investing in property have generally been, and currently 
are, greater than the limited opportunities in the money markets.   

 
1.2 In broad terms the returns are greater because the risks are greater.  Factors to be 

taken into account when deciding the principle of investing in property include: 
 

 investment will be for the long term since it may not be possible, or wise, to sell 
quickly, 

 the costs of acquisition and disposal are higher, 

 there are management costs, risk of rent default and failure to honour maintenance 
agreements,  

 different types of property and different areas carry different risks,  

 generally property tends to appreciate in value, although this will vary by type and 
area; however, in some cases the value may go down, 

 property can become functionally obsolete necessitating major refurbishment, 

 without regular repair and maintenance the condition will deteriorate and the 
responsibility for repairs/maintenance may not always rest with the tenant, 

 certain types of property may become less desirable as time goes by; this can make 
re-letting difficult or attract a lower calibre of tenant. 

 
2. How much to invest? 
  
2.1 £8 million is invested in property and £49 million is invested in treasury investments.  

The investment in property currently represents 16 per cent of the total figure. 
 

The maximum percentage of the investment portfolio in property should be no more 
than 80 per cent of the total, and the cash funds invested (i.e. not held for cash-flow 
purposes) should not fall below £10 million. 

 
3. What type of property? 
 
3.1 There are different types of property investment with assessment of prospects as follows: 
  

Page 194



Annex 3 

22 
 

 

i) shops and offices good - although may be subject to changing fashions 
and working practices 

ii) industrial good but condition can be variable 

iii) leisure good but may be best avoided since too close to our 
“core” business 

iv) agricultural moderate but too risky now  

v) woodland poor – some is owned for environmental/leisure 
purposes 

 
3.2 Average Yield Levels (%).  In general, property can be categorised as prime, 

secondary or tertiary in terms of its desirability.  ‘Rack-rented’ means that the maximum 
market rental achievable is being received.  Yield derives from both capital appreciation 
and rent.  Lower yields can indicate that the investment attracts a lower degree of risk 
due to the ratio of rent to capital and other factors such as location, security and 
regularity of income.  
 
In general, properties for investment will be from the categories: retail, offices, industrial 
land and buildings. 

 
4. Where should it be located?  
 
4.1 Direct property investments will be located in the UK and will be acquired subject to 

appropriate legal powers and business case. 
 
5. What level of financial return? 
 
5.1 As mentioned above, generally the greater the return, the greater the risk inherent in the 

investment.  There are so many variables involving area, management, condition, 
leases, maintenance and the varying return on other investments that it is difficult to 
draw up hard and fast rules about them and their relationship with the rate of return.   

  
With regard to the rate of return, each proposal will be considered on its merits. 

 
6. Review 
 
6.1 The Policy to be reviewed annually (along with the Treasury Management Strategy). 
 

Page 195



Annex 4  

23 
 

 
Explanation of Prudential Indicators 

Central government control of borrowing was ended and replaced with Prudential 
borrowing by the Local Government Act 2003.  Prudential borrowing permitted local 
government organisations to borrow to fund capital spending plans provided they could 
demonstrate their affordability.  Prudential indicators are the means to demonstrate 
affordability. 
 
Authorised limit for external debt – this is the maximum limit for external borrowing.  
This is the statutory limit determined under section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 
2003.  This limit is set to allow sufficient headroom for day to day operational management 
of cash flows. 
 
Operational boundary for external debt – this is set as the more likely amount that may 
be required for day to day cash flow.   
 
Upper limit for fixed and variable interest rate exposure – these limits allow the 
council flexibility in its investment and borrowing options. 
 
Upper limit for total principal sums invested for over 364 days – the amount it is 
considered can be prudently invested for periods in excess of a year.

Page 196



Annex 5  

24 
 

Treasury Management Practice (TMP) 1 – credit and counterparty risk management 
 
The CLG issued Investment Guidance in 2010, and this forms the structure of the 
council’s policy below.   
 
The key aim of the guidance is to maintain the current requirement for councils to invest 
prudently, and that priority is given to security and liquidity before yield.  In order to 
facilitate this objective the guidance requires this council to have regard to the CIPFA 
publication Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross-
Sectoral Guidance Notes.  In accordance with the code, the head of finance has produced 
its treasury management practices (TMPs).  This part, TMP1(1), covering investment 
counterparty policy requires approval each year. 
 
The key requirements of both the Code and the guidance are to set an annual investment 
strategy, as part of its annual treasury strategy for the following year, covering the 
identification and approval of the following: 
 

 the strategy guidelines for decision making on investments, particularly non-
specified investments. 

 the principles to be used to determine the maximum periods for which funds 
can be committed. 

 specified investments the council will use.  These are high security (ie have a 
high credit rating, although this is defined by the council, and no guidelines are 
given), and high liquidity investments in sterling and with a maturity of no more 
than a year. 

 non-specified investments, clarifying the greater risk implications, identifying 
the general types of investment that may be used and a limit to the overall 
amount of various categories that can be held at any time. 

 
The investment policy proposed for the council is: 
 
Strategy guidelines – The main strategy guidelines are contained in the body of the 
treasury strategy statement. 
 
Specified investments – These investments are sterling investments of not more than 
one year maturity, or those which could be for a longer period but where the council has 
the right to be repaid within 12 months if it wishes.  These are considered low risk assets 
where the possibility of loss of principal or investment income is small.  These would 
include sterling investments with: 
 

 UK government Debt Management Agency Deposit Facility (DMADF) 
 UK government – treasury stock (Gilts) with less than one year to maturity 
 Supranational bonds of less than one year’s duration 
 Deposits with UK local authorities 
 Pooled investment vehicles such as Money Market Funds (MMF) (AAA rated) 
 Deposits with banks and building societies (minimum F1/A- rated) 
 Certificates of deposits issued by banks and building societies (minimum rating 

as above) 
 
Within these bodies, and in accordance with the Code, the council has set additional 
criteria to set the time and amount of monies which will be invested in these bodies.  
These criteria are as stated in Table 5 to this report. 

Page 197



Annex 5  

25 
 

 
Non-specified investments 
 
These are any other type of investment (i.e. not defined or specified above).  The 
identification and rationale supporting the selection of these other investments and the 
maximum limits to be applied are as set out in Table 5. 

 
 
 

Page 198



Annex 6  

26 
 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 
Authorised Limit The maximum amount of external debt at any one time in the 

financial year. 
Basis Point (BP) 1/100th of 1%, i.e. 0.01% 
Base Rate Minimum lending rate of a bank or financial institution in the UK. 
Benchmark A measure against which the investment policy or performance of a 

fund manager can be compared. 
Bill of Exchange A financial instrument financing trade. 
Callable Deposit A deposit placed with a bank or building society at a set rate for a 

set amount of time.  However, the borrower has the right to repay 
the funds on pre agreed dates, before maturity.  This decision is 
based on how market rates have moved since the deal was agreed.  
If rates have fallen the likelihood of the deposit being repaid rises, 
as cheaper money can be found by the borrower. 

Cash Fund 
Management 

Fund management is the management of an investment portfolio of 
cash on behalf of a private client or an institution, the receipts and 
distribution of dividends and interest, and all other administrative 
work in connection with the portfolio. 

Certificate of 
Deposit (CD) 

Evidence of a deposit with a specified bank or building society 
repayable on a fixed date.  They are negotiable instruments and 
have a secondary market; therefore the holder of a CD is able to 
sell it to a third party before the maturity of the CD. 

Commercial 
Paper 

Short-term obligations with maturities ranging from 2 to 270 days 
issued by banks, corporations and other borrowers.  Such 
instruments are unsecured and usually discounted, although some 
may be interest bearing. 

Corporate Bond Strictly speaking, corporate bonds are those issued by companies.  
However, the term is used to cover all bonds other than those 
issued by governments in their own currencies and includes issues 
by companies, supranational organisations and government 
agencies. 

Counterparty Another (or the other) party to an agreement or other market 
contract (e.g. lender/borrower/writer of a swap/etc.) 

CDS Credit Default Swap – a swap designed to transfer the credit 
exposure of fixed income products between parties.  The buyer of a 
credit swap receives credit protection, whereas the seller of the 
swap guarantees the credit worthiness of the product.  By doing 
this, the risk of default is transferred from the holder of the fixed 
income security to the seller of the swap. 

CFR Capital Financing Requirement. 
CIPFA Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. 
CLG Department for Communities and Local Government. 
Derivative A contract whose value is based on the performance of an 

underlying financial asset, index or other investment, e.g. an option 
is a derivative because its value changes in relation to the 
performance of an underlying stock. 

DMADF Deposit Account offered by the Debt Management Office, 
guaranteed by the UK government. 

Page 199



Annex 6  

27 
 

ECB European Central Bank – sets the central interest rates in the EMU 
area.  The ECB determines the targets itself for its interest rate 
setting policy; this is the keep inflation within a band of 0 to 2 per 
cent.  It does not accept that monetary policy is to be used to 
manage fluctuations in unemployment and growth caused by the 
business cycle. 

Enhanced Cash 
Funds 

A pooled investment fund.  Longer dated investment than a MMF 
and, unlike a MMF, enhanced cash funds have variable asset 
value.  Assets are marked to market on a daily basis and the unit 
prices vary accordingly.  Investments can be withdrawn on a notice 
basis (the length of which depends on the fund) although such 
funds would typically be used for investments of 3 to 6 month 
duration. 

Equity A share in a company with limited liability.  It generally enables the 
holder to share in the profitability of the company through dividend 
payments and capital gain. 

Forward Deal The act of agreeing today to deposit funds with an institution for an 
agreed time limit, on an agreed future date, at an agreed rate. 

Forward Deposits Same as forward dealing (above). 
Fiscal Policy The government policy on taxation and welfare payments. 
GDP Gross Domestic Product. 
Gilt Registered British government securities giving the investor an 

absolute commitment from the government to honour the debt that 
those securities represent. 

Mark to Market 
Accounting 

Accounting on the basis of the “fair value” of an asset or liability, 
based on the current market price.  As a result, values will change 
with market conditions.   

Minimum 
Revenue 
Provision 

This is a prudent sum set aside each year to offset the principal 
repayment of any loan to smooth the impact on the local taxpayer.  

Money Market 
Fund 

A well rated, highly diversified pooled investment vehicle whose 
assets mainly comprise of short-term instruments.  It is very similar 
to a unit trust, however a MMF relies on loans to companies rather 
than share holdings.   

Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) 

Government body that sets the bank rate (commonly referred to as 
being base rate).  Their primary target is to keep inflation within 
plus or minus 1 per cent of a central target of 2.5 per cent in two 
years time from the date of the monthly meeting of the committee.  
Their secondary target is to support the government in maintaining 
high and stable levels of growth and employment. 

Operational 
Boundary 

The most likely, prudent but not worst case scenario of external 
debt at any one time. 

Other Bond 
Funds 

Pooled funds investing in a wide range of bonds. 

PWLB Public Works Loan Board. 
QE Quantitative Easing. 
Retail Price Index Measurement of the monthly change in the average level of prices 

at the retail level weighted by the average expenditure pattern of 
the average person. 

Sovereign Issues 
(Ex UK Gilts) 

Bonds issued or guaranteed by nation states, but excluding UK 
government bonds. 

Page 200



Annex 6  

28 
 

Supranational 
Bonds 

Bonds issued by supranational bodies, e.g. European Investment 
Bank.  The bonds – also known as Multilateral Development Bank 
bonds – are generally AAA rated and behave similarly to gilts, but 
pay a higher yield (“spread”) given their relative illiquidity when 
compared with gilts. 

Treasury Bill Treasury bills are short-term debt instruments issued by the UK or 
other governments.  They provide a return to the investor by virtue 
of being issued at a discount to their final redemption value. 

 

Page 201



Audit and governance
work programme

containing Audit and Governance Committee work to 
be undertaken 

1 MARCH - 31 DECEMBER 2017

      

The audit and governance work programme belongs to the councils’ Joint Audit and Governance Committee and sets out a schedule of work 
for the period shown above.  It is a rolling plan, subject to change at each Committee meeting; however, the councils may allocate additional 
work.  

You can make representations on any issue below.  Please contact the officer shown below by 10am on the day the committee is due to 
meet.  

Item title Meeting date Lead officer Why is it here? Scope Notes
Internal audit activity 
report – fourth 
quarter 2016/17

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 20 
March 2017

Adrianna 
Partridge, 
Email: 
adrianna.partridg
e@southandvale.
gov.uk

The council audits its 
services through the 
internal audit service in 
line with the approved 
internal audit plan 
2016/17.

To summarise the 
outcomes of recent 
internal audit activity 
for the committee to 
consider.  The 
committee is asked to 
review the report and 
main issues arising, 
and seek assurance 
that action has been or 
will be taken where 
necessary.

This is a recurring 
agenda item, and is 
updated at each 
meeting.  

P
age 202

mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk


Item title Meeting date Lead officer Why is it here? Scope Notes

South and Vale Audit and Governance Work Programme
2

Internal audit 
management report - 
fourth quarter 
2016/17

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 20 
March 2017

Adrianna 
Partridge, 
Email: 
adrianna.partridg
e@southandvale.
gov.uk

The committee monitors 
the effectiveness of 
internal audit each 
quarter against the 
approved audit plan

To report on 
management issues, 
summarise the first 
quarter progress of the 
internal audit team 
against the 2016/17 
audit plan, and 
summarise the 
priorities and planned 
audit work for quarter 
three.

This is a recurring 
agenda item, and is 
updated at each 
meeting.  

Internal audit plan 
2017/18

Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
20 March 2017

Adrianna 
Partridge, Email: 
adrianna.partridg
e@southandvale.
gov.uk

The council audits its 
services through the 
internal audit service.

To approve the internal 
audit plan for 2017/18

Risk management 
strategy

Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 20 
March 2017

Adrianna 
Partridge, Email: 
adrianna.partridg
e@southandvale.
gov.uk

The risk management 
strategy is being 
reviewed 

To approve the risk 
management strategy

Review of statement 
of accounting 
policies 

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 20 
March 2017

Simon Hewings 
simon.hewings@
southandvale.gov
.uk

To audit and review the 
policies and principles 
used when compiling 
the 2016/17accounts. 

P
age 203

mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk


Item title Meeting date Lead officer Why is it here? Scope Notes

South and Vale Audit and Governance Work Programme
3

Internal audit annual 
report 2016/17

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee June 
2017

Adrianna 
Partridge, Email: 
adrianna.partridg
e@southandvale.
gov.uk

Each year the council’s 
internal audit team 
produces an annual 
report to review 
activities over the 
previous year

To review internal 
audit activity during 
2016/17

External auditor’s 
fees

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee June 
2017

William Jacobs, 
Email: 
william.jacobs@s
outhandvale.gov.
uk

The external auditor to 
set out the audit and 
certification fees for 
2017/18

Comments and 
complaints 2016/17

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee June 
2017

David Hill, 
Email c/o: 
kim.ashford@sou
thandvale,gov.uk

The committee is 
responsible for 
monitoring the councils’ 
comments and 
complaints.

To review the 
comments and 
complaints received 
during 2016/17

External auditor's 
annual governance 
reports 2016/17

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
September 
2017

William Jacobs, 
Email: 
william.jacobs@s
outhandvale.gov.
uk

The external auditor 
publishes an annual 
governance report on 
the councils’ activities.

To consider the 
external auditor's 
annual governance 
reports 2016/17

Statements of 
accounts 2016/17

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
September 
2017

Simon Hewings, 
simon.hewings@
southandvale.gov
.uk

The councils must 
produce statements of 
accounts each year.

To approve the 
statements of accounts 
2016/17

P
age 204

mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:adrianna.partridge@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:kim.ashford@southandvale,gov.uk
mailto:kim.ashford@southandvale,gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk


Item title Meeting date Lead officer Why is it here? Scope Notes

South and Vale Audit and Governance Work Programme
4

Annual governance 
statements 2016/17

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
September 
2017

Ron Schrieber, 
Email: 
ron.schrieber@s
outhandvale.gov.
uk

The councils are 
required to publish 
annual governance 
statements

To approve the annual 
governance 
statements 2016/17

Treasury 
management outturn 
2016/17

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
September 
2017

Simon Hewings, 
simon.hewings@
southandvale.gov
.uk

The committee is 
responsible for the 
scrutiny of the councils’ 
treasury management 
activity.

To consider the 
treasury management 
outturn for 2016/7

Letters of 
representation to the 
council's external 
auditor

Joint Audit and 
Governance 
Committee 
September 
2016

William Jacobs, 
Email: 
william.jacobs@s
outhandvale.gov.
uk

The committee's co-
chairmen and the 
section 151 officer are 
required to sign a 'letter 
of representation' to the 
external auditor, as part 
of the process in 
completing the 
statement of accounts.

To consider and agree 
the letters of 
representation

P
age 205

mailto:ron.schrieber@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:ron.schrieber@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:ron.schrieber@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:simon.hewings@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk
mailto:william.jacobs@southandvale.gov.uk

	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	6 External auditor's annual letters 2015/16
	16 VW LG Annual Audit Letter

	7 External auditor's report on the certification of claims and returns 2015/16
	8 South Oxfordshire and Vale of White Horse District Councils' Audit Plan 2016/17
	9 Appointment of external auditors
	10 Internal audit activity report - third quarter 2016/17
	IA Activity Report App 2 Overdue recs

	11 Internal audit management report - third quarter 2016/17
	IA Mgt Report App1a Planned Audits
	IA Mgt Report App1b Follow up audits
	IA Mgt Report App1c Unplanned Audits
	IA Mgt report App 2 audit plan schedule

	12 Treasury management mid-year monitoring 2016/17
	13 Treasury management and investment strategy 2017/18 to 2019/20
	VALE TMS 201718 FINAL

	14 Audit and governance work programme



